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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

 

The Shareholders of 

Abu Dhabi National Takaful Company P.S.C. 

Abu Dhabi  

United Arab Emirates 

 

 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the financial statements of Abu Dhabi National Takaful Company P.S.C. (the 

“Company”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the statement 

of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 

flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy 

information.  

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of the Company as at 31 December 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for 

the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Accounting 

Standards) (‘IFRSs’). 

 

Basis for opinion 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 

of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with 

the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 

(IESBA Code) together with the other ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of Company’s 

financial statements in United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities. We 

believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 

 

Key audit matters 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our 

audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 

separate opinion on these matters. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ABU DHABI NATIONAL TAKAFUL COMPANY P.S.C. (continued) 

 

Key audit matters (continued) 

 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

 

Adoption of IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 

 

The Company adopted IFRS 17 Insurance 

Contracts with effect from 1 January 2023, which 

resulted in changes to the measurement of takaful 

contracts using updated estimates and 

assumptions that reflect the timing of cash flows 

and any uncertainty relating to takaful contracts. 

 

IFRS 17 is a new and complex accounting 

standard that requires management to apply 

significant judgement in its application to the 

Company’s takaful contracts. The Company 

issues a wide range of takaful contracts and 

consequently a large number of judgements and 

estimates need to be applied and made 

respectively.  

 

The Company applied the full retrospective 

approach for transition unless this was 

impracticable. In these instances, the modified 

retrospective approach or the fair value transition 

approach was followed for certain groups of 

takaful contracts since the Company assessed 

historical information available and determined 

that all reasonable and supportable information 

necessary for applying the full retrospective 

approach was not available for these contracts 

which were issued prior to the transition date. 

The Company used these approaches to 

determine the adjustments to the comparative 

information at the transition date of 1 January 

2022 and has recorded the impact within retained 

earnings as disclosed in note 2.3 to the financial 

statements. 

 

The adoption of this standard has had a 

significant impact on the reported financial 

position and performance of the Company, 

including key performance indicators. 

 

The adoption of IFRS 17 has also had a 

consequential change in processes, systems and 

controls. Due to the complexity and the 

significant judgements applied and estimates 

made in determining the impact of IFRS 17, this 

is considered to be a key audit matter.  

 

   

 

 

In relation to the implementation and impact of the 

adoption of IFRS 17, with the assistance of IFRS 17 

and actuarial specialists, we have carried out audit 

procedures which included:   
 

• We obtained an understanding of the impact of 

the Company’s adoption of IFRS 17 and 

identified internal controls, including entity level 

controls, adopted by the Company for the 

accounting process and system under the new 

accounting standard; 

 

• We assessed the key controls pertaining to the 

application of IFRS 17 to determine if they had 

been appropriately designed and implemented;  

 

• We utilized our specialists and subject matter 

experts to challenge management’s 

interpretation of IFRS 17 and its application to 

the Company’s takaful contracts; 

 

• We assessed the key technical accounting 

decisions, judgments, assumptions and 

accounting policy elections made in applying 

the requirements of IFRS 17 to determine if they 

were in compliance with the requirements of 

this standard; 

 

• We reperformed the mathematical accuracy of 

the supporting calculations and adjustments used 

to determine the impact on the Company's 

opening equity position as at 1 January 2022 and 

agreed the results of those calculations to the 

amounts reported in the financial statements; 

 

• We tested the completeness of takaful contract 

data by testing the reconciliations of the 

Company’s takaful contract assets and liabilities 

to takaful contracts disclosed in the 2022 

financial statements; and;  

 

• We assessed the disclosures in the financial 

statements relating to this matter against the 

requirements of IFRSs; 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ABU DHABI NATIONAL TAKAFUL COMPANY P.S.C. (continued) 

 

Key audit matters (continued) 
 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

 

Valuation of takaful contract liabilities, takaful 

contract assets, re-takaful contract assets and re-

takaful contract liabilities 

 

As at 31 December 2023, takaful contract liabilities, 

takaful contract assets, re-takaful contract assets and 

re-takaful contract liabilities amounted to AED 619 

million, AED 1 million, AED 186 million and AED 

21 million respectively, as detailed in notes 12 and 

13 to the financial statements. 

 

A key element of the valuation of takaful contract 

liabilities, re-takaful contract assets and re-takaful 

contract liabilities is the Present value of future cash 

flows (“PVFCFs”). The PVFCFs is included in the 

liability for remaining coverage ("LRC") and the 

liability for incurred claims ("LIC") for contracts 

not measured under the Premium Allocation 

Approach ("PAA") and the LIC for contracts 

measured under the PAA. As at 31 December 2023 

this amounted to a net liability of AED 388 million 

for takaful contracts issued and a net asset of AED 

147 million for re-takaful contracts held.  

 

The determination of the PVFCFs represents the 

Company’s expectations regarding future cash 

outflows minus cash inflows that will arise as the 

entity fulfils takaful contracts and involves actuarial 

models and several assumptions made by 

management. Its accuracy is dependent on the input 

data being correct and requires management to 

apply significant judgements, make significant 

estimates and use actuarial models. The risk of error 

arises as a result of inappropriate choice of actuarial 

methodologies, techniques and assumptions. 

Management used an external actuary to assist them 

in the aforementioned determination. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our audit procedures included, inter alia, the 

following: 

 

• Assessing the key controls related to the 

integrity of the data used in the process of 

valuation of the PVFCFs to determine if they 

had been appropriately designed and 

implemented; 

• Evaluating and testing the data used in the 

process of valuation of the PVFCFs; 

• Testing samples of claims case reserves by 

comparing the estimated amount of the case 

reserve to appropriate documentation, such as 

reports from loss adjusters, confirmations 

obtained from lawyers, re-takaful contracts etc; 

• Evaluating the objectivity, skills, qualifications 

and competence of the independent external 

actuary and reviewing the terms of the 

actuary’s engagement with the Company to 

determine if the scope of his work was 

sufficient for audit purposes. 

In addition, with the assistance of our internal 

actuarial specialists, we: 

• Determined if the calculation methods and the 

model used were appropriate; 

• Assessed the following key assumptions: 

- loss ratios;  

- claims development factors;  

- mortality rates; 

- lapse rates; and 

- discount rates; 

• Determined if the estimates applied in the 

current and prior year were consistent; 

• Developed a point estimate or range based on 

our understanding of the Company's business, 

and evaluated the differences between 

management’s point estimate and our point 

estimate or range; 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ABU DHABI NATIONAL TAKAFUL COMPANY P.S.C. (continued) 

 

Key audit matters (continued) 
 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

 

Valuation of takaful contract liabilities, takaful 

contract assets, re-takaful contract assets and 

re-takaful contract liabilities (continued) 

 

We considered the valuation of PVFCFs as a key 

audit matter due to the significant judgements 

applied and the associated uncertainties in the 

estimates made by management. 

 

Valuation of unquoted investments 

 

The Company has investments in unquoted 

equities and funds with a carrying value of AED 

180 million as at 31 December 2023. These 

instruments are classified as financial assets at fair 

value through other comprehensive income.  

 

As disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements, 

the valuation of investments in unquoted equities 

uses inputs other than observable market data and 

therefore are inherently subjective. It also requires 

significant judgement to be applied by 

management in determining the appropriate 

valuation methodology and the use of various 

assumptions, for example future cash flows, 

discount rates, market risk adjustment etc.  

 

Management determines the fair value of these 

investments by internal valuations or by involving 

external experts (“management experts”) to 

provide independent valuations of the investments 

based on valuation techniques stipulated within 

IFRSs.  

 

Given the inherent subjectivity and judgment 

required in the valuation of unquoted investments, 

which are classified under level 3 of the fair value 

hierarchy, we determined this to be a key audit 

matter. 

 

 

 

 

 

We also assessed the disclosures in the financial 

statement relating to this matter against the 

requirements of IFRS Accounting Standards. 

 
 

 

 

 

We established an audit approach which included 

both testing the design of internal controls over 

investments and substantive audit procedures. Our 

audit procedures in respect of this matter included, 

but were not limited to, the following: 

• Obtained an understanding of the process 

adopted by management to determine the fair 

value of unquoted securities and assessed the 

design and implementation of controls over the 

valuation of unquoted securities.  

• Agreed the valuations performed by 

management to the amount reported in the 

financial statements.  

• Assessed the valuation methodology and 

estimates used in the valuations by consulting 

with our internal valuation specialists.  

• Agreed the inputs into the valuation to 

supporting documentation on a sample basis, 

where applicable.  

• Reperformed the arithmetical accuracy of the 

valuations.  

• Assessed the competency, objectivity and 

capabilities of management’s experts and for a 

sample of valuations, evaluated the adequacy 

and appropriateness of their work with the 

assistance of our valuation experts.  

• Reviewed the engagement letter with 

management’s experts to determine if their 

scope was sufficient for audit purposes.  

• Assessed the disclosures in the financial 

statements relating to this matter against the 

requirements of IFRSs. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ABU DHABI NATIONAL TAKAFUL COMPANY P.S.C. (continued) 

 

 

Other Information 

 

The Board of Directors and management is responsible for the other information, which comprises the 

Directors’ Report which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The other information does 

not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this 

auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 

to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements  

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with IFRSs and their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of the articles of 

association of the Company, United Arab Emirates (U.A.E.) Federal Law No. 32 of 2021, Federal Decree 

Law No. 48 of 2023 regarding the regulation of Insurance activities, Central Bank of the UAE  Board of 

Directors’ Decision No. (25) of 2014 pertinent to the Financial Regulations for Insurance Companies, and for 

such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ABU DHABI NATIONAL TAKAFUL COMPANY P.S.C. (continued) 

 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 

fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control. 

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control. 

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management use of the going concern basis of accounting and 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosure are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 

as a going concern. 

 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit.  

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards.  

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the 

key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law and regulations preclude 

public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 

should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ABU DHABI NATIONAL TAKAFUL COMPANY P.S.C. (continued) 

 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

 

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021, we report that for the year ended 31 December 

2023: 

 

i) we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit; 

 

ii) the financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the applicable 

provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021;   

 

iii) the Company has maintained proper books of account; 

 

iv) the financial information included in the Directors’ report is consistent with the books of account of the 

Company;  

 

v) as disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements, the Company has investment in securities as at 31 

December 2023;  

 

vi) Note 16 to the financial statements discloses material related party transactions and balances, and the 

terms under which they were conducted; 

 

vii) based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our attention which 

causes us to believe that the Company has, during the financial year ended 31 December 2023, 

contravened any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021, or its Articles of 

Association, which would materially affect its activities or its financial position as at 31 December 

2023; and 

 

viii) Note 30 to the financial statements discloses the social contributions made during the financial year 

ended 31 December 2023.  

 

Further, as required by the Federal Decree Law No. 48 of 2023 and the related financial Regulations for 

Insurance Companies, we report that we have obtained all the information and explanations we 

considered necessary for the purpose of our audit. 

 

Furthermore, as required by the CBUAE Insurance Reporting Requirements for 2023, note 8 to the financial 

statements discloses information about certain financial assets that are held by custodians for and on behalf of 

the Company through investment agreements. 

 

Deloitte & Touche (M.E.) 

 

 

 

 

Signed by: 

Nurani Subramanian Sundar 

Registration No. 5540 

12 March 2024 

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates  
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

Statement of financial position 

as at 31 December 2023 

 
 Notes 31 December 31 December 1 January 

  2023 2022 2022 

   (restated) (restated) 

  AED AED AED 

ASSETS     

Takaful operations assets     

Financial assets measured at fair value 

  through other comprehensive income 

 - - 13,352,921 

Re-takaful contract assets 13 185,582,217 134,710,415  150,108,353 

Takaful contract assets 12 1,208,981 - - 

Prepaid expenses and other assets  44,193,000 35,254,832 20,736,311 

Unit linked investments at fair value 

  through profit or loss 

  

1,576,487 

 

- 

 

- 

Term deposits 5 461,359,871 351,382,204 318,095,203 

Cash and bank balances 5 27,728,110 22,426,436 59,953,280 

                                                                        

     

Total takaful operations assets  721,648,666  543,773,887  562,246,068 

                                                                        

Shareholders’ assets     

Property and equipment 6 20,882,342 22,300,419 22,440,515 

Statutory deposit 7 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 

Financial assets measured at fair value through  

  profit or loss 

  

- 

 

- 

 

135,765,710 

Financial assets measured at fair value through 

  other comprehensive income 8 352,579,538 315,880,256 

 

225,741,671 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost 9 10,283,000 - - 

Investments properties 10 53,535,000 17,850,000 16,815,000 

Investment in commodities 11 15,597,187 - - 

Prepaid expenses and other assets  13,816,682 9,629,130 13,034,499 

Term deposits 5 59,317,243 109,014,546 60,148,778 

Cash and bank balances 5 8,045,041 21,614,101 32,893,283 

                                                                       

     

Total shareholders’ assets  544,056,033 506,288,452 516,839,456 

                                                                        

     

TOTAL ASSETS  1,265,704,699      1,050,062,339  1,079,085,524 

                                                                         

     

LIABILITIES, POLICYHOLDERS’ FUND 

AND  

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

    

Takaful operations liabilities     

Takaful contract liabilities 12 618,813,837 489,097,430 541,132,714 

Re-takaful contract liabilities  13 20,596,543 35,794,480 333,424 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities  24,075,506 19,581,886 12,250,735 

                                                                          

     

Total takaful operations liabilities  663,485,886   544,473,796   553,716,873 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

Statement of profit or loss  

for the year ended 31 December 2023 

 

 Notes 2023 2022 

   (restated) 

  AED AED 

Attributable to policyholders    

Takaful revenue 22 672,453,727 449,798,161 

Takaful service expense 23 (501,480,251) (372,602,889) 

Allocation of re-takaful contributions paid 24 (379,234,065) (277,134,658) 

Amounts recovered from re-takaful contracts 24 214,773,894 174,342,285 
                                                  
    

Takaful service result  6,513,305   (25,597,101) 

Investment income 25 18,608,649 9,273,592 

Mudareb share 29 (6,513,027) (3,245,757) 

Takaful finance (expenses)/income for takaful  

  contracts issued 

 

26 

 

(16,958,030) 

 

24,262,908 

Re-takaful finance income/(expense) for re-takaful  

  contracts held 

 

27 

 

13,529,978 

 

(21,892,567) 
                                                  
    

Net financial takaful result  8,667,570   8,398,176 
                                                  
    

Other expenses, net  (2,844,418) (1,384,537) 
                                                  
    

Surplus/(deficit) of takaful result for the year  12,336,457 (18,583,462) 

                                                  

    

Attributable to shareholders    

Shareholders' investment and other income, net 28 36,857,289 23,535,397 

Mudareb share from policyholders 29 6,513,027 3,245,757 

Wakalah fees from policyholders 29 169,589,291 109,654,916 

Takaful expense  (64,181,799) (26,793,000) 

General and administrative expenses 30 (58,071,992) (52,726,276) 

Decrease in provision of loan (Qard Hasan) from  

  shareholders 

 

15 12,336,457 9,800,643 
                                                  
    

Profit for the year 31 103,042,273 66,717,437 

                                                  

    

Basic and diluted earnings per share 32 0.98 0.64 
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Statement of comprehensive income 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 

 
  

2023 

AED 

2022 

(restated) 

AED 

   

Profit for the year 103,042,273 66,717,437 

                                           

   

Other comprehensive income:   

   

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:   

   

Change in fair value of equity investments measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (35,921,021) (13,784,321) 

Board of Director’s remuneration (6,448,826) (1,637,930) 

   

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:   

   

Change in fair value of sukuk investments measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income 390,333 (3,047,114) 

                                           

   

Total other comprehensive loss for the year (41,979,514) (18,469,365) 

                                           

   

Total comprehensive income for the year 61,062,759 48,248,072 
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Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 

 
  

Share 

capital 

AED 

 

Legal 

reserve 

AED 

 

General 

reserve 

AED 

 

Re-takaful 

default 

reserve 

Investment 

revaluation 

reserve 

AED 

 

Retained 

earnings 

AED 

 

 

Total 

AED 

Balance at 31 December 2022 – 

as previously stated 105,000,000 51,819,922 42,500,000 5,387,784 (20,866,807) 306,907,028 490,747,927 

Impact of adoption of IFRS 17 

(note 2.3) - - - - - (75,951,063) (75,951,063) 

Impact of adoption of IFRS 9 – 

ECL model (note 2.3) 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

(1,364,818) 

 

(1,364,818) 

                                                                                                                                                     

Balance at 1 January 2023 – as 

restated 105,000,000 51,819,922 42,500,000 5,387,784 (20,866,807) 229,591,147 413,432,046 

Profit for the year - - - - - 103,042,273 103,042,273 

Other comprehensive loss 

  for the year - - - - (35,530,688) (6,448,826) (41,979,514) 

                                                                                                                                                     

        

Total comprehensive income 

  for the year - - - - (35,530,688) 96,593,447 61,062,759 

                                                                                                                                                     

        

Gain on disposal of financial 

assets classified at fair value 

through other comprehensive 

income - - - - 2,818,865 (862,146) 1,956,719 

Transfer to legal reserve - 680,078 - - - (680,078) - 

Transfer to re-takaful default 

reserve - - - 2,240,174 - (2,240,174) - 

Dividends paid (note 17) - - - - - (27,000,000) (27,000,000) 

                                                                                                                                                     

        

Balance at 31 December 2023  105,000,000 52,500,000 42,500,000 7,627,958 (53,578,630) 295,402,196 449,451,524 

                                                                                                                                                     

Balance at 31 December 2021 – 

as previously reported 

 

100,000,000 

 

50,000,000 

 

42,500,000 

 

3,848,642 

 

7,318,068 

 

312,351,362 

 

516,018,072 

Impact of transition of IFRS 17 

(note 2.3) - - - - - (124,570,781) (124,570,781) 

Impact of transition of IFRS 9 – 

ECL model (note 2.3) - - - - - (1,263,317) (1,263,317) 

                                                                                                                                                     

Balance at 1 January 2022 – as 

restated 100,000,000 50,000,000 42,500,000 3,848,642 7,318,068 186,517,264 390,183,974 

        

Profit for the year – as restated - - - - - 66,717,437 66,717,437 

Other comprehensive loss 

  for the year - - - - (16,831,435) (1,637,930) (18,469,365) 

                                                                                                                                                     

        

Total comprehensive income for 

the year - - - - (16,831,435) 65,079,507 48,248,072 

                                                                                                                                                     

        

Gain on disposal of financial 

assets classified at fair value 

through other comprehensive 

income - - - - (11,353,440) 11,353,440 - 

Transfer to legal reserve - 1,819,922 - - - (1,819,922) - 

Transfer to re-takaful default 

reserve - - - 1,539,142 - (1,539,142) - 

Issuance of bonus shares 5,000,000 - - - - (5,000,000) - 

Dividends paid (note 17) - - - - - (25,000,000) (25,000,000) 

                                                                                                                                                     

        

Balance at 31 December 2022 

(restated) 105,000,000 51,819,922 42,500,000 5,387,784 (20,866,807) 229,591,147 413,432,046 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

Statement of cash flows 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

 2023 2022 

  (restated) 

 AED AED 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

Profit for the period 103,042,273 66,717,437 

   

Adjustments for:   

  Depreciation of property and equipment 2,111,583 1,900,490 

  Investment and other income (43,886,822) (31,874,286) 

  Net movement in provision for end of service benefits 1,373,544 1,492,946 

  Movement in expected credit loss (856,303) 101,501 

  Movement in fair value of investments properties (10,644,400) (1,035,000) 

  Movement in provision of loan (Qard Hasan) from shareholders (12,336,457) (9,800,643) 

  Surplus of general policy holders takaful fund - (28,384,105) 

  Gain on disposal of property and equipment (78,413) (1,204) 

                                                 

   

Operating profit before movements in working capital 38,725,005 (882,864) 

   

Increase in prepaid and other assets (13,125,720) (11,113,152) 

Increase in re-takaful contract assets (50,871,802) 15,397,938 

Increase in takaful contract assets (1,208,981) - 

Increase/(decrease) in takaful contract liabilities 129,716,407 (52,035,284) 

(Decrease)/increase in re-takaful contract liabilities (15,197,937) 35,461,056 

Increase in provision of loan (Qard Hasan) from shareholders 12,336,457 9,800,643 

Increase/(decrease) in accrued expenses and other liabilities 58,919,972 (5,146,763) 

Directors’ remuneration paid (1,637,930) (5,531,995) 

                                                 

   

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 157,655,471 (14,050,421) 

                                                 

   

INVESTING ACTIVITIES   

Net movement in investments (95,297,135) 42,282,068 

Movement in unit linked investments (1,576,487) - 

Purchase of investment property  (25,040,600) - 

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 79,047 1,706 

Purchase of property and equipment (694,140) (1,760,896) 

Investment and other income received 43,886,822 31,874,286 

Movement in term deposits (80,280,364) (24,451,097) 

                                                 

   

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (158,922,857) 47,946,067 

                                                 

FINANCING ACTIVITY   

Dividends paid (27,000,000) (25,000,000) 

                                                 

   

Net cash used in financing activity (27,000,000) (25,000,000) 

                                                 

   

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (28,267,386) 8,895,646 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 109,040,537 100,144,891 

                                                 

   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 80,773,151 109,040,537 
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Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

 

1 Corporate information 
 

Abu Dhabi National Takaful Company PSC (the “Company”) is a public shareholding company which was 

incorporated in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates (“UAE”) on 16 November 2003. The Company is 

registered in accordance with the Federal Law No. (32) of 2021. The Company is subject to the regulations 

of the U.A.E. Federal Decree-Law No. 48 of 2023 regarding the Regulation of Insurance Activities, and is 

registered in the Insurance Companies Register of the Central Bank of the UAE (“CBUAE”) (formerly, the 

UAE Insurance Authority (“IA”)). under registration number 071. 

 

On 3 October 2022, the United Arab Emirates (UAE) Ministry of Finance (“MoF”) issued Federal Decree-

Law No 47 of 2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and Businesses, Corporate Tax Law (“CT Law”) to 

implement a new CT regime in the UAE. The new CT regime is applicable for accounting periods beginning 

on or after 1 June 2023.  

  

Generally, UAE businesses will be subject to a 9% CT rate, however a rate of 0% will be applied to taxable 

income not exceeding AED 375,000 or to certain types of entities, as prescribed by way of a Cabinet 

Decision. 

  

The Company is currently assessing the impact of these laws and regulations and will apply the 

requirements as further guidance is provided by the relevant tax authorities. 

 

The Company carries out takaful and retakaful activities of all classes in accordance with the provisions of 

the U.A.E. Federal Decree-Law No. 48 of 2023. The Company is domiciled and operates in the UAE and 

its registered address is P.O. Box 35335, Abu Dhabi, UAE. 

 

 

2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

 

2.1 New and revised IFRS adopted in the financial statements 

 

The following new and revised IFRS, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after                  

1 January 2023, have been adopted in this financial statements. The application of these revised IFRSs, did 

not have any material impact on the amounts reported for the current and prior periods, except from the 

application of expected credit loss model under IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 which has replaced IFRS 4 and has 

fundamentally changed the measurement and presentation of takaful contracts (including re-takaful 

contracts held). 

 

 

 

New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for annual 

periods beginning  

or after 

  

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (note 2.3) 1 January 2023 

Amendments to IAS 1 – Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making 

Materiality Judgements Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

 

1 January 2023 

Amendments to IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors – Definition of Accounting Estimates 

 

1 January 2023 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes - International Tax Reform - Pillar Two 

Model Rules 

 

1 January 2023 

Amendments to IAS 12 – Income Taxes – Deferred Tax related to Assets and 

Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 

 

1 January 2023 
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Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

(continued) 

 

2.2 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted 

 

 

 

New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for annual 

periods beginning  

or after 

  

Amendments to IFRS 16 on lease liability in a sales and lease back 1 January 2024 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements—Non-current 

Liabilities with Covenants 

 

1 January 2024 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements—Classification 

of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

 

1 January 2024 

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial 

Instruments: Disclosures—Supplier Finance Arrangements 

 

1 January 2024 

Amendments to IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 – 

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures – Sale or Contribution of Assets 

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture  

Effective date deferred 

indefinitely. Adoption 

is still permitted. 
 

Management anticipates that these new standards, interpretations and amendments will be adopted in the 

Company’s financial statements as and when they are applicable and adoption of these new standards, 

interpretations and amendments, may have no material impact on the financial statements of the Company 

in the period of initial application. 

 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies 
 

In these financial statements, the Company has applied IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 measurement for the first time. 

The nature of the changes in first time adoption of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 can be summarized, as follows: 
 

Changes to classification and measurement 

 

IFRS 17 establishes specific principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 

takaful contracts issued and re-takaful contracts held by the Company. The adoption of IFRS 17 did not 

change the classification of the Company’s takaful contracts. 

 

The Company uses different measurement approaches, depending on the type of contracts, as follows: 

 

Nature of Contracts Product classification Measurement model 
   

Property and liability takaful Takaful contracts PAA 

Medical takaful Takaful contracts PAA 

Group family takaful Takaful contracts PAA 

Credit family takaful – short term Takaful contracts PAA 

Credit family takaful – long term Takaful contracts GMM 

Individual family takaful – long term Takaful contracts GMM 

Individual family takaful – unit linked Takaful contracts VFA 

All re-takaful contracts held other than  

   long term credit family takaful 

Re-takaful contracts held PAA 

Long term credit family takaful Re-takaful contracts held GMM 

Individual family takaful – long term Re-takaful contracts held GMM 
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Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

(continued) 

 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 

 

Changes to classification and measurement (continued) 

 

The key principles of IFRS 17 under the different measurement models, where applicable, are that the 

Company: 

 

• Identifies takaful contracts as those under which the Company accepts significant takaful risk from 

another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain 

future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder; 

• Separates specified embedded derivatives, distinct investment components and distinct goods or 

services other than takaful contract services from takaful contracts and accounts for them in 

accordance with other standards; 

• Divides the takaful and re-takaful contracts into groups it will recognise and measure; 

• Recognises profit from a group of takaful contracts over each period the Company provides takaful 

contract services, as the Company is released from risk. If a group of contracts is expected to be 

onerous (i.e., loss-making) over the remaining coverage period, the Company recognises the loss 

immediately; 

• Recognises an asset for takaful acquisition cash flows in respect of acquisition cash flows paid, or 

incurred, before the related group of takaful contracts is recognised. Such an asset is derecognised 

when the takaful acquisition cash flows are included in the measurement of the related group of 

takaful contracts. 

 

The premium allocation approach (PAA) simplifies the measurement of takaful contracts in comparison 

with the general measurement model (GMM) in IFRS 17. The measurement principles of the PAA differ 

from the ‘earned contribution approach’ used by the Company under IFRS 4 in the following key areas: 

 

• The liability for remaining coverage reflects contribution received less amounts recognised in 

revenue for takaful services provided (takaful revenue for each period is the amount of expected 

contribution receipts for providing services in the period); 

• Measurement of the liability for remaining coverage includes an adjustment for the time value of 

money and the effect of financial risk where the contribution due date and the related period of 

services are more than 12 months apart; 

• Measurement of the liability for remaining coverage involves an explicit evaluation of risk 

adjustment for non- financial risk when a group of contracts is onerous in order to calculate a loss 

component (previously these may have formed part of the unexpired risk reserve provision); 

• Measurement of the liability for incurred claims (previously claims outstanding and incurred-but-

not-reported (IBNR) claims) is determined on a discounted probability-weighted expected value 

basis and includes an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk. The liability includes the 

Company’s obligation to pay other incurred takaful expenses; 

 

Measurement of the asset for remaining coverage (reflecting re-takaful contribution paid for re-takaful 

contracts held) is adjusted to include a loss-recovery component to reflect the expected recovery of onerous 

contract losses where such contracts reinsure onerous direct contracts. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

(continued) 

 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 

 

Changes to classification and measurement (continued)  

 

Under the GMM and variable fee approach (VFA), the Company recognises and measures groups of takaful 

contracts at: 

 

i) A risk-adjusted present value of the future cash flows (the fulfilment cash flows) that incorporates all 

available information about the fulfilment cash flows in a way that is consistent with observable market 

information; and 

ii) An amount representing the unearned profit in the group of contracts (the contractual service margin or 

CSM)" 

 

The VFA is a mandatory modification of the GMM regarding the treatment of the CSM in order to 

accommodate direct participating contracts. 

 

The Company capitalises takaful acquisition cash flows for all takaful group of contracts. The Company 

allocates the acquisition cash flows to groups of takaful contracts issued using a systematic and rational basis. 

Takaful acquisition cash flows include those that are directly attributable to a group. 

 

Changes to presentation and disclosure 

 

For presentation in the statement of financial position, the Company aggregates portfolios of takaful and re-

takaful contracts issued and re-takaful contracts held and presents separately, the carrying amount of: 
 

• Portfolios of takaful and re-takaful contracts issued that are assets 
• Portfolios of takaful and re-takaful contracts held that are assets 
• Portfolios of takaful contracts and re-takaful contracts issued that are liabilities 

• Portfolios of takaful contracts and re-takaful contracts held that are liabilities 
 

The line item descriptions in the profit or loss have been changed significantly compared with prior year. 

Previously the Company reported the following main line items: 
 

• Gross contribution written 
• Net written contribution 
• Commission earned 
• Net changes in unearned contribution provision 
• Net earned contribution 
• Gross claims paid 
• Net claims paid 
• Change in incurred claim liabilities 
• Net claims incurred 

• Other underwriting income and expenses 

Instead, IFRS 17 requires separate presentation of: 

• Takaful revenue 

• Takaful service expense 

• Allocation of re-takaful contributions paid 
• Amounts recovered from re-takaful contracts  
• Takaful finance expenses/income for takaful contracts issued  
• Re-takaful finance income/expense for re-takaful contracts held  
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Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

(continued) 

 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 

 

Transition impact 

 

On transition date, 1 January 2022, the Company: 

 

• Applied the following approaches to identify, recognise and measure the groups of takaful contracts 

issued and re-takaful contracts held: 

o The full retrospective approach was used for groups of short-term takaful contracts issued and 

both long-term and short-term groups of re-takaful contracts held. 

o The full retrospective approach was used for groups of long-term Credit family takaful contracts 

issued unless this was impracticable, in which case either the modified retrospective approach or 

fair value approach was used. 

• Derecognised any existing balances that would not exist had IFRS 17 always applied. 

• Recognised any resulting net difference in policyholder fund. 

 

The Company assessed historical information available and determined that all reasonable and supportable 

information necessary to apply the full retrospective approach was not available for those groups of 

contracts for which the modified retrospective and fair value approaches were used. 

 

Modified Retrospective Approach 

The objective of the modified retrospective approach is to achieve the closest possible outcome to the full 

retrospective approach maximising the use of available information. In applying the modified retrospective 

approach the Company has used the following permitted modification to determine the CSM: 

 

• Estimated historical discount rates applied to cash flows in the period prior to 2016 using an 

observable market interest curve based on discount rate applicable for 2016. 

 

Fair Value Approach 

Under the fair value approach, the CSM at 1 January 2022 was determined as the difference between the 

fair value of a group of contracts at that date and the fulfilment cash flows at that date. In determining fair 

value, the Company applied the requirements of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. Specifically, the fair 

value of the takaful contracts was measured as the sum of (a) the present value of the cash flows expected 

to be generated by the contracts, determined using a discounted cash flow technique; and (b) an additional 

margin.  

 

Differences in the Company's approach to measuring fair value from the IFRS 17 requirements for 

measuring fulfilment cash flows gave rise to a CSM at 1 January 2022. In particular, in measuring fair value 

the Company included a margin comprising a risk premium to reflect what market participants would 

demand as compensation for the uncertainty inherent in the cash flows and a profit margin to reflect what 

market participants would require to assume the obligations to service the takaful contracts. In determining 

this margin, the Company considered certain risks that were not reflected in the fulfilment cash flows, that 

a market participant would consider. When applying the fair value transition approach the Company 

determined the discount rate at the transition date. 

 

As mentioned above, the line item descriptions in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income have changed significantly compared with prior period. The adoption of IFRS 17 has led to the 

restatement of the profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 from AED 18,199,220 to AED 66,717,437. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 

 

 
2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

(continued) 

 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 

 

Transition impact (continued) 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

 

Measurement of the expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance 

 

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost and 

FVTOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future 

economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting 

losses). 

 

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring 

ECL, such as: 

 

• Determining the criteria for significant increase in credit risk; 

• Determining the criteria and definition of default; 

• Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; and 

• Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL. 

 

The Company regularly reviews and validates the models and inputs to the models to reduce any differences 

between expected credit loss estimates and actual credit loss experience. 

 

When measuring ECL the Company uses reasonable and supportable forward looking information, which is 

based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect 

each other. 

 

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the 

contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows 

from collateral and integral credit enhancements. 

 

The Company has adopted the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 as issued by the IASB in July 2014 with 

a date of transition of 1 January 2022, which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to 

the amounts previously recognised in the financial statements. 

 

The adoption of the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in accounting policies for 

impairment of financial assets. 

 

The Company recorded an impairment allowance at 1 January 2022 on financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income amounting to AED 1,263,317 as a result of first time adoption of impairment 

requirements IFRS-9. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

(continued) 

 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 

 

Transition impact (continued) 

 

The table below summarise the impact of initial application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 as at 31 December 

2022: 
 

 As previously 

reported 

(audited) 

AED 

Effect of 

application of 

IFRS 17/IFRS 9  

AED 

As restated 

AED 

Takaful operations assets    

Retakaful share of unearned contributions 276,904,971 (276,904,971) - 

Retakaful share of outstanding claims 129,484,313 (129,484,313) - 

Contributions and retakaful balances  

   receivables 38,265,290 (38,265,290) - 

Re-takaful contract assets - 134,710,415 134,710,415 

    

Shareholders’ operations assets    

Financial assets at fair value 317,245,074 (1,364,818) 315,880,256 

Deferred policy acquisition costs 17,203,623 (17,203,623) - 

    

Takaful operations liabilities    

Takaful payables 16,150,320 (16,150,320) - 

Outstanding claims   174,064,907 (174,064,907) - 

Unearned contributions     368,761,610 (368,761,610) - 

Unearned retakaful commission income 9,810,005 (9,810,005) - 

Re-takaful payable 296,257,018 (296,257,018)  - 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 8,597,810 10,984,076 19,581,886 

Takaful contract liabilities - 489,097,430 489,097,430 

Re-takaful contract liabilities - 35,794,480 35,794,480 

    

Shareholders’ operations liabilities    

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 1,836,159 77,971,155 79,807,314 

    

Policyholders’ fund    

Deficit of General policyholders takaful fund   (32,818,253) 29,489,063 (3,329,190) 

Deficit of family policyholders takaful fund (16,732,317) (10,265,347) (26,997,664) 

Loan (Qard Hasan) from shareholders   49,550,570 (19,223,716) 30,326,854 

    

Total shareholders’ equity    

Retained earnings 306,907,028 (77,315,881) 229,591,147 
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Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

(continued) 

 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 

 

Transition impact (continued) 

 

The table below summarise the impact of initial application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2022: 

 

 As previously 

reported 

(audited) 

AED 

Effect of 

application of 

IFRS 17/IFRS 9 

AED 

As restated  

AED 

Takaful operations assets    

Retakaful share of unearned contributions 274,002,126 (274,002,126) - 

Retakaful share of outstanding claims 127,776,349 (127,776,349) - 

Contributions and retakaful balances  

   receivables 18,379,044 (18,379,044) - 

Re-takaful contract assets - 150,108,353 150,108,353 

    

Shareholders’ operations assets    

Financial assets at fair value 362,770,698 (1,263,317) 361,507,381 

Deferred policy acquisition costs 7,445,788 (7,445,788) - 

    

Takaful operations liabilities    

Takaful payables 11,300,119 (11,300,119) - 

Outstanding claims   164,079,350 (164,079,350) - 

Unearned contributions     353,999,279 (353,999,279) - 

Unearned retakaful commission income 6,762,953 (6,762,953) - 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 5,953,230 6,297,505 12,250,735 

Takaful contract liabilities - 541,132,714 541,132,714 

Re-takaful payables 279,732,447 (279,732,447) - 

Re-takaful contract liabilities - 333,424 333,424 

    

Shareholders’ operations liabilities    

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 9,377,066 86,802,227 96,179,293 

    

Policyholders’ fund    

Deficit of General policyholders takaful fund   (5,482,687) 5,482,687 - 

Surplus of General policyholders takaful fund   - 28,384,105 28,384,105 

Loan (Qard Hasan) from shareholder 9,804,731 30,322,766 40,127,497 

Deficit of family policyholders takaful fund (4,322,044) (35,805,453) (40,127,497) 

    

Total shareholders' equity    

Retained earnings 312,351,362 (125,834,098) 186,517,264 
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Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

3 Summary of significant accounting policies 

 

3.1 Statement of compliance 

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and applicable requirements of United Arab Emirates (UAE) Federal 

Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 and Federal Decree-Law No. 48 of 2023, concerning the formation of 

Insurance Authority of UAE, as well as the Insurance Authority Financial Regulations for insurance 

companies (the “Regulations”). 

 

3.2 Basis of preparation 

 

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for investment 

properties and certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values as at the end of each 

reporting date, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on 

the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services. 

 

The financial statements are presented in UAE Dirhams (AED) being the functional and 

presentation currency of the Company. 

3.3 Changes in accounting policies for takaful contracts issued and re-takaful contracts held 

 

Takaful and re-takaful contracts issued classification 

 

The Company issues takaful contracts in the normal course of business, under which it accepts significant 

takaful risk from its policyholders. As a general guideline, the Company determines whether it has significant 

takaful risk, by comparing benefits payable after an insured event with benefits payable if the insured event 

had not occurred. The Company also issues re-takaful contracts in the normal course of business to 

compensate other entities for claims arising from one or more takaful contracts issued by those entities. 

 

Level of Aggregation 

 

The Company identifies portfolios by aggregating takaful contracts that are subject to similar risks and 

managed together. In grouping takaful contracts into portfolios, the Company considers the similarity of 

risks rather than the specific labelling of product lines. The Company has determined that all contracts 

within each product line, as defined for management purposes, have similar risks. Therefore, when contracts 

are managed together, they represent a portfolio of contracts. Each portfolio is further disaggregated into 

groups of contracts that are issued within a calendar year (annual cohorts) and are (i) contracts that are 

onerous at initial recognition; (ii) contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of 

becoming onerous subsequently; or (iii) a group of remaining contracts. These groups represent the level 

of aggregation at which takaful contracts are initially recognised and measured. Such groups are not 

subsequently reconsidered. 

 

For each portfolio of contracts, the Company determines the appropriate level at which reasonable and 

supportable information is available to assess whether these contracts are onerous at initial recognition and 

whether non-onerous contracts have a significant possibility of becoming onerous. This level of granularity 

determines sets of contracts. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.3 Changes in accounting policies for takaful contracts issued and re-takaful contracts held 

(continued) 

 

Recognition 

 

Groups of takaful contracts issued are initially recognised from the earliest of the following: 
 

• the beginning of the coverage period; 

• the date when the first payment from the policyholder is due or actually received, if there is no due date; 

or 

• when the Company determines that a group of contracts becomes onerous. 

 

Combination of takaful contracts 

 

Sometimes, the Company enters into two or more contracts at the same time with the same or related 

counterparties to achieve an overall commercial effect. The Company accounts for such a set of contracts 

as a single takaful contract when this reflects the substance of the contracts. When making this assessment, 

the Company considers whether: 
 

• The rights and obligations are different when looked at together compared to when looked at 

individually 

• The Company is unable to measure one contract without considering the other 
 

Separating components from takaful and re-takaful contracts 
 

The Company assesses its takaful and re-takaful contracts to determine whether they contain distinct 

components which must be accounted for under another IFRS instead of under IFRS 17. After separating 

any distinct components, the Company applies IFRS 17 to all remaining components of the (host) takaful 

contract. Currently, the Company’s contracts do not include any distinct components that require 

separation.  
 

Contract boundary 
 

The measurement of a group of takaful contracts includes all future cash flows expected to arise within the 

boundary of each contract in the group. 
 

Cash flows are within the boundary of a takaful contract if they arise from substantive rights and obligations 

that exist during the reporting period in which the Company can compel the policyholder to pay the 

contributions, or in which the Company has a substantive obligation to provide the policyholder with takaful 

contract services. A substantive obligation to provide takaful contract services ends when: 
 

• The Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the particular policyholder and, as a result, 

can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects those risks; or 

• Both of the following criteria are satisfied: 
 

i. The Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the portfolio of takaful contracts that 

contain the contract and, as a result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects the risk 

of that portfolio; and 

ii. The pricing of the contributions up to the date when the risks are reassessed does not take into 

account the risks that relate to periods after the reassessment date 
 

A liability or asset relating to expected contributions or claims outside the boundary of the takaful contract 

are not recognised. Such amounts relate to future takaful contracts. 
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for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.3 Changes in accounting policies for takaful contracts issued and re-takaful contracts held 

(continued) 

 
Measurement 

 

The following table sets out the accounting policy choices adopted by the Company: 

 

 Measurement 

models the 

option is 

allowed to be 

applied 

IFRS 17 options Adopted approach 

Takaful 

acquisition 

cash flows 

 

 

 

PAA 

Where the coverage period of 

each contract in the group at initial 

recognition is no more than one 

year, IFRS 17 allows an 

accounting policy choice of either 

expensing the takaful acquisition 

cashflows when incurred or 

amortizing them over the 

contract’s coverage period. 

Takaful acquisition cash flows 

are allocated to related groups 

of takaful contracts and 

amortised over the coverage 

period of the related group 

using a systematic and rational 

basis. 

Liability for 

Remaining 

Coverage 

(“LRC”) 

adjusted for 

financial risk 

and time value 

of money 

 

 

 

PAA 

Where there is no significant 

financing component in relation to 

the LRC, or where the time 

between providing each part of the 

services and the related 

contribution due date is no more 

than a year, an entity is not 

required to make an adjustment for 

accretion of profit on the LRC. 

For all contracts measured 

under the PAA, there is no 

adjustment to reflect the time 

value of money and the effect 

of financial risk as the 

contributions are expected to 

be received within one year of 

the coverage period. 

Liability for 

Incurred 

Claims (“LIC”) 

adjusted for 

time value of 

money 

 

 

PAA 

Where claims are expected to be 

paid within a year of the date that 

the claim is incurred, it is not 

required to adjust these amounts 

for the time value of money. 

The Company discounts the 

LIC for the time value of 

money. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.3 Changes in accounting policies for takaful contracts issued and re-takaful contracts held 

(continued) 

 
Measurement (continued) 

 

The following table sets out the accounting policy choices adopted by the Company: 

 

 
Measurement 

models the 

option is 

allowed to be 

applied 

IFRS 17 options Adopted approach 

Takaful 

finance 

income and 

expenses 

 

 

 

All 

IFRS 17 provides an accounting 

policy choice to recognise the 

impact of changes in discount rates 

and other financial variables in 

profit or loss or in OCI. The 

accounting policy choice (the P&L 

or OCI option) is applied on a 

portfolio basis. 

For all contracts within the scope 

of IFRS 17 the Company includes 

all takaful finance income or 

expenses for the period in profit 

or loss. 

Disaggregatio

n of risk 

adjustment 

 

 

 

All 

An insurer is not required to include 

the entire change in the risk 

adjustment for non-financial risk in 

the takaful service result. Instead, it 

can choose to split the amount 

between the takaful service result 

and takaful finance income or 

expenses. 

The Company does not 

disaggregate changes in the risk 

adjustment for non-financial risk 

between takaful service result and 

takaful finance income or 

expenses. 

Presentation 

of income / 

(expense) 

from re-

takaful 

contracts 

held 

 

 

 

 

 

All 

IFRS 17 allows options in 

presenting income or expenses 

from re-takaful contracts held, 

other than takaful finance income 

or expenses. An alternative would 

be to gross up this single amount 

and present separately the amounts 

recovered from the reinsurer (as 

income) and an allocation of the 

contribution paid (as re-takaful 

expenses) in line items separate 

from takaful revenue and takaful 

service expenses. 

The Company elected to present 

separately the amounts recovered 

from re-takaful contracts and an 

allocation of re-takaful 

contributions paid. 
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for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.3 Changes in accounting policies for takaful contracts issued and re-takaful contracts held 

(continued) 

 
Measurement (continued) 

 

Takaful contracts measured under the premium allocation approach - Initial and Subsequent Measurement 

 

The Company applies the premium allocation approach to all the takaful contracts (other than long term 

credit family takaful and individual family takaful contracts) that it issues and re-takaful contracts (other 

than those covering long term credit family takaful and individual family takaful contracts) that it holds as; 

 

• The coverage period of each contract in the group is one year or less, including takaful contract 

services arising from all contributions within the contract boundary; or 

 

• For contracts longer than one year, the Company has modelled possible future scenarios and 

reasonably expects that the measurement of the liability for remaining coverage for the group 

containing those contracts under the PAA does not differ materially from the measurement that would 

be produced applying the general model. In assessing materiality, the Company has also considered 

qualitative factors such as the nature of the risk and types of its lines of business. 

 

The Company does not apply the PAA if, at the inception of the group of contracts, it expects significant 

variability in the fulfilment cash flows that would affect the measurement of the liability for the remaining 

coverage during the period before a claim is incurred. 

 

For a group of contracts that is not onerous at initial recognition, the Company measures the liability for 

remaining coverage as: 

 

• The contributions, if any, received at initial recognition 

• Minus any takaful acquisition cash flows at that date, 

• Plus or minus any amount arising from the derecognition at that date of the asset recognised for 

takaful acquisition cash flows and 

• Any other asset or liability previously recognised for cash flows related to the group of contracts that 

the Company pays or receives before the group of takaful contracts is recognised. 

 

The Company measures the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage at the end of each 

reporting period as the liability for remaining coverage at the beginning of the period: 

 

• Plus contributions received in the period 

• Minus takaful acquisition cash flows 

• Plus any amounts relating to the amortisation of the takaful acquisition cash flows recognised as an 

expense in the reporting period for the group 

• Plus any adjustment to the financing component, where applicable 

• Minus the amount recognised as takaful revenue for the services provided in the period 

• Minus any investment component paid or transferred to the liability for incurred claims 

 

The Company estimates the liability for incurred claims as the fulfilment cash flows related to incurred 

claims. The fulfilment cash flows incorporate, in an unbiased way, all reasonable and supportable 

information available without undue cost or effort about the amount, timing and uncertainty of those future 

cash flows, they reflect current estimates from the perspective of the Company and include an explicit 

adjustment for non-financial risk (the risk adjustment). 
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for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.3 Changes in accounting policies for takaful contracts issued and re-takaful contracts held 

(continued) 

 
Measurement (continued) 

 

Takaful contracts measured under the premium allocation approach - Initial and Subsequent Measurement 

(continued) 

 

When facts and circumstances indicate that a group of contracts has become onerous, the Company 

performs a test for onerousness. If the amount of the fulfilment cash flows exceeds the carrying amount of 

the LRC, the Company recognises the amount of the difference as a loss in profit or loss and increases the 

LRC for the corresponding amount. 

 

Takaful contracts measured other than PAA - Initial and Subsequent Measurement 

 

The Company measures a group of contracts on initial recognition as the sum of the expected fulfilment 

cash flows within the contract boundary and the contractual service margin representing the unearned profit 

in the contracts relating to services that will be provided under the contracts. 

 

Fulfilment cash flows comprise unbiased and probability-weighted estimates of future cash flows, 

discounted to present value to reflect the time value of money and financial risks, plus a risk adjustment for 

non-financial risk. 

 

The Company’s objective in estimating future cash flows is to determine the expected value, or the 

probability weighted mean, of the full range of possible outcomes, considering all reasonable and 

supportable information available at the reporting date without undue cost or effort. The Company estimates 

future cash flows considering a range of scenarios which have commercial substance and give a good 

representation of possible outcomes. The cash flows from each scenario are probability-weighted and 

discounted using current assumptions. 

 

When estimating future cash flows, the Company includes all cash flows that are within the contract 

boundary including: 

 

• Contributions and related cash flows 

• Claims and benefits, including reported claims not yet paid and expected future claims 

• Payments to policyholders resulting from embedded surrender value options 

• An allocation of takaful acquisition cash flows attributable to the portfolio to which the contract 

belongs 

• Claims handling costs 

• Transaction-based taxes 

• Other costs specifically chargeable to the policyholder under the terms of the contract 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.3 Changes in accounting policies for takaful contracts issued and re-takaful contracts held 

(continued) 
 

Measurement (continued) 
 

Takaful contracts measured other than PAA - Initial and Subsequent Measurement (continued) 
 

The Company updates its estimates at the end of each reporting period using all newly available 

information, as well as historic evidence and information about trends. The Company determines its current 

expectations of probabilities of future events occurring at the end of the reporting period. In developing 

new estimates, the Company considers the most recent experience and earlier experience, as well as other 

information. 
 

The measurement of fulfilment cash flows includes takaful acquisition cash flows which are allocated as a 

portion of contribution to profit or loss (through takaful revenue) over the period of the contract in a 

systematic and rational way on the basis of the passage of time. 
 

The CSM at the end of the reporting period represents the profit in the group of takaful contracts that has 

not yet been recognised in profit or loss, because it relates to future service to be provided. 
 

For a group of takaful contracts the carrying amount of the CSM of the group at the end of the reporting 

period equals the carrying amount at the beginning of the reporting period adjusted, as follows: 
 

• The effect of any new contracts added to the group 

• For contracts measured under the GMM, profit accreted on the carrying amount of the CSM during 

the reporting period, measured at the discount rates at initial recognition 

• The changes in fulfilment cash flows relating to future service, except to the extent that: 

o Such increases in the fulfilment cash flows exceed the carrying amount of the CSM, giving rise 

to a loss; or 

o Such decreases in the fulfilment cash flows are allocated to the loss component of the liability 

for remaining coverage 

• The effect of any currency exchange differences on the CSM 

• The amount recognised as takaful revenue because of the transfer of takaful contract services in the 

period, determined by the allocation of the CSM remaining at the end of the reporting period (before 

any allocation) over the current and remaining coverage period. 
 

For direct participating contracts measured under the VFA, the Company adjusts the CSM for the change 

in the amount of the Company’s share of the fair value of the underlying items and changes in fulfilment 

cash flows that relate to future services, except to the extent that:  
 

• a decrease in the amount of the Company’s share of the fair value of the underlying items, or an 

increase in the fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services, exceeds the carrying amount of the 

CSM, giving rise to a loss in profit or loss (included in takaful service expenses) and creating a loss 

component; or  

• an increase in the amount of the Company’s share of the fair value of the underlying items, or a 

decrease in the fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services, is allocated to the loss component, 

reversing losses previously recognised in profit or loss (included in takaful service expenses).  
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for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.3 Changes in accounting policies for takaful contracts issued and re-takaful contracts held 

(continued) 

 
Measurement (continued) 

 

The Company identifies the investment component of a contract by determining the amount that it would 

be required to repay to the policyholder in all scenarios with commercial substance. These include 

circumstances in which an insured event occurs or the contract matures or is terminated without an insured 

event occurring. Investment components are excluded from takaful revenue and takaful service expenses.  

Individual family unit linked contracts have explicit surrender values. The investment component excluded 

from takaful revenue and takaful service expenses is determined as the surrender value specified in the 

contractual terms less any surrender charges. All the other contracts issued by the Company do not contain 

investment components. 

 

 

The changes in fulfilment cash flows relating to future service that adjust the CSM comprise of: 

 

• Experience adjustments that arise from the difference between the contribution receipts (and any 

related cash flows such as takaful acquisition cash flows) and the estimate, at the beginning of the 

period, of the amounts expected. Differences related to contributions received (or due) related to 

current or past services are recognised immediately in profit or loss while differences related to 

contributions received (or due) for future services are adjusted against the CSM 

• Changes in estimates of the present value of future cash flows in the liability for remaining coverage. 

For contracts measured under the GMM these changes exclude those relating to the time value of 

money and changes in financial risk (recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income rather than adjusting the CSM) 

• Differences between any investment component expected to become payable in the period and the 

actual investment component that becomes payable in the period. Those differences are determined 

by comparing (i) the actual investment component that becomes payable in the period with (ii) the 

payment in the period that was expected at the start of the period plus any takaful finance income or 

expenses related to that expected payment before it becomes payable. 

• Changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk that relate to future service. 

 

For contracts measured under the VFA changes in fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services and 

adjust the CSM are measured at current discount rates and include the changes in the effect of the time 

value of money and financial risks that do not arise from underlying items. 

 

Where, during the coverage period, a group of takaful contracts becomes onerous, the Company recognises 

a loss in profit or loss for the net outflow, resulting in the carrying amount of the liability for the group 

being equal to the fulfilment cash flows. A loss component is established by the Company for the liability 

for remaining coverage for such onerous group depicting the losses recognised. 

 

The Company measures the carrying amount of a group of takaful contracts at the end of each reporting 

period as the sum of: (i) the liability for remaining coverage comprising fulfilment cash flows related to 

future service allocated to the group at that date and the CSM of the group at that date; and (ii) the liability 

for incurred claims for the Company comprising the fulfilment cash flows related to past service allocated 

to the group at that date. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.3 Changes in accounting policies for takaful contracts issued and re-takaful contracts held 

(continued) 

 
Measurement (continued) 

 

Re-takaful contracts held 

 

Re-takaful contracts held are accounted for by applying IFRS 17 when they meet the definition of a takaful 

contract. This includes the condition that the contract must transfer significant takaful risk. 

 

Re-takaful contracts transfer significant takaful risk only if they transfer to the reinsurer substantially all 

the takaful risk relating to the reinsured portions of the underlying takaful contracts, even if a re-takaful 

contract does not expose the issuer (reinsurer) to the possibility of a significant loss. 

 

Portfolios of re-takaful contracts held are assessed for aggregation separately from portfolios of takaful 

contracts issued. Applying the grouping requirements to re-takaful contracts held, the Company aggregates 

re-takaful contracts held concluded within a calendar year (annual cohorts) into groups of (i) contracts for 

which there is a net gain at initial recognition, if any; (ii) contracts for which at initial recognition there is 

no significant possibility of a net gain arising subsequently; and (iii) remaining contracts in the portfolio, if 

any. 

 

A group of re-takaful contracts held is recognised as follows: 

 

• If the re-takaful contracts provide proportionate coverage, the date the Company initially recognizes 

any underlying takaful contracts (onerous or not). 

• In all other cases, at the beginning of the coverage period of the group of re-takaful contracts. However, 

if the Company recognises an onerous group of underlying takaful contracts on an earlier date and the 

related re-takaful contract was entered into before that earlier date, then the group of re-takaful 

contracts is recognised on that earlier date. 

 

Cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from substantive rights and obligations that exist 

during the reporting period in which the Company is compelled to pay amounts to the reinsurer or has a 

substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer. 

 

A substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer shall end when the reinsurer: 

 

• has the practical ability to reassess the risks transferred to it and can set a price or level of benefits that 

fully reflects those reassessed risks; or 

• has a substantive right to terminate the coverage 

 

The Company measures its re-takaful assets for a group of re-takaful contracts that it holds on the same 

basis as takaful contracts that it issues. However, they are adapted to reflect the features of re-takaful 

contracts held that differ from takaful contracts issued, for example the generation of expenses or reduction 

in expenses rather than revenue. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.3 Changes in accounting policies for takaful contracts issued and re-takaful contracts held 

(continued) 

 
Measurement (continued) 

 

Re-takaful contracts held (continued) 

 

Where the Company recognises a loss on initial recognition of an onerous group of underlying takaful 

contracts or when further onerous underlying takaful contracts are added to a group, the Company establishes 

a loss-recovery component of the asset for remaining coverage for a group of re-takaful contracts held 

depicting the recovery of losses. The Company calculates the loss-recovery component by multiplying the 

loss recognised on the underlying takaful contracts and the percentage of claims on the underlying takaful 

contracts the Company expects to recover from the group of re-takaful contracts held. The Company uses a 

systematic and rational method to determine the portion of losses recognised on the group to takaful contracts 

covered by the group of re-takaful contracts held where some contracts in the underlying group are not 

covered by the group of re-takaful contracts held. The loss-recovery component adjusts the carrying amount 

of the asset for remaining coverage. 

 

Modification and derecognition 

 

The Company derecognises takaful contracts when: 

 

• The rights and obligations relating to the contract are extinguished (i.e., discharged, cancelled or 

expired); or 

• The contract is modified such that the modification results in a change in the measurement model, or the 

applicable standard for measuring a component of the contract. In such cases, the Company derecognises 

the initial contract and recognises the modified contract as a new contract 

 

When a modification is not treated as a derecognition, the Company recognises amounts paid or received for 

the modification with the contract as an adjustment to the relevant liability for remaining coverage. 

 

Takaful acquisition cash flows 

 

The Company includes takaful acquisition cash flows in the measurement of a group of takaful contracts if 

they are directly attributable to either the individual contracts in a group, the group itself or the portfolio of 

takaful contracts to which the group belongs. These are essentially the Wakala Charges levied on each policy 

at time of inception. 

 

Discount rates 

 

The Company uses the bottom-up approach for the groups of contracts measured under PAA, GMM and VFA 

to derive the discount rates. 
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3.3 Changes in accounting policies for takaful contracts issued and re-takaful contracts held 

(continued) 

 
Measurement (continued) 

 

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk 

 

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk is the compensation that the Company requires for bearing the 

uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows of groups of takaful contracts. The risk adjustment 

reflects an amount that an insurer would rationally pay to remove the uncertainty that future cash flows will 

exceed the expected value amount. 

 

The Company has estimated the risk adjustment using a confidence level (probability of sufficiency) approach 

in the range of 60th to 70th percentile, adjusted for diversification. That is, the Company has assessed its 

indifference to uncertainty for all groups of contracts (as an indication of the compensation that it requires for 

bearing non-financial risk) as being equivalent in the range of 60th to 70th percentile confidence level, 

adjusted for diversification, less the mean of an estimated probability distribution of the future cash flows. 

The Company has estimated the probability distribution of the future cash flows, and the additional amount 

above the expected present value of future cash flows required to meet the target percentiles. 

 

The selection of Risk Adjustment percentile is linked to inherent volatility of underlying risk. For relatively 

stable lines (Motor and Medical), a 60th percentile has been chosen while for other lines a more conservative 

70th percentile has been chosen. 
 

Contractual service margin (CSM) 
 

The CSM is a component of the asset or liability for the group of takaful contracts that represents the unearned 

profit the Company will recognise as it provides services in the future. An amount of the CSM for a group of 

takaful contracts is recognised in profit or loss as takaful revenue in each period to reflect the takaful contract 

services provided under the group of takaful contracts in that period. The amount is determined by: 
 

• Identifying the coverage units in the group 

• Allocating the CSM at the end of the period (before recognising any amounts in profit or loss to reflect 

the takaful contract services provided in the period) equally to each coverage unit provided in the current 

period and expected to be provided in the future 
 

The number of coverage units in a group is the quantity of takaful contract services provided by the contracts 

in the group, determined by considering the quantity of the benefits provided and the expected coverage 

period. The coverage unit for the long-term credit family takaful is the expected claim cost. The coverage 

units for Unit-Linked portfolio are the expected sum at risk plus the cash value. 

 

The total coverage units of each group of takaful contracts are reassessed at the end of each reporting period 

to adjust for the reduction of remaining coverage for claims paid, expectations of lapses and cancellation of 

contracts in the period. They are then allocated based on probability-weighted average duration of each 

coverage unit provided in the current period and expected to be provided in the future. 
 

For re-takaful contracts issued, the number of coverage units in a group reflects the expected pattern of 

underwriting of the underlying contracts because the level of service provided depends on the number of 

underlying contracts in force. The quantity of benefit is the maximum probable loss. The remaining coverage 

units are reassessed at the end of each reporting period to reflect the expected pattern of service and the 

expectations of lapses and cancellations of contracts. The remaining coverage is allocated based on probability 

weighted average duration of each coverage unit provided in the current period and expected to be provided 

in the future. 
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3.4 Revenue recognition 

 

Dividend income 

 

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have 

been established. 

 

Rental income 
 

Rental income arising on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms 

on ongoing leases and is recorded in the income statement. 
 

Other income 
 

Other income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective rate 

of return applicable. 

 

3.5 Foreign currencies 

 

Transactions in currencies other than AED (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated 

in foreign currencies are retransferred at the rates prevailing at that date.  Non-monetary items carried at 

fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when 

the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 

currency are not retranslated. 
 

Exchange differences are recognised in the statement of income in the period in which they arise. 

 

3.6 Property and equipment 
 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.  

The cost of property and equipment is their purchase cost, together with any incidental expenses of 

acquisition. 
 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 

Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance expenses 

are charged to the statement of income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
 

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of property and equipment on a straight-line basis over 

their expected useful economic lives. 
 

The principal annual rates used for this purpose are: 

 Building       3.33% 

 Furniture, fixtures and office equipment    20% 

 Computer equipment and accessories    20 - 33.33% 

 Motor vehicles       25% 
 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the 

effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between 

the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the statement of income. 
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3.7 Investment properties 
 

Investment properties are held for the generation of income or capital appreciation and are initially 

measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are 

stated at fair value which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from 

changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the income statement in the year in which 

they arise. 
 

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment 

property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. 

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the income 

statement in the year of retirement or disposal. 
 

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. 
 

3.8 Impairment of tangible assets 
 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such 

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 

impairment loss (if any).  Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 

the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  

Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated 

to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest Company of cash-

generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  An 

impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of income, unless the relevant asset is carried 

at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 
 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 

for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 

immediately in the statement of income, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 

case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 
 

3.9 Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 

a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate 

can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 

amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material). 
 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from 

a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 

received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.10 Employee benefits 
 

An accrual is made for estimated liability for employees’ entitlement to annual leave and leave passage as 

a result of services rendered by eligible employees up to the end of the reporting period. 
 

Provision is also made for end of service benefits due to non-UAE national employees in accordance with 

the Company’s policy, which is at least equal to the benefits payable in accordance with UAE Labour Law, 

for their period of service up to the end of the reporting period.   
 

Pension contributions are made in respect of UAE national employees to the Abu Dhabi Pension Authority, 

calculated in accordance with Government regulations, such contributions are charged to the statement of 

income during the employees’ period of service. 

 

3.11 Financial assets 

 

Classification and measurement 

 

The Company has the following financial assets: cash and cash equivalents, contributions and retakaful 

balances receivables, investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and investments at fair 

value through profit or loss. The classification depends on the nature of the financial asset and is determined 

at the time of initial recognition. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalent include cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks with original maturities 

of three months or less. 

 

Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity instruments) 

 

Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity instruments) are initially recorded 

at cost and subsequently measured at fair value. Subsequent changes in fair value and gains or losses arising 

on disposal are recognised in other comprehensive income and dividend income is credited to statement of 

income when the right to receive the dividend is established. 

 

Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments) 

 

Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments) are initially recorded at 

cost and subsequently measured at fair value. profit, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses 

or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for 

financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. Upon 

derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in OCI is recycled to profit or loss. 

 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 

 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are initially recorded at cost and subsequently measured at 

fair value.  Subsequent changes in fair value and gains or losses arising on disposal are recognised in 

statement of income, profit from debt securities is recognized in statement of income and dividend income 

is credited to statement of income when the right to receive the dividend is established. 
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3.11 Financial assets (continued) 

 

Derecognition of financial assets 

 

The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

asset expire or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 

of the asset to another entity. If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company recognises its retained 

interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.  If the Company retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company continues 

to recognise the financial asset. 

 

Impairment of financial assets  

 

The Company applies a three-stage approach to measuring expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets 

carried at amortised cost and debt instruments classified as FVOCI. Assets migrate through the three stages 

based on the change in credit quality since initial recognition.  

 

a)  Overview 

 

The Company is recording the allowance for expected credit losses for debt financial assets not held at 

FVTPL. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under IFRS 9.  

  

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime 

expected credit loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, 

in which case, the allowance is based on the 12 months' expected credit loss (12mECL). The 12mECL is 

the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that 

are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.  

 

The Company has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of 

whether a financial instrument's credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by 

considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument.  

 

Based on the above process, the Company categorizes its FVOCI assets into stages as described below:  

 

Stage 1:   When financial instruments are first recognised, the Company recognises an allowance based on 

12 month ECLs. Stage 1 also include financial instruments where the credit risk has improved 

and the has been reclassified from Stage 2.  
 

Stage 2:   When a financial instrument has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the 

Company records an allowance for the life time ECLs. Stage 2 also include instruments, where 

the credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3. 

 

Stage 3:  Includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. For 

these assets, lifetime ECL are recognised and treated, along with the profits calculated. When 

transitioning financial assets from stage 2 to stage 3, the percentage of provision made for such 

assets should not be less than the percentage of provision made before transition. Purchased or 

originated credit impaired assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial recognition 

and are recorded at fair value at original recognition and profit is subsequently recognised based 

on a credit-adjusted EIR. ECLs are only recognised or released to the extent that there is a 

subsequent change in the expected credit losses.  

  



Abu Dhabi National Takaful Company P.S.C. 38 

 

 

Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

3 Summary of significant account policies (continued) 
 

3.11 Financial assets (continued) 

 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 

a) Overview (continued) 

 

For financial assets for which the Company has no reasonable expectations of recovering either the entire 

outstanding amount, or a proportion thereof, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced. 

This is considered a (partial) derecognition of the financial asset.  

 

The accounts which are restructured due to credit reasons in past 12 months will be classified under stage 

2.  

 

b) The calculation of ECLs  

 

The Company calculates ECLs based on probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash 

shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash 

flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to 

receive.  

 

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows:  

 

• The Probability of Default ("PD") is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon.  

• The Exposure at Default ("EAD ") is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into 

account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date.  

• The Loss Given Default ("LGD") is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at 

a given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that are 

expected to receive, including from the realisation of any collateral.  

 

Impairment losses and releases are accounted for and disclosed separately from modification losses or gains 

that are accounted for as an adjustment of the financial asset's gross carrying value.  

 

The mechanics of the ECL method are summarised below:  

 

Stage 1:  The 12 month ECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result 

from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the 

reporting date. The Company calculates the 12m ECL allowance based on the expectation of a 

default occurring in the 12 months following the reporting date. These expected 12-month default 

probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected LGD and discounted 

by an approximation to the original EIR. 

 

Stage 2: When a financial asset has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the 

Company records an allowance for the LTECLs. The mechanics are similar to those explained 

above, but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the instrument. The expected cash 

shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the original EIR.  

 

Stage 3:   For financial asset considered credit-impaired, the Company recognises the lifetime expected 

credit losses for these financial assets. The method is similar to that for Stage 2 assets, with the 

PD set at 100%.  

  



Abu Dhabi National Takaful Company P.S.C. 39 

 

 

Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

3 Summary of significant account policies (continued) 
 

3.11 Financial assets (continued) 

 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 

Debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI  

 

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial 

assets in the statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the 

allowance that would arise if the assets were measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI as an 

accumulated impairment amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated loss 

recognised in OCI is recycled to the profit and loss upon derecognition of the assets.  

 

c) Forward looking information  

 

The Company, for forward looking information, relies on a broad range of forward looking information as 

economic inputs, such as:  

 

• GDP growth  

• Unemployment rates  

• Central Bank base rates  

 

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the market 

at the date of the financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally 

made as temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly material.  

 

3.12 Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

 

Classification as debt or equity 

 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 

substance of the contractual arrangement. 

 

Equity instruments 

 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 

deducting all of its liabilities.  Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs. 

 

Other liabilities and accruals 
 

Other liabilities and accruals are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs and are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective rate of return, with the expense recognised on 

an effective yield basis. 
 

The effective rate of return is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 

allocating the expense over the relevant period.  The effective rate of return is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a 

shorter period. 
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3.12 Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued) 

 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 

The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are 

discharged, cancelled or have expired. 

 

3.13 Investment in commodities 

 

Investment in commodities, which are commodities held to for capital appreciation, is measured initially at 

cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment in commodities is measured 

at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment commodities are included 

in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.  

 

An investment commodity is derecognised upon disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the 

commodity (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 

asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the commodity is derecognised. 
 

3.14 Deficit in policyholders’ fund 

 

Deficit in the policyholders’ fund is financed by the shareholders through a profit free loan “Qard Hasan”.  

The Company maintains a full provision against such loans. 

 

3.15 Dividends distribution 

 

Dividends distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial 

statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. 

 

 

4 Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

While applying the accounting policies as stated in Note 3, management of the Company has made certain 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period of the revision in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 

only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 

future periods. The significant judgements and estimates made by management, that have a significant risk 

of causing a material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 

year are: 
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4 Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

 

Fair value of investment properties: 

 

External valuers may be involved for valuation of significant assets, such as investment properties. 

Selection criteria for valuers include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional 

standards are maintained. The management decides, after discussions with the Company’s external valuers, 

which valuation techniques and inputs to use for each case. 

 

The management, in conjunction with the Company’s external valuers, also compares each the changes in 

the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is 

reasonable. 

 

Fair value of unquoted equity investments: 

 

Fair valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on recent market transactions on an arm’s 

length basis, fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, expected cash flows discounted 

at current rates for similar instruments, net asset base of investee or other valuation models. 

 

Assessment of significance of takaful risk: 

 

The Company applies its judgement in assessing whether a contract transfers to the issuer significant takaful 

risk. A contract transfers significant takaful risk only if an insured event could cause the Company to pay 

additional amounts that are significant in any single scenario and only if there is a scenario that has 

commercial substance in which the issuer has a possibility of a loss on a present value basis upon an 

occurrence of the insured event, regardless of whether the insured event is extremely unlikely. 

 

Risk adjustment 

 

The Company has estimated the risk adjustment using a confidence level (probability of sufficiency) 

approach in the range of 60th to 70th percentile, adjusted for diversification. That is, the Company has 

assessed its indifference to uncertainty for all groups of contracts (as an indication of the compensation that 

it requires for bearing non-financial risk) as being equivalent in the range of 60th to 70th percentile 

confidence level, adjusted for diversification, less the mean of an estimated probability distribution of the 

future cash flows. The Company has estimated the probability distribution of the future cash flows, and the 

additional amount above the expected present value of future cash flows required to meet the target 

percentiles. The Company has changed its risk adjustment from 65th to 75th percentile to 60th to 70th 

percentile during the year as it in line with the Company risk appetite and best market practice. 

 

The selection of Risk Adjustment percentile is linked to inherent volatility of underlying risk. For relatively 

stable lines (Motor and Medical), a 60th percentile has been chosen while for other lines a more conservative 

70th percentile has been chosen. 

 

Onerous groups 

 

The Company uses significant judgement to determine at what level of granularity the Company has 

reasonable and supportable information that is sufficient to conclude that all contracts within a set are 

sufficiently homogeneous and will be allocated to the same group without performing an individual contract 

assessment. 
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Time value of money 

 

The Company adjusts the carrying amount of the takaful contracts liabilities and re-takaful contracts assets 

to reflect the time value of money and the effect of financial risk using discount rates that reflect the 

characteristics of the cash flows of the group of contracts. 

 

Under the bottom-up approach, the discount rate is determined as the risk-free yield and adjusted with a 

liquidity risk premium. The Company used the following yield curves to discount cash flows: 

 

2023 Currency 1 year 5 year 10 year 20 year 30 year 

Contracts under VFA AED 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 

Contracts under GMM and PAA AED 5.95% 4.69% 4.64% 4.65% 4.42% 

 

2022 Currency 1 year 5 year 10 year 20 year 30 year 

Contracts under GMM and PAA AED 6.44% 5.32% 5.12% 5.00% 4.64% 

 

Liability for incurred claims for contracts measured under the PAA 

 

The ultimate cost of outstanding claims is estimated by using a range of standard actuarial claims projection 

techniques, such as Chain Ladder and Bornheutter-Ferguson methods. 

 

The main assumption underlying these techniques is that a Company’s past claims development experience 

can be used to project future claims development and hence ultimate claims costs. These methods 

extrapolate the development of paid and incurred losses, average costs per claim (including claims handling 

costs), and claim numbers based on the observed development of earlier years and expected loss ratios. 

Large claims are usually separately addressed, either by being reserved at the face value of loss adjuster 

estimates or separately projected in order to reflect their future development. In most cases, no explicit 

assumptions are made regarding future rates of claims inflation or loss ratios. Instead, the assumptions used 

are those implicit in the historical claims development data on which the projections are based. Additional 

qualitative judgement is used to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in future, (e.g., to 

reflect one-off occurrences as well as internal factors such as portfolio mix, policy features and claims 

handling procedures) in order to arrive at the estimated ultimate cost of claims. The Company also has the 

right to pursue third parties for payment of some or all costs. Estimates of salvage recoveries and 

subrogation reimbursements are considered as an allowance in the measurement of ultimate claims costs. 

 

Measurement of future cash flows for contracts not measured under the PAA 

 

The measurement of a group of takaful contracts includes all the future cash flows arising within the 

contract boundary. In determining which cash flows fall within a contract boundary, the Company considers 

its substantive rights and obligations arising from the terms of the contract, and also from applicable law 

and regulation. Cash flows are considered to be outside of the contract boundary if the Company has the 

practical ability to reprice existing contracts to reflect their reassessed risks and if the contract’s pricing for 

coverage up to the date of reassessment considers only the risks till that next reassessment date. 
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Measurement of future cash flows for contracts not measured under the PAA (continued) 

The following assumptions were used when estimating future cash flows:  

• Mortality rates 

Mortality risks are inherent in most lines of business. The assumptions are set based on the internal experience 

of the Company when there are sufficient volumes of data to support a credible investigation. When internal 

experience is not sufficient, the assumptions are set with reference to industry experience and commonly used 

tables. 

• Lapse and surrender rates 

Lapse and surrenders assumptions relate to the rate by which policyholders cancel/surrender their policies. 

The assumptions are set in line with recent Company experience, by adjusting for expected 

improvements/deteriorations where necessary. 

Transition 

 

The Company assessed all information available and determined that it would be impracticable to apply the 

full retrospective approach for all groups of long-term Credit family takaful contacts. As such, for certain 

groups of long-term Credit family takaful contacts, the Company has applied the fair value approach to 

determine the CSM at the transition date.   

 

Applying the fair value approach, the Company determined the CSM to be the difference between the fair 

value of a group of takaful contracts, measured in accordance with IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ (IFRS 

13), and its fulfilment cashflows at the transition date.  

 

Under IFRS 13 the fair value of a takaful liability is the price that a market participant would be willing to 

pay to assume the obligation and the remaining risks of the in-force contracts as at the transition date. In the 

absence of recent market transactions for similar contracts, a present value technique was used to value groups 

of contracts.  

 

In estimating the fair value of groups of takaful contracts, the following considerations were applied:  

 

• only future cash flows within the boundaries of the takaful contracts were included in the fair value 

estimation;  

• assumptions about expected future cash flows and risk allowances were adjusted for the market 

participant’s view, as required by IFRS 13; and  

• profit margins were included to reflect what a market participant would require for accepting obligations 

under takaful contracts, beyond the risk adjustment for non-financial risk.  

 

The Company used significant judgement to determine adjustments required to reflect the market 

participant’s view. 
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5 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

 31 December 31 December 

 2023 2022 

 AED AED 
Takaful operations assets   
Cash and bank balances 27,728,110 22,426,436 

Term deposits 461,359,871 351,382,204 
                                             
   
 489,087,981 373,808,640 

Less: term deposits with original maturity of more than three 

months 

 

(435,359,871) 

 

(301,382,204) 
                                             
   
Cash and cash equivalents 53,728,110 72,426,436 

                                             

   

Shareholders’ assets   

Cash and bank balances 8,045,041 21,614,101 

Term deposits 59,317,243 109,014,546 
                                             
   

 67,362,284 130,628,647 

Less: term deposits with original maturity of more than three  

   months (40,317,243) (94,014,546) 

                                             

   

Cash and cash equivalents 27,045,041 36,614,101 

                                             

   

Takaful operations assets 53,728,110 72,426,436 

Shareholders’ assets 27,045,041 36,614,101 

                                             

   

 80,773,151 109,040,537 

                                             

   

Term deposits represent deposits held with Islamic financial institutions in the UAE, are denominated in 

UAE dirhams and carry expected profit at the prevailing market rates ranging from 4.1% to 7% per annum  

(31 December 2022: 0.75% to 6% per annum). 
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6 Property and equipment 
  

 

 

Building 

 

Furniture, 

fixtures and 

equipment 

Computer 

equipment 

and 

accessories 

 

 

Motor 

vehicles 

 

 

 

Total 

 AED AED AED AED AED 

Cost      

At 1 January 2023 25,196,436 9,670,875 8,936,923 1,440,628 45,244,862 

Additions - 141,051 383,001 170,088 694,140 

Disposals - (58,715) (77,135) (390,000) (525,850) 

                                                                                                               

      

At 31 December 2023 25,196,436 9,753,211 9,242,789 1,220,716 45,413,152 

                                                                                                               

      

Accumulated depreciation      

At 1 January 2023 6,376,363 8,585,460 6,937,619 1,045,001 22,944,443 

Charge for the year 839,344 402,341 707,162 162,736 2,111,583 

Disposals - (58,246) (76,971) (389,999) (525,216) 

                                                                                                               

      

At 31 December 2023 7,215,707 8,929,555 7,567,810 817,738 24,530,810 

                                                                                                               

      

Net carrying amount      

31 December 2023 17,980,729 823,656 1,674,979 402,978 20,882,342 

                                                                                                               

      

Cost      

At 1 January 2022 25,196,436 8,998,508 10,290,039 1,065,400 45,550,383 

Additions - 897,244 488,424 375,228 1,760,896 

Disposals - (224,877) (1,841,540) - (2,066,417) 

                                                                                                               

      

At 31 December 2022 25,196,436 9,670,875 8,936,923 1,440,628 45,244,862 

                                                                                                               

      

Accumulated depreciation      

At 1 January 2022 5,537,019 8,500,326 8,143,748 928,775 23,109,868 

Charge for the year 839,344 309,864 635,056 116,226 1,900,490 

Disposals - (224,730) (1,841,185) - (2,065,915) 

                                                                                                               

      

At 31 December 2022 6,376,363 8,585,460 6,937,619 1,045,001 22,944,443 

                                                                                                               

      

Net carrying amount      

31 December 2022 18,820,073 1,085,415 1,999,304 395,627 22,300,419 

                                                                                                               

      

 

  



Abu Dhabi National Takaful Company P.S.C. 46 

 

 

Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

7 Statutory deposit 

 

In accordance with the requirements of the Federal Law No. (48) of 2023, the Company maintains a bank 

deposit of AED 10,000,000 which cannot be utilised without the consent of the UAE Central Bank. The 

statutory deposit is held with a commercial bank in the UAE, a related party (note 16). 

 

 

8 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income  

 
  31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

  AED AED 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other  

   comprehensive income  352,579,538 315,880,256 

                                              

 

 31 December  
2023 

31 December 
2022 

 AED AED 

Shareholders’ assets   

Quoted securities   

- Equity securities 87,013,507 76,754,857 

- Sukuks 86,260,040 45,431,120 

Expected credit losses on Sukuk (508,515) (1,364,818) 

                                             

   

Total quoted securities for shareholders assets 172,765,032 120,821,159 

                                             

Unquoted securities   

   -   Unlisted equities  179,814,506 195,059,097 

                                             

   

Total unquoted securities for shareholders assets 179,814,506 195,059,097 

                                             

   

Total quoted and unquoted securities for shareholders assets 352,579,538 315,880,256 

                                             

 

Movement in expected credit loss are as follows: 

 2023 2022 

 AED AED 

   

Opening balance 1,364,818 1,263,317 

Charged during the year - 101,501 

Reversals during the year (856,303) - 
                                             
   
Closing balance 508,515 1,364,818 
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8 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued) 

 

 31 December  
2023 

31 December 
2022 

 AED AED 

   

Quoted securities 172,765,032 120,821,159 

Unquoted securities 179,814,506 195,059,097 
                                             
   
 352,579,538 315,880,256 

                                             

   

 

Investments include AED 197.4 million (2022: AED 121.3 million) registered in the name of custodians who 

are holding these investments on behalf of the Company through investment agreements. 

 

Unquoted equity securities are valued primarily based on net assets of the investees unless recent transactions 

provide evidence of the current fair value. The Company classified these as level 3 investments. 

The geographical concentration of investments is as follows: 

 

 31 December  

2023 

31 December 

2022 

 AED AED 

   

Within UAE 164,891,912 95,584,472 

Outside UAE 187,687,626 220,295,784 
                                             
   
 352,579,538 315,880,256 

                                             

   

Total investments 352,579,538 315,880,256 

                                             

   

 

The movement in investments are as follows: 

 

 2023 2022 

 AED AED 

   

Opening balance 315,880,256 225,741,671 

Addition during the year, net 69,411,105 118,323,460 
Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments 2,818,865 (11,353,440) 
Unrealized loss (35,530,688) (16,831,435) 
                                             
   
Closing balance 352,579,538 315,880,256 
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9 Financial assets measured at amortized cost 
 

 31 December  
2023 

31 December 
2022 

 AED AED 

Shareholders’ assets   

   

Unquoted securities   

   -   Murabaha placement 10,283,000 - 

                                             

   

Total securities for shareholders assets 10,283,000 - 

                                             

 

The geographical concentration of investments is as follows: 
 

 31 December  

2023 

31 December 

2022 

 AED AED 

   

Within UAE - - 

Outside UAE 10,283,000   - 
                                             
   
 10,283,000 - 

                                             

   

Total investments 10,283,000 - 

                                             

   

The movement in investments are as follows: 

 2023 2022 

 AED AED 

   

Opening balance - - 

Addition during the year 10,283,000     - 
                                             
   
Closing balance 10,283,000 - 

                                             

   
 

10 Investment properties 

 31 December 31 December 

 2023 2022 

 AED AED 
   

At 1 January 17,850,000 16,815,000 

Addition during the year 25,040,600 - 

Change in fair value 10,644,400 1,035,000 
                                             
   

 53,535,000 17,850,000 
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10 Investment properties (continued) 

 

The Company enters into operating leases for its investment properties. Amounts recognized in profit or 

loss in respect of investments properties are as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 

 AED AED 
   

Rental income from investment properties 930,953 932,826 

Operating expenses for properties generating rental income (269,427) (208,702) 
                                             

   

Net income arising from investment properties 661,526 724,124 
                                             

   
 

During the year, the Company has purchased investment properties of AED 25,040,600. The properties 

have been classified as investment properties as these are kept for earning rentals and capital appreciation. 
 

Investment properties are stated at fair value which represents the amount at which the assets could be 

exchanged between a knowledgeable, willing buyer and a knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length 

transaction at the date of valuation. The investment properties were valued as at 31 December 2023 by 

independent valuers at AED 53,535,000 (2022: AED 17,850,000) using comparable method and investment 

method (also known as income approach) of valuation. 

 

The Comparable Method analyses recent sales transactions of similar properties in a similar location, 

applying adjustments to reflect differences to the property, including location, specification, age, design 

and layout. 

 

The Investment Method analyses the market rent of similar properties in a similar location and applying 

capitalization rate on given rent. The capitalization rate applied to the income is implicit of factors such as 

rental growth, perceived covenant strength, in addition to the specification and location of the property. 

 

The investment properties are classified as Level 3. There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 or to 

Level 3 during current and previous year. 

 

There are no restrictions on the realisability of investment properties. The Company has no contractual 

obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs, maintenance or 

enhancements. 

 

 

11 Investment in commodities 

 

During the year, the Company has invested in gold and silver commodities which has been classified at fair 

value through profit and loss. The commodity market value is determined from the commodities market which 

is a secondary market and accordingly it has been classified under level 2 investment. There were no transfers 

between Level 1 and 3 or to Level 2 during current year. As of 31 December 2023, the Company holds 

physical gold bullions having market value of AED 15.3 million (2022: nil) and silver bullions having market 

value of AED 0.3 million (2022: nil).
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12 Takaful contract assets and liabilities 

 

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims for takaful 

contracts 

 
 

LRC  

LIC for contracts under 

PAA 

 

 

Excluding 

loss 

components 

Loss 

Components 

LIC for 

contracts not 

measured 

under PAA 

Present 

value of 

future cash 

flows 

Risk 

adjustment 

for non-

financial 

risk Total 

 AED AED AED AED AED AED 

       

Opening takaful contract assets - - - - - - 

Opening takaful contract liabilities 288,012,562 20,679,495 32,694,778 142,506,272 5,204,323 489,097,430 

                                                                                                                   
       

Net balance at 1 January 2023 288,012,562 20,679,495 32,694,778 142,506,272 5,204,323 489,097,430 
                                                                                                                   
       
Takaful revenue (672,453,727) - - - - (672,453,727) 

                                                                                                                   
       

Takaful service expenses       
Incurred benefits and expenses - - 20,042,837 343,191,363 9,339,598 372,573,798 
Changes that relate to past service  
  - adjustments to LIC - - (11,826,994) (19,632,113) (3,897,325) (35,356,432) 

Losses on onerous contracts and  

  reversal of those losses - (4,715,093) - - - (4,715,093) 

Amortisation of takaful acquisition  

  cash flows 168,977,978 - - - - 168,977,978 

                                                                                                                   
       

Takaful service expenses 168,977,978 (4,715,093) 8,215,843 323,559,250 5,442,273 501,480,251 

       

Takaful finance expenses through  

  profit and loss 11,137,313 5,664 1,032,785 4,782,280 - 16,958,042 

Net foreign exchange income or 

expense (1) (2) (9) - - (12) 

                                                                                                                   
Total changes in statement of  
  profit and loss (492,338,437) (4,709,431) 9,248,619 328,341,530 5,442,273 (154,015,446) 

                                                                                                                   
       

Cash flows       
Contributions received 746,433,473 - - - - 746,433,473 
Claims paid - - (9,719,302) (237,807,467) - (247,526,769) 
Directly attributable expenses paid - - (611,314) - - (611,314) 

Takaful acquisition cash flows (215,772,518) - - - - (215,772,518) 

                                                                                                                   
       

Total cash flow 530,660,955 - (10,330,616) (237,807,467) - 282,522,872 

                                                                                                                   
       

Net balance at 31 December 2023 326,335,080 15,970,064 31,612,781 233,040,335 10,646,596 617,604,856 

                                                                                                                   
       

Closing takaful contract assets (3,638,846) - - 2,271,137 158,728 (1,208,981) 

Closing takaful contract liabilities 329,973,926 15,970,064 31,612,781 230,769,198 10,487,868 618,813,837  
                                                                                                                   
       

Net closing balance  

31 December 2023 326,335,080 15,970,064 31,612,781 233,040,335 10,646,596 617,604,856 
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12 Takaful contract assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims for takaful 

contracts (continued) 

 
  

LRC 

 LIC for contracts under 

PAA 

 

 

Excluding loss 

components 

Loss 

components 

LIC for 

contracts not 

measured 

under PAA 

Present 

value of 

future cash 

flows 

Risk 

adjustment 

for non-

financial 

risk Total 

 AED AED AED AED AED AED 

       

Opening takaful contract assets - - - - - - 

Opening takaful contract liabilities 360,751,087 38,193  30,911,988  138,815,361  10,616,085 541,132,714 

                                                                                                                   
       

Net balance at 1 January 2022 360,751,087  38,193  30,911,988  138,815,361  10,616,085  541,132,714  

                                                                                                                   
       
Takaful revenue (449,798,161) - - - - (449,798,161) 

                                                                                                                   
       

Takaful service expenses       
Incurred benefits and expenses -    -    49,985,810 241,795,676  7,527,434  299,308,920 
Changes that relate to past service –  
  adjustments to LIC     -    -    (45,146,034) 1,077,016   (12,939,196) (57,008,214) 

Losses on onerous contracts and  

  reversal of those losses 
                            

-    
        

20,647,268 
                         
-    

                          
-    

                       
-    

           
20,647,268  

Amortisation of takaful acquisition  

  cash flows 
          

109,654,915 
                        
-    

                         
-    

                          
-    

                       
-    

         
109,654,915  

                                                                                                                   
       

Takaful service expenses 109,654,915  20,647,268  4,839,776 242,872,692   (5,411,762) 372,602,889 

       

Takaful finance income  

  through profit and loss 
          

(19,399,708) 
                

(5,966) 
            

(569,784) 
           

(4,287,450) 
                       
-    

         
(24,262,908) 

                                                                                                                   
Total changes in statement of profit  
  and loss 

       
(359,542,954) 

        
20,641,302 

           
4,269,992 

        
238,585,242 

       
(5,411,762) 

          
(101,458,180) 

                                                                                                                   
       

Cash flows       
Contributions received 404,341,251 -    -    -    -    404,341,251 
Claims paid - -     (2,487,202) (234,894,331) -     (237,381,533) 

Takaful acquisition cash flows  (117,536,822) -    -    -    -     (117,536,822) 

                                                                                                                   
       

Total cash flow 286,804,429 -  (2,487,202) (234,894,331)  -    49,422,896 

                                                                                                                   
       

Net balance at 31 December 2022 288,012,562 20,679,495  32,694,778 142,506,272  5,204,323  489,097,430 

                                                                                                                   
       

Closing takaful contract assets -    -    - -    -    -    

Closing takaful contract liabilities 288,012,562  20,679,495  32,694,778  142,506,272  5,204,323  489,097,430  
                                                                                                                   
       

Net closing balance 31 December  

  2022 

         

288,012,562  

        

20,679,495 

         

32,694,778  

        

142,506,272  

         

5,204,323  

         

489,097,430  
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12 Takaful contract assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Reconciliation of measurement component of takaful contract balances not measured under the PAA 

 
 

Present 

value of 

future cash 

flows 

Risk 

adjustment 

for non-

financial 

risk CSM Total 

 AED AED AED AED 

     

Opening takaful contract assets - - - - 

Opening takaful contract liabilities   174,102,928   9,371,704   30,896,030   214,370,662 

                                                                             
     

Net balance at 1 January 2023 174,102,928  9,371,704  30,896,030  214,370,662  
                                                                             
     
Changes related to current services     
CSM recognized for service provided - - (9,960,292) (9,960,292) 
Risk adjustment recognized for the risk expired - (1,176,378) - (1,176,378) 

Experience adjustments 4,520,544 63,276 - 4,583,820 
                                                                             
     

 4,520,544 (1,113,102) (9,960,292) (6,552,850) 

                                                                             
Changes related to future services     
Contracts initially recognized in the period (5,213,958) 312,050 4,973,453 71,545 

Changes in estimates that adjust CSM 3,041,002 (434,971) (2,606,031) - 

Changes in estimates that result in onerous contracts or reversal  

  of losses 435,981 (142,072) - 293,909 
                                                                             
     
 (1,736,975) (264,993) 2,367,422 365,454 
                                                                             
Changes that relate to past service     

Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to LIC (11,704,854) (122,140) - (11,826,994) 
                                                                             
     
Takaful Service result (8,921,285) (1,500,235) (7,592,870) (18,014,390) 

Takaful finance expenses through profit and loss 10,924,257 - 1,251,502 12,175,759 
Net foreign exchange income or expense 2 (1) (12) (11) 

                                                                             
     

Total changes in statement of profit and loss  2,002,974 (1,500,236) (6,341,380) (5,838,642) 

                                                                             
Cash flows     

Contribution received (7,877,555) - - (7,877,555) 

Claims paid (9,719,284) - - (9,719,284) 

Directly attributable expenses paid (611,314) - - (611,314) 

Takaful acquisition cash flows (3,123,912) - - (3,123,912) 
                                                                             
     
Total cash flow (21,332,065) - - (21,332,065) 
                                                                             

     
Net balance at 31 December 2023 154,773,837 7,871,468 24,554,650 187,199,955 
                                                                             
     

Closing takaful contract assets - - - - 

Closing takaful contract liabilities 154,773,837 7,871,468 24,554,650 187,199,955 

                                                                             
     

Net closing balance 31 December 2023 154,773,837 7,871,468 24,554,650 187,199,955 
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12 Takaful contract assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Reconciliation of measurement component of takaful contract balances not measured under the PAA 

 
 

Present 

value of 

future cash 

flows 

Risk 

adjustment 

for non-

financial 

risk CSM Total 

 AED AED AED AED 

     

Opening takaful contract assets - - - - 

Opening takaful contract liabilities   227,189,750    10,224,113    48,094,463   285,508,328 

                                                                             
     

Net balance at 1 January 2022   227,189,750  10,224,113  48,094,463  285,508,328  
                                                                             
     
Changes related to current services     
CSM recognized for service provided                     -                      -     (13,383,668)   (13,383,668) 
Risk adjustment recognized for the risk expired                     -      (1,201,532)                    -    (1,201,532) 

Experience adjustments 34,292,837         157,324                     -    34,450,161  

                                                                             
     

 34,292,837  (1,044,208) (13,383,668) 19,864,961  
                                                                             
Changes related to future services     
Contracts initially recognized in the period  (3,286,123)        183,960       3,102,163                      -    

Changes in estimates that adjust CSM 8,467,317  49,651     (8,516,968)                     -    

Changes in estimates that result in onerous contracts or reversal 

of losses 71,669  (12,512)                    -    

            

59,157  
                                                                             
     
 5,252,863  221,099 (5,414,805) 59,157  
                                                                             
Changes that relate to past service     

Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to LIC   (45,116,735)  (29,300) -   (45,146,035) 
                                                                             
     
Takaful Service result  (5,571,035)   (852,409)  (18,798,473)   (25,221,917) 
Takaful finance (income)/expenses through profit and loss   (21,575,498) - 1,600,040   (19,975,458) 
                                                                             
     

Total changes in statement of profit and loss    (27,146,533)   (852,409)  (17,198,433)   (45,197,375) 

                                                                             
Cash flows     

Contribution received   (20,673,010) -  -   (20,673,010) 

Claims paid  (2,487,202) - -  (2,487,202) 

Takaful acquisition cash flows  (2,780,079) - -  (2,780,079) 
                                                                             
     
Total cash flow (25,940,291) - - (25,940,291) 
                                                                             

     
Net balance at 31 December 2022 174,102,928 9,371,704 30,896,030 214,370,662 
                                                                             
     

     

Closing takaful contract assets - - - - 

Closing takaful contract liabilities 174,102,928  9,371,704  30,896,030  214,370,662 

                                                                             
     

Net closing balance 31 December 2022 174,102,928  9,371,704  30,896,030  214,370,662 
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12 Takaful contract assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Analysis of insurance contracts initially recognized 

 
 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 
 Non-

onerous 

contracts 

originated 

 

Onerous 

contracts 

originated  

 

 

 

Total 

 

Non-onerous 

contracts 

originated 

 

Onerous 

contracts 

originated  

 

 

 

Total 
 AED AED AED AED AED AED 
Claims and other directly attributable 

expenses 

 

11,488,255 

 

2,089,267 

 

13,577,522 
  

1,515,047 

  

-  

  

1,515,047 

Acquisition cost 2,883,831 - 2,883,831 2,737,856 - 2,737,856 

Estimates of present value of future 

cash outflows 

 

14,372,086 

 

2,089,267 

 

16,461,353 
  

4,252,903 

  

-  

  

4,252,903    
Estimates of present value of future 

cash inflows 

 

(19,654,673) 

 

(2,020,638)  

 

(21,675,311) 
  

(7,539,026) 

  

-  

  

(7,539,026) 
Risk adjustment for non-financial 

risk 

 

309,134 

 

2,916 

 

312,050 
  

183,960    

 

-  

  

183,960    
CSM 4,973,453 - 4,973,453 3,102,163    -  3,102,163 

 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Increase in takaful contract liabilities 

from contracts recognised during the 

year 

 

 

- 

 

 

71,545      

 

 

71,545 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

       

 

Expected recognition of the contractual service margin 

 

An analysis of the expected recognition of the CSM remaining at the end of the reporting period in profit 

or loss is provided in the following table: 

 

 2023 2022 
Number of years until expected to  

be recognised  
Long term individual 

family takaful contracts 

issued 

Long term individual 

family takaful contracts 

issued 
 AED AED 

As at 31 December   

0-1 5,536,898 8,462,884 

1-2 3,441,554 4,311,453 

2-3 2,316,050 2,386,080 

3-4 1,617,841 1,733,827 

4-5  1,365,043 1,544,510    

>5  10,277,264 12,457,276 
                                                               
   

 24,554,650 30,896,030 
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12 Takaful contract assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Takaful revenue and CSM by transition method 

 
  

Contracts 

measured under 

the modified 

retrospective 

approach at 

transition 

 

 

Contracts 

measured under 

the fair value 

approach at 

transition 

New contracts 

and contracts 

measured under 

the full 

retrospective 

approach at 

transition 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total 

 AED AED AED AED 

     

Takaful revenue  115,479 14,095,342 13,820,028 28,030,849 

                                                                             
     

Opening CSM as at 1 January 2023  37,429 18,844,661 12,013,940 30,896,030 

                                                                             
     
Changes that relate to current service       

CSM recognised for the services provided (6,035) (1,578,243) (8,376,014) (9,960,292) 

                                                                             
     
Changes that relate to future service     

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM 4,450 (2,535,808) (74,673) (2,606,031) 

Effects of contracts initially recognised in period - - 4,973,453 4,973,453 

                                                                             
 4,450 (2,535,808) 4,898,780 2,367,422 

Finance expenses from takaful contracts issued  1,624 627,304 622,574 1,251,502 

Net foreign exchange income or expense - - (12) (12) 

                                                                             
     

Total amount recognised in profit or loss  39 (3,486,747) (2,854,672) (6,341,380) 

                                                                             
     

Closing CSM as at 31 December 2023  37,468 15,357,914 9,159,268 24,554,650 
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12 Takaful contract assets and liabilities (continued) 

 
Takaful revenue and CSM by transition method  

 
 Contracts 

measured under 

the modified 

retrospective 

approach at 

transition 

 

 

Contracts 

measured under the 

fair value approach 

at transition 

New contracts and 

contracts measured 

under the full 

retrospective 

approach at 

transition 

 

 

 

 

 

Total 

 AED AED AED AED 

     

Takaful revenue  121,281 15,887,787 14,878,919 30,887,987 

                                                                             
     

Opening CSM as at 1 January 2022  57,986 28,514,515 19,521,962 48,094,463 

                                                                             
     
Changes that relate to current service       

CSM recognised for the services provided (6,320) (1,928,750) (11,448,598) (13,383,668) 

                                                                             
     
Changes that relate to future service     

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM (16,678) (8,743,194) 242,904 (8,516,968) 

Effects of contracts initially recognised in period - - 3,102,163 3,102,163 

                                                                             
 (16,678) (8,743,194) 3,345,067 (5,414,805) 

Finance expenses from takaful contracts issued  2,441 1,002,090 595,509 1,600,040 

                                                                             
     

Total amount recognised in profit or loss  (20,557) (9,669,854) (7,508,022) (17,198,433) 

                                                                             
     

Closing CSM as at 31 December 2022  37,429 18,844,661 12,013,940 30,896,030 
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13 Re-takaful contracts assets and liabilities 

 

Reconciliation of changes in re-takaful contracts held by remaining coverage and incurred claims 

 
 

Remaining 

coverage 

excluding 

loss-recovery 

component 

Remaining 

coverage 

loss-

recovery 

component 

Incurred 

claims for 

contracts not 

measured 

under PAA 

Incurred claims for 

contract under PAA 

 

 

Present 

value of 

future cash 

flows 

Risk 

adjustment 

for non-

financial 

risk Total 

 AED AED AED AED AED AED 

       

Opening re-takaful contract assets 42,557,918 4,412,863 31,295,709 52,790,269 3,653,656 134,710,415 

Opening re-takaful contract liabilities (79,167,789) - - 42,990,510 382,799 (35,794,480) 

                                                                                                                   
       

Net balance at 1 January 2023 (36,609,871) 4,412,863  31,295,709 95,780,779 4,036,455 98,915,935 

                                                                                                                   
       

Net income or expense from re-

takaful contracts held       
Allocation of re-takaful contribution (379,234,065) - - - - (379,234,065) 
Amounts recoverable for claims and  
  other expenses - - 18,811,720 96,877,028 4,465,791 120,154,539 

Changes that relate to past service –  

  adjustments to AIC - - (11,329,578) 105,614,527 (755,578) 93,529,371 

Changes in loss recovery component - 1,556,988 - - - 1,556,988 

Effect of changes in the risk of 

reinsurers non-performance - - (7,331) (459,673) - (467,004) 

                                                                                                                   
       

Net (expense)/income  

  from re-takaful contracts held (379,234,065) 1,556,988 7,474,811 202,031,882 3,710,213 (164,460,171) 

       

Re-takaful finance income through  

  profit and loss 9,006,911 - 988,962 3,534,115 - 13,529,988 

Net foreign exchange income or 

expense (2) - (8) - - (10) 

                                                                                                                   
Total changes in statement of profit  
  and loss (370,227,156) 1,556,988 8,463,765 205,565,997 3,710,213 (150,930,193) 

                                                                                                                   
       

Cash flows       
Contributions paid to re-takaful 372,119,312 - - - - 372,119,312 
Recoveries from re-takaful - - (9,475,292) (145,644,088) - (155,119,380) 

                                                                                                                   
       

Total cash flows 372,119,312 - (9,475,292) (145,644,088) - 216,999,932 

                                                                                                                   
       

Net balance at 31 December 2023 (34,717,715) 5,969,851 30,284,182 155,702,688 7,746,668 164,985,674 
                                                                                                                   
       

Closing re-takaful contract assets 21,357,697  5,969,851 30,284,182 121,880,032 6,090,455 185,582,217  

Closing re-takaful contract liabilities (56,075,412)  - - 33,822,656 1,656,213 (20,596,543)  
                                                                                                                   
       

Net closing balance  

31 December 2023 (34,717,715) 5,969,851 30,284,182 155,702,688 7,746,668 164,985,674 
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13 Re-takaful contracts assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Reconciliation of changes in re-takaful contracts held by remaining coverage and incurred claims 

(continued) 

 
 

Remaining 

coverage 

excluding 

loss-recovery 

component 

Remaining 

coverage 

loss-

recovery 

component 

Incurred 

claims for 

contracts not 

measured 

under PAA 

Incurred claims for 

contract under PAA 

 

 

Present 

value of 

future cash 

flows 

Risk 

adjustment 

for non-

financial 

risk Total 

 AED AED AED AED AED AED 

       

Opening re-takaful contract assets 21,916,298 - 29,492,779 90,559,967 8,139,309 150,108,353 

Opening re-takaful contract liabilities (344,208) - - 7,570 3,214 (333,424) 

                                                                                                                   
       

Net balance at 1 January 2022 21,572,090 - 29,492,779 90,567,537 8,142,523 149,774,929 

                                                                                                                   
       

Net income or expense from re-

takaful contracts held       
Allocation of re-takaful contribution (277,134,659) - - - - (277,134,659) 
Amounts recoverable for claims and  
  other expenses - - 21,543,427 76,788,582 4,681,343 103,013,352 

Changes that relate to past service –  

  adjustments to AIC - - (16,767,123) 92,478,172 (8,787,411) 66,923,638 

Changes in loss recovery component - 4,412,863 - - - 4,412,863 

Effect of changes in the risk of 

reinsurers non-performance - - (7,567) - - (7,567) 

                                                                                                                   
       

Net (expense)/income  

  from re-takaful contracts held (277,134,659) 4,412,863 4,768,737 169,266,754 (4,106,068) (102,792,373) 

       

Re-takaful finance expense through  

  profit and loss (17,950,533) - (546,147) (3,395,887) - (21,892,567) 

                                                                                                                   
Total changes in statement of profit  
  and loss (295,085,192) 4,412,863 4,222,590 165,870,867 (4,106,068) (124,684,940) 
                                                                                                                   
       

Cash flows       
Contributions paid to re-takaful 236,903,231 - - - - 236,903,231 
Recoveries from re-takaful - - (2,419,660) (160,657,625) - (163,077,285) 

                                                                                                                   
       

Total cash flows 236,903,231 - (2,419,660) (160,657,625) - 73,825,946 

                                                                                                                   
       

Net balance at 31 December 2022 (36,609,871) 4,412,863 31,295,709 95,780,779 4,036,455 98,915,935 
                                                                                                                   
       

Closing re-takaful contract assets 42,557,918  4,412,863 31,295,709 52,790,269 3,653,656 134,710,415  

Closing re-takaful contract liabilities (79,167,789) - - 42,990,510 382,799 (35,794,480) 
                                                                                                                   
       

Net closing balance 31 December  

  2022 (36,609,871) 4,412,863 31,295,709 95,780,779 4,036,455 98,915,935 
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13 Re-takaful contracts assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Reconciliation of measurement component of re-takaful contract balances not measured under the 

PAA 
 

Present value 

of future cash 

flows 

Risk 

adjustment 

for non-

financial 

risk CSM Total 

 AED AED AED AED 
     

Opening re-takaful contract assets (10,501,930) 6,949,320 17,304,271 13,751,661 

Opening re-takaful contract liabilities - - - - 
 ______                                                                                                                
     

Net balance at 1 January 2023 (10,501,930) 6,949,320 17,304,271 13,751,661 

                                                                             
     

Changes related to current services     
CSM recognized for services received - - (4,288,097) (4,288,097) 
Risk adjustment recognized for the risk expired - (667,029) - (667,029) 

Experience adjustments 6,002,060 56,312 - 6,058,372 

                                                                             
     

 6,002,060 (610,717) (4,288,097) 1,103,246 

                                                                             
Changes related to future services     
Contracts initially recognized in the period (4,111,597) 431,232 3,680,365 - 

Changes in estimates that adjust CSM (4,620,650) (690,285) 5,310,935 - 

                                                                             
     
 (8,732,247) (259,053) 8,991,300 - 
                                                                             
Changes that relate to past service     

Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to AIC (11,219,044) (110,534) - (11,329,578) 

     

Effect of changes in the risk of reinsurers non-

performance (7,331) - - (7,331) 

                                                                             
Takaful Service result (13,956,562) (980,304) 4,703,203 (10,233,663) 

                                                                             
     
Takaful finance income through profit and loss 9,426,758 - 569,118 9,995,876 
Net foreign exchange income or expense (14) (1) 5 (10) 

                                                                             
     

Total changes in statement of profit and loss  (4,529,818) (980,305) 5,272,326 (237,797) 

                                                                             
Cash flows     

Contributions paid to re-takaful 16,248,458 - - 16,248,458 

Recoveries from re-takaful (9,475,293) - - (9,475,293) 

                                                                             
     

Total cash flows 6,773,165 - - 6,773,165 

                                                                             
     

Net closing balance 31 December 2023 (8,258,583) 5,969,015 22,576,597 20,287,029 
                                                                             

     

Closing re-takaful contract assets (8,258,583)  5,969,015 22,576,597 20,287,029   

Closing re-takaful contract liabilities -  - - - 

                                                                             
     

Net closing balance 31 December 2023 (8,258,583) 5,969,015 22,576,597 20,287,029 
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13 Re-takaful contracts assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Reconciliation of measurement component of re-takaful contract balances not measured under the 

PAA (continued) 

 
 

Present 

value of 

future cash 

flows 

Risk 

adjustment 

for non-

financial 

risk CSM Total 

 AED AED AED AED 

     

Opening re-takaful contract assets 13,826,471 8,144,234 12,763,273 34,733,978 

Opening re-takaful contract liabilities - - - - 

                                                                             
     

Net balance at 1 January 2022 13,826,471 8,144,234  12,763,273 34,733,978 
                                                                             
     

Changes related to current services     
CSM recognized for services rendered - - (2,907,592) (2,907,592) 
Risk adjustment recognized for the risk expired - (805,277) - (805,277) 

Experience adjustments 6,923,538 151,394 - 7,074,932 

                                                                             
     

 6,923,538 (653,883) (2,907,592) 3,362,063 

                                                                             
Changes related to future services     
Contracts initially recognized in the period (4,628,759) 169,800 4,458,959 - 

Changes in estimates that adjust CSM (2,070,766) (686,464) 2,757,230 - 

                                                                             
     
 (6,699,525) (516,664) 7,216,189 - 
                                                                             
Changes that relate to past service     

Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to AIC (16,742,756) (24,367) - (16,767,123) 

Effect of changes in the risk of reinsurers non-performance (7,567) - - (7,567) 

                                                                             
     
Takaful service result (16,526,310) (1,194,914) 4,308,597 (13,412,627) 
Takaful finance expenses through profit and loss (18,729,081) - 232,401 (18,496,680) 

                                                                             
     

Total changes in statement of profit and loss  (35,255,391) (1,194,914) 4,540,998 (31,909,307) 

                                                                             
Cash flows     

Contributions paid to re-takaful 13,346,650 - - 13,346,650 

Recoveries from re-takaful (2,419,660) - - (2,419,660) 

                                                                             
     

Total cash flows 10,926,990 - - 10,926,990 

                                                                             
     
Net closing balance 31 December 2022 (10,501,930) 6,949,320 17,304,271 13,751,661 

                                                                             

     

Closing re-takaful contract assets (10,501,930)  6,949,320 17,304,271 13,751,661  

Closing re-takaful contract liabilities - - - - 

                                                                             
     

Net closing balance 31 December 2022 (10,501,930) 6,949,320 17,304,271 13,751,661 
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13 Re-takaful contracts assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Analysis of reinsurance contracts held initially recognized 

 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 
 Contracts 

originated 

not in a net 

gain 

position 

Contracts 

originated 

in a net 

gain 

position 

Total Contracts 

originated 

not in a net 

gain 

position 

Contracts 

originated 

in a net 

gain 

position 

Total 

 AED AED AED AED AED AED 
Estimates of present value of future 

cash inflows 

 

5,775,012 

 

981,060 

 

6,756,072 
  

225,249 

  

- 

  

225,249    
Estimates of present value of future 

cash outflows 

 

(9,937,661) 

 

(930,008) 

 

(10,867,669) 
  

(4,854,008) 

  

-  

  

(4,854,008) 
Risk adjustment for non-financial 

risk 

 

428,999 

 

2,233 

 

431,232 
  

169,800    

  

-  

  

169,800    
CSM 3,733,650 (53,285)  3,680,365   4,458,959 -  4,458,959 

                                                                                                                   
Increase in retakaful contract 

liabilities from contracts recognised 

during the year 

 

 

- 

 

 

-     

 

 

- 

 

  

- 

 

  

- 

 

  

- 

                                                                                                                   
       

 

Expected recognition of the contractual service margin 

 

An analysis of the expected recognition of the CSM remaining at the end of the reporting period in profit 

or loss is provided in the following table: 

 

 2023 2022 
Number of years until expected to  

be recognised  
Long term individual 

family re-takaful contracts 

issued 

Long term individual 

family re-takaful 

contracts issued 
 AED AED 

As at 31 December   

0-1 4,232,178 2,874,941 

1-2 3,199,028 2,302,728 

2-3 2,171,914 1,695,148 

3-4 1,523,120 1,175,351 

4-5  1,308,523 1,004,255 

>5  10,141,834 8,251,848 
                                                               
   

 22,576,597 17,304,271 
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13 Re-takaful contracts assets and liabilities (continued) 

 
CSM by transition method 

 
  

Contracts 

measured under 

the modified 

retrospective 

approach at 

transition 

 

 

Contracts 

measured under 

the fair value 

approach at 

transition 

New contracts 

and contracts 

measured under 

the full 

retrospective 

approach at 

transition 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total 

 AED AED AED AED 

     

Opening CSM as at 1 January 2023  - - 17,304,271 17,304,271 

                                                                             
     
Changes that relate to current service       

CSM recognised for the services provided - - (4,288,097) (4,288,097) 

                                                                             
     
Changes that relate to future service     

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM - - 5,310,935 5,310,935 

Effects of contracts initially recognised in period - - 3,680,365 3,680,365 

                                                                             
 - - 8,991,300 8,991,300 

Finance expenses from takaful contracts issued  - - 569,118 569,118 

Net foreign exchange income or expense - - 5 5 

                                                                             
     

Total amount recognised in comprehensive 

income 

- - 5,272,326 5,272,326 

                                                                             
     

Closing CSM as at 31 December 2023  - - 22,576,597 22,576,597 
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13 Re-takaful contracts assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

CSM by transition method 

 
  

Contracts 

measured under 

the modified 

retrospective 

approach at 

transition 

 

 

 

Contracts 

measured under the 

fair value approach 

at transition 

 

New contracts and 

contracts measured 

under the full 

retrospective 

approach at 

transition 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total 

 AED AED AED AED 

     

Opening CSM as at 1 January 2022  - - 12,763,273 12,763,273 

                                                                             
     
Changes that relate to current service       

CSM recognised for the services provided - - (2,907,592) (2,907,592) 

                                                                             
     
Changes that relate to future service     

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM - - 2,757,230 2,757,230 

Effects of contracts initially recognised in period - - 4,458,959 4,458,959 

                                                                             
 - - 7,216,189 7,216,189 

Finance expenses from retakaful contracts issued  - - 232,401 232,401 

                                                                             
     

Total amount recognised in comprehensive 

income 

- -  

4,540,998 

 

4,540,998 

                                                                             
     

Closing CSM as at 31 December 2022  - - 17,304,271 17,304,271 
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14 Provision for employee’s end of service benefits 

 

 2023 2022 

 AED AED 

   

At 1 January 12,349,183 10,856,237 

Charged during the year 1,699,853 1,787,127 

Paid during the year (326,309) (294,181) 

                                             
   

At 31 December  13,722,727 12,349,183 

                                             

   

 

 

15 Movement in policyholders' funds and Distribution payable to family Policyholders 

 
 Deficit 

 of family 

policyholders' 

funds 

AED 

Surplus of 

general 

policyholders 

takaful funds 

AED 

Loan (Qard 

Hasan) from 

shareholders 

AED 

Investment 

revaluation 

reserve 

AED 

Total 

AED 

      

At 1 January 2023 (restated) (26,997,664) (3,329,190) 30,326,854 - - 

Surplus in the reporting year 10,227,876 2,108,581 - - 12,336,457 

Loan (Qard Hasan) paid back to shareholder  - - (12,336,457) - (12,336,457) 

                                                                                                           

      

At 31 December 2023 (16,769,788)  (1,220,609)  17,990,397 - - 

                                                                                                           

      

      

      

Balance at 1 January 2022 (restated) (40,127,497) 28,384,105 40,127,497 (234,958) 28,149,147 

Surplus/(deficit) in the reporting year 13,129,833 (31,713,295) - - (18,583,462) 

Loan (Qard Hasan) paid back to shareholder - - (9,800,643)   - (9,800,643) 

Change in investment revaluation reserve - - - 234,958 234,958 

                                                                                                           

      

At 31 December 2022 (restated) (26,997,664) (3,329,190)  30,326,854 - - 

                                                                                                           

      

 

16 Related parties 
 

Related parties comprise the shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Company and 

those entities in which they have a significant interest and the ability to control or exercise significant 

influence in financial and operational decisions. Details of significant transactions with related parties in 

the normal course of business are as follows: 
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16 Related parties (continued) 
 

 

  

 

Shareholders 

Directors and 

their related 

parties 

Key 

management 

personnel  

 

 

Total  

 AED AED AED AED 

Balances as at 31 December 

2023 

    

Statutory deposit (note 7) 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000 

Investment in sukuk 4,795,845 - - 4,795,845 

Due from related parties 26,794 784,088 - 810,882 

Due to related parties 963,496 - - 963,496 

     

Transactions for the year 

ended 31 December 2023 

    

Gross contributions written 101,625,211 23,074,849 - 124,700,060 

Takaful expenses 6,112,022 - - 6,112,022 

Profit on term deposits 1,433,395 - - 1,433,395 

Profit on sukuk 146,186 - - 146,186 

Short-term benefits - - 4,508,244 4,508,244 

Long-term benefits - - 224,048 224,048  

 

  

 

Shareholders 

Directors and 

their related 

parties 

Key 

management 

personnel  

 

 

Total  

 AED AED AED AED 

Balances as at 31 December 

2022 

    

Statutory deposit (note 7) 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000 

Due from related parties 63,083 43,837 - 106,920 

Due to related parties 6,148,792 - - 6,148,792 

     

Transactions for the year 

ended 31 December 2022 

    

Gross contributions written 19,890,443 20,651,684 - 40,542,127 

Takaful expenses 1,537,548 - - 1,537,548 

Profit on term deposits 175,938 - - 175,938 

Short-term benefits - - 4,643,554  4,643,554 

Long-term benefits - - 503,670 503,670 
 

The remuneration of key management personnel is based on the remuneration agreed in their employment 

contracts as approved by the Board of Directors. 
 

Directors’ remuneration in relation to the year ended 31 December 2023 of AED 6,448,826 (2022: AED 

1,637,930) which is subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, 

was proposed and reflected in other comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 

17 Dividends 
 

For the year ended 31 December 2022, cash dividend of AED 27,000,000 at a rate of AED 0.2571 per share 

was approved by shareholders on 11 April 2023 and paid in April 2023. 
 

For the year ended 31 December 2021, cash dividend of AED 25,000,000 at a rate of AED 0.25 per share 

and a 5% stock dividend amounting to AED 5,000,000 was approved by the shareholders on 28 March 

2022 and paid in March 2022. 
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18 Share capital 

 31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

 AED AED 

Authorised, issued and fully paid   

105,000,000 shares of AED 1 each 105,000,000 105,000,000 

                                             

   

At 31 December 2023, 43,743,000 shares or 41.66% of total share capital (2022: 43,743,000 shares or 

41.66% of total share capital) were held by Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank PJSC and 61,257,000 shares or 58.34% 

of total share capital (2022: 61,257,000 shares or 58.34% of total share capital) were held by UAE nationals 

and other institutions. 

 

19 Legal reserve 

 

In accordance with the provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Commercial Companies Law No. (32) of 

2021, and the Company’s articles of association, the Company is required to transfer annually to a legal 

reserve account an amount equivalent to 10% of its annual net profit, until such reserve reaches 50% of the 

paid up capital of the Company. This reserve is not available for distribution. 

 

20 General reserve 

 

Transfers to and from the general reserve are made at the discretion of the Board of Directors and are subject 

to the shareholders’ approval. This reserve may be used for such purposes as they deem fit. 

 

21 Re-takaful default reserve 

 

The transfer from retained earnings to re-takaful default reserve is made in accordance with the Insurance 

Authority (IA) of UAE’s Board of Directors Decision No. (23) of 2019 concerning instructions organizing 

reinsurance operations. The directive requires to allocate an amount equals to 0.5% of the total re-takaful 

contribution ceded by the Company in order to create a provision for the probability of failure of any of the 

reinsurers with whom the Company deals to pay what is due to the company or default in its financial 

position. 

 

22 Takaful revenue 

 

The following table presents an analysis of takaful revenue recognised in the year: 

 

 2023 2022 

(restated) 

 AED AED 
   
Expected benefits incurred 14,563,590 15,615,402 

Expected expenses incurred 746,720 - 

Change in the risk adjustment for the risk expired 1,168,633 1,199,007 

CSM recognized for the service provided 9,960,292 13,383,668 

Recovery of acquisition cash flows 1,591,614 689,910 

 ___________ ___________ 

   

Contracts not measured under PAA 28,030,849 30,887,987 

Contracts measured under PAA 644,422,878 418,910,174 
                                             
   
Total Takaful Revenue 672,453,727 449,798,161 
                                             
   



Abu Dhabi National Takaful Company P.S.C. 67 

 

 

Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

 

23 Takaful service expenses 

 

The following table presents an analysis of takaful service expenses recognized in the year: 

 

 2023 2022 

(restated) 

 AED AED 
   
Incurred benefits 371,962,488 299,308,920 

Incurred directly attributable expenses 611,314 - 

Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of those losses (4,715,093) 20,647,268 

Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to LIC (35,356,436) (57,008,214) 

Amortisation of takaful acquisition cash flows 168,977,978 109,654,915 

 ___________ ___________ 

   

Total takaful service expense 501,480,251 372,602,889 
                                             
   

 

24 Net income or expense from re-takaful contracts held 

 

The following table presents an analysis of income or expense from re-takaful contracts recognised in the 

year: 

 

 2023 2022 

(restated) 

 AED AED 
   
Expected recovery of claims and other expenses 12,753,347 14,468,494 

Change in the risk adjustment for the risk expired 667,029 805,277 

CSM recognized for service received 4,288,097 2,907,592 

 __________ ___________ 

   

Contracts not measured under PAA 17,708,473 18,181,363 

Contracts measured under PAA 361,525,592 258,953,295  

 ___________ ___________ 

   

Allocation of re-takaful contribution 379,234,065 277,134,658 
                                             
   
Amounts recovered for claims and other expenses 120,154,538 103,013,351 
Changes that relate to past service - recoverable claims and 

other expenses 
 

93,529,372 

 

66,923,638 
Change of loss recovery components 1,556,988 4,412,863 
Effect of changes in the risk of reinsurers non-performance (467,004) (7,567) 
                                             
   
Amounts recoverable from reinsurer and incurred 
expenses 

214,773,894 174,342,285 

 __________ __________ 
   
Net expense from re takaful contracts held 164,460,171 102,792,373 
 __________ __________ 
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25 Policyholders’ investment income, net 

 

 2023 2022 

 AED AED 
   
Return on short-term investment accounts and deposits 18,608,649 9,624,048 

                                             

   

 18,608,649 9,624,048 
Operating expenses - (350,456) 
                                             
   
 18,608,649 9,273,592 

                                             

   

 

 

26 Takaful finance expenses/(income) for takaful contracts issued 

 

The following table presents an analysis of takaful finance expenses/income recognised in the year: 

 

 2023 2022 

(restated) 

 AED AED 
   
Profit accreted to takaful contracts 15,462,352 4,720,655 

Effect of changes in profit rates and other financial assumptions 1,284,573 (28,059,167) 

Effect of unlocking CSM at locked-in rates and FCF at current rates 211,117 

 

(924,396) 

 

Net foreign exchange income or expense (12) - 

 ___________ ___________ 

Total takaful finance expense/(income) for takaful contracts issued 

recognized in profit or loss 

 

16,958,030 

 

(24,262,908) 
                                             

 

 

27 Re-takaful finance income/expense for re-takaful contracts held 

 

The following table presents an analysis of re-takaful finance income/expenses recognised in the year: 

 

 2023 2022 

(restated) 

 AED AED 
   
Profit accreted to re-takaful contracts held 12,313,995 2,901,459 

Effect of changes in profit rates and other financial assumptions 1,312,081 (24,277,634) 

Effect of unlocking CSM at locked-in rates and FCF at current rates (96,089) 

 

(516,392) 

 

Net foreign exchange income or expense (9) - 

 ___________ ___________ 

Total re-takaful finance (expense)/income for re-takaful contracts 

held recognized in profit or loss 

 

13,529,978 

 

(21,892,567) 
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28 Shareholder’s investment and other income, net 

 

 2023 2022 

 AED AED 
   
Return on short-term investment accounts and deposits 3,620,769 2,943,611 

Dividend income and profit on investments, net 23,537,148 20,547,479 

(Loss)/gain on disposal of investments, net (333,879) 242,384 

Investment income on commodities 595,957 - 

Increase in fair value of investment properties (note 10) 10,644,400 1,035,000 

Rental income, net (note 10) 661,526 724,124 

Gain on disposal of furniture and equipment 78,413 1,204 
                                             
   
 38,804,334 25,493,802 
Operating expenses  (1,947,045) (1,958,405) 
                                             
   
 36,857,289 23,535,397 

                                             

 

 

29 Mudareb share and wakalah fees 

 

The shareholders manage the policyholders’ investment fund and charge 35% (2022: 35%) of investment 

income earned by policyholders' investment fund as mudareb share. 

 

The shareholders manage the takaful operations for the policyholders and charge 29.5% (2022: 30.8%) of 

gross takaful contributions as wakalah fees. 

 

 

30 General and administrative expenses 

 

 2023 2022 

 AED AED 
   
Staff costs  45,586,619 42,573,217 

Rental expenses 668,770 633,530 

Depreciation of property and equipment 2,111,583 1,900,490 

Other expenses 9,705,020 7,619,039 
                                             
   
 58,071,992 52,726,276 

                                             

   

Social contribution included in staff costs for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounts to AED 799,224 

(2022: AED 626,939). 
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31 Profit for the year 
 

The Company’s combined net profit for the year for policyholder and shareholder, before Qard Hasan 

provision is AED 103,042,402 (31 December 2022: AED 38,333,332). 

 

 

32 Basic and diluted earnings per share 

 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average number 

of shares outstanding during the year as follows: 

 

 2023 2022 

  (restated) 

   

Profit for the year (AED) 103,042,273 66,717,437 

                                             

   

Weighted average number of shares outstanding at 1 January 105,000,000 100,000,000 

Effect of bonus shares issued in 2022 - 5,000,000 

                                             

   

Total weighted average share at 31 December 105,000,000 105,000,000 

                                             

   

Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED) 0.98 0.64 

                                             

 

 

33 Segment information 

 

For operating purposes, the Company is organised into two main business segments: 

 

• Underwriting of takaful business incorporating all classes of takaful including fire, marine, motor, 

general accident, engineering, medical and family takaful.  This business is conducted fully within the 

UAE. 

• Investments incorporating investments in UAE marketable equity securities, short-term investments 

with banks and other securities. 
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33 Segment information (continued) 

 

Information regarding the Company’s reportable segments is presented below: 

 

Segment revenue and results 

 
 2023  2022 (restated) 

 Underwriting Investments Total Underwriting Investments Total 

 AED AED AED AED AED AED 

       

Direct revenues 672,453,727 55,465,938 727,919,665 449,798,161 32,808,989 482,607,150 

Direct costs (665,940,422) - (665,940,422) (475,395,262) - (475,395,262) 

Finance 

(cost)/income, net (3,428,052)  - (3,428,052) 2,370,341 - 2,370,341 

Other 

(expenses)/income (2,844,418) - (2,844,418) (1,384,537) - (1,384,537) 

Takaful expenses 105,407,492 - 105,407,492 82,861,916 - 82,861,916 

                                                                                                                                     

       

Segment results 105,648,327    55,465,938 161,114,265 58,250,619 32,808,989 91,059,608 

Unallocated costs   (58,071,992) - - (24,342,171) 

                                                 

       

Profit for the year   103,042,273   66,717,437 

                                                                                                                               

       

 

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers and third parties. There were 

no inter-segment revenues in the year (2022: AED nil). 

 

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Company’s accounting policies used in 

the annual audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, except for adoption of new and 

amended standards as set out in note 2. 

 

Segment assets and liabilities 

 
  

     As at 31 December 2023  

       

As at 31 December 2022 (restated) 

 Underwriting Investments Total Underwriting Investments Total 

 AED AED AED AED AED AED 

       

Segment assets 230,984,198 1,000,021,477 1,231,005,675 169,965,247 848,167,543 1,018,132,790 

Unallocated assets - - 34,699,024 - - 31,929,549 

                                                                                                                                           

       

Total assets 230,984,198   1,000,021,477 1,265,704,699 169,965,247   848,167,543 1,050,062,339  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

       

Segment liabilities 769,785,896 - 769,785,896  622,444,952  - 622,444,952 

Unallocated liabilities - - 46,467,279 - - 14,185,341 

                                                                                                                                           

       

Total liabilities 769,785,896    - 816,253,175    622,444,952 - 636,630,293  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

       

Capital expenditure   694,140   1,760,896 
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34 Contingent liabilities and commitments 

 

 31 December 31 December 

 2023 2022 

 AED AED 

   

Bank guarantees - 500,000 

                                             

   

Bank guarantees were issued in the normal course of business. 

 

 

35 Takaful risk 

 

The risk under any one takaful contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty 

of the amount of the resulting claim. By the nature of a takaful contract, this risk is random and therefore 

unpredictable. 

 

For a portfolio of takaful contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, 

the principal risk that the Company faces under its takaful contracts is that the actual claims and benefit 

payments exceed the estimated amount of the takaful liabilities.  This could occur because the frequency or 

severity of claims and benefits are greater than estimated.  Takaful events are random and the actual number 

and amount of claims and benefits will vary from year to year from the estimate established using statistical 

techniques. 

 

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar takaful contracts, the smaller the relative variability 

about the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be affected 

across the board by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Company has developed its takaful 

underwriting strategy to diversify the type of takaful risks accepted and within each of these categories to 

achieve a sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome. 

 

The Company manages risks through its underwriting strategy, adequate retakaful arrangements and 

proactive claims handling. The underwriting strategy attempts to ensure that the underwritten risks are well 

diversified in terms of type and amount of risk, industry and geography. Underwriting limits are in place to 

enforce appropriate risk selection criteria. 
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35 Takaful risk (continued) 

 

Frequency and severity of claims 

 

The Company has the right not to renew individual policies, re-price the risk, impose deductibles and it has 

the right to reject the payment of a fraudulent claim. Takaful contracts also entitle the Company to pursue 

third parties for payment of some or all costs (for example, subrogation). 

 

Property takaful contracts are underwritten by reference to the commercial replacement value of the 

properties and contents insured, and claim payment limits are always included to cap the amount payable 

on occurrence of the insured event.  Cost of rebuilding properties, of replacement or indemnity for contents 

and time taken to restart operations for business interruption are the key factors that influence the level of 

claims under these policies. Property takaful contracts are subdivided into four risk categories: fire, business 

interruption, weather damage and theft. The takaful risk arising from these contracts is not concentrated in 

any one of the territories in which the Company operates, and there is a balance between commercial and 

personal properties in the overall portfolio of insured properties. 

 

The retakaful arrangements include excess and catastrophe coverage. The effect of such retakaful 

arrangements is that the Company should not suffer net takaful losses of a set limit of AED 250,000 in any 

one motor policy and AED 1,500,000 for any one non-motor policy. The Company has survey units dealing 

with the mitigation of risks surrounding claims.  This unit investigates and recommends ways to improve 

risk claims. The risks are reviewed individually at least once in 3 years and adjusted to reflect the latest 

information on the underlying facts, current law jurisdiction, contractual terms and conditions, and other 

factors. The Company actively manages and pursues early settlement of claims to reduce its exposure to 

unpredictable developments. 

 

Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments 

 

Claims on takaful contracts are payable on a claims-occurrence basis.  The Company is liable for all insured 

events that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the loss is discovered after the end of the 

contract term.  As a result, liability claims are settled over a long period of time and an element of the claims 

provision includes incurred but not reported claims (“IBNR”).  The estimation of IBNR is generally subject 

to a greater degree of uncertainty than the estimation of the cost of settling claims already notified to the 

Company, where information about the claim event is available. IBNR claims may not be apparent to the 

insured until many years after the event that gave rise to the claims.  For some takaful contracts, the IBNR 

proportion of the total liability is high and will typically display greater variations between initial estimates 

and final outcomes because of the greater degree of difficulty of estimating these liabilities. 

 

In estimating the liability for the cost of reported claims not yet paid, the Company considers information 

available from loss adjusters and information on the cost of settling claims with similar characteristics in 

previous periods. Large claims are assessed on a case-by-case basis or projected separately in order to allow 

for the possible distortive effect of their development and incidence on the rest of the portfolio. 

 

The estimated cost of claims includes direct expenses to be incurred in settling claims, net of the expected 

subrogation value and other recoveries. The Company takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has 

appropriate information regarding its claims exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing 

claims provisions; it is likely that the final outcome will prove to be different from the original liability 

established. 
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35 Takaful risk (continued) 

 

Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments (continued) 

 

The amount of takaful claims is particularly sensitive to the level of court awards and to the development 

of legal precedent on matters of contract and tort. Takaful contracts are also subject to the emergence of 

new types of latent claims, but no allowance is included for this at the end of the reporting period. 

 

Where possible, the Company adopts multiple techniques to estimate the required level of provisions. This 

provides a greater understanding of the trends inherent in the experience being projected. The projection 

given by the various methodologies also assist in estimating the range of possible outcomes. The most 

appropriate estimation technique is selected taking into account the characteristics of the business class and 

the extent of the development of each accident year. 

 

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims (both reported and not), the Company’s estimation 

techniques are a combination of loss-ratio-based estimates and an estimate based upon actual claims 

experience using predetermined formulae where greater weight is given to actual claims experience as time 

passes. The initial loss -ratio estimate is an important assumption in the estimation technique and is based 

on previous years experience, adjusted for factors such as contribution rate changes, anticipated market 

experience and historical claims inflation. 

 

Process used to decide on assumptions 

 

The risks associated with the takaful contracts are complex and subject to a number of variables that 

complicate quantitative sensitivity analysis.  Internal data is derived mostly from the Company’s quarterly 

claims reports and screening of the actual takaful contracts carried out at the end of the reporting period to 

derive data for the contracts held. The Company has reviewed the individual contracts and in particular the 

industries in which the insured companies operate and the actual exposure years of claims. This information 

is used to develop scenarios related to the latency of claims that are used for the projections of the ultimate 

number of claims. 

 

The choice of selected results for each accident year of each class of business depends on an assessment of 

the techniques that has been most appropriate to observed historical developments. In certain instances, this 

has meant that different techniques or combinations of techniques have been selected for individual accident 

years or Company’s of accident years within the same class of business. 
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Claims development process 

 

The following schedules reflect the actual claims (based on year end estimates including IBNR) compared 

to the previous estimates for the last four years on an accident year basis:. 

 
Accident year (Ultimate Claims) 

 

Before 2021 2021 2022 2023 

Total 
 AED AED AED AED AED 
Gross      

At the end of each reporting year      

2021  280,005,106   84,737,786   -     -     364,742,892  

2022  565,265,996   216,736,786   228,459,627   -     1,010,462,409  

2023  467,631,041   217,702,524   236,560,079   364,734,811   1,286,628,455  

Gross estimates of the undiscounted  

  amount of the claims  

  

 217,702,524  

  

236,560,079  

  

364,734,811  

 

 818,997,414  
      

Cumulative payments to date (Paid Claims)  455,822,132   207,475,695   195,044,113   195,249,446   1,053,591,386  
      

Gross undiscounted liabilities for  

   incurred claims 

 

 11,853,737  

 

 10,226,830  

 

 41,515,966  

 

 169,485,365  

 

 233,081,898  
      

Effect of discounting  

    

 (11,807,734) 

Effect of risk adjustment for  

  non-financial risk      

 

 10,646,596  

      

Others*       11,766,171  

Total gross liabilities for incurred  

  claims     

 

243,686,931 

      

Net      

At the end of each reporting year      

2021  8,466,094   21,202,824   6,431,851   -     36,100,769  

2022  172,625,808   67,093,952   74,732,820   8,018,917   322,471,497  

2023  129,921,144   66,730,591   78,687,046   129,526,817   404,865,598  

Net estimates of the undiscounted  

  amount of the claims  

 

- 
 

 66,730,591  

 

 78,687,046  

 

 129,526,817  

 

 274,944,454  
      

Cumulative payments to date (Paid Claims)  130,163,152   64,324,878   68,511,231   73,754,931   336,754,192  
      

Net undiscounted liabilities for incurred  

  claims 

 

 1,655,459  

 

 2,405,714  

 

 10,175,814  

 

 55,771,886  

 

 70,008,873  
      

Effect of discounting       (2,595,722) 

Effect of risk adjustment for  

  non-financial risk  

     

 2,899,928  

Others*       9,924,496  

Total net liabilities for incurred claims       80,237,576  

 

* Others includes unallocated loss adjustment expenses reserve, non-performance risks and claim payables 

and recoverables. 
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Sensitivity Analysis 

 
Sensitivity analysis for 

contracts measured under 

PAA  

For the year ended 

31 December 2023 

For the year ended 

31 December 2022 

 LIC Impact on LIC  LIC Impact on LIC 

 AED AED  AED AED  

Takaful contract liabilities  (243,686,931)   (147,710,595)  

Re-takaful contract assets  163,449,356  99,817,234    

Net takaful contract 

liabilities  

 

(80,237,575)  

  

(47,893,361)  

 

5% increase – LIC 

Takaful contract liabilities  (255,871,276) (12,184,345) (155,096,229) (7,385,634) 

Re-takaful contract assets  171,621,823 8,172,467    104,808,095 4,990,861   

Net takaful contract 

liabilities  

 

(84,249,453)  

 

(4,011,878) 

 

(50,288,134) 

 

(2,394,773) 

5% decrease – LIC 

Takaful contract liabilities  (231,502,583) 12,184,348    (140,325,159) 7,385,436 

Re-takaful contract assets  155,276,888  (8,172,468) 

 

94,826,371 (4,990,863) 

Net takaful contract 

liabilities  

 

(76,225,695) 

 

4,011,880 

 

(45,498,788) 

 

2,394,573   

 

Sensitivity analysis for 

contracts not measured 

under PAA  

For the year ended 

31 December 2023 

For the year ended 

31 December 2022 

 Net takaful and re-takaful 

Contract assets and 

liabilities 

Impact on net 

takaful and re-

takaful 

Contract assets 

and liabilities 

Net takaful and re-

takaful Contract 

assets and liabilities 

Impact on net takaful and 

re-takaful Contract assets 

and liabilities 

 AED AED  AED AED  

Takaful contract liabilities  (187,199,955)     (214,370,662)  

Net re-takaful contract assets  20,287,029    13,751,661     

Net takaful contract 

liabilities  

 

(166,912,926) 

  

(200,619,001) 

 

10% increase – Lapses 

Takaful contract liabilities  (187,315,928) (115,973) (214,570,940) (200,278) 

Re-takaful contract assets  20,406,418 119,389   14,419,167 667,506   

Net takaful contract 

liabilities  

 

(166,909,510) 

 

3,416  

 

(200,151,773) 

 

467,228 

1% increase – Mortality 

Takaful contract liabilities  (187,285,831) (85,876)   (214,450,654)  (79,992)  

Re-takaful contract assets  20,296,221 9,192 14,148,898 397,237 

Net takaful contract 

liabilities  

 

(166,989,610)  

 

(76,684) 

 

(200,301,756) 

 

317,245  

 

Concentration of takaful risk 

 

Substantially all of the Company’s underwriting activities are carried out in the UAE. 

 

In common with other takaful companies, in order to minimise financial exposure arising from large takaful 

claims, the Company, in the normal course of business, enters into arrangement with other parties for 

retakaful purposes. 

 

To minimise its exposure to significant losses from retakaful insolvencies, the Company evaluates the 

financial condition of its retakaful and monitors concentration of credit risk arising from similar geographic 

regions, activities or economic characteristics of the retakaful companies. The Company remains liable to 

its policyholders for the portion covered by retakaful to the extent that any retakaful does not meet the 

obligations assumed under the retakaful agreements. 
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36 Financial risk 

 

The Company is exposed to a range of financial risks through its financial assets, financial liabilities, 

retakaful assets and liabilities. In particular, the key financial risk is that in the long-term, its investment 

proceeds are not sufficient to fund the obligations arising from its takaful and investment contracts. The 

risks that the Company primarily faces due to the nature of its investments and underwriting business are 

market price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 

Fair value of financial instruments 
 

Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in 

the financial statements approximate their fair values. 
 

An analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value into 

levels 1 to 3 is provided in note 37. 
 

Capital risk management 
 

The Company has established the following capital management objectives, policies and approach to 

manage the risks that affect its capital position. 

 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are: 
 

• to comply with the capital requirements required by the UAE Federal Law No. (48) of 2023 regarding 

the Establishment of the Insurance Authority and Insurance Operations 

• to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide 

returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 

• to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing takaful contracts commensurately with the 

level of risk. 

 

In UAE, the local takaful regulator specifies the minimum amount and type of capital that must be held by 

the Company in addition to its takaful liabilities. The minimum required capital (presented below) must be 

maintained at all times throughout the year. The Company is subject to local takaful solvency regulations 

with which it has complied during the year.  The Company has incorporated in its policies and procedures 

the necessary tests to ensure continuous and full compliance with such regulations.  

 

The below summarises the minimum regulatory capital of the Company and the total capital held. 
 

 31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022  

  (restated) 

 AED AED 

   

Total shareholders’ equity 449,451,524 413,432,046 

                                             

   

Minimum regulatory capital 100,000,000 100,000,000 

                                             

   

The UAE Insurance Authority has issued resolution No. 42 for 2009 setting the minimum subscribed or 

paid-up capital of AED 100 million for establishing an insurance firm and AED 250 million for a retakaful 

firm. The resolution also stipulates that at least 75 percent of the capital of the insurance companies 

established in the UAE should be owned by UAE or Gulf Cooperation Council national individuals or 

corporate bodies. The Company is complying with the above requirements. 
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Material accounting policies 

 

Details of the significant policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 

measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of 

financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements. 

 

Categories of financial instruments 

 31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

 AED AED 

   

Financial assets   

Statutory deposit 10,000,000 10,000,000 

Investments 362,862,538 315,880,256   

Cash and bank balances (including term deposits) 556,450,265 504,437,287 

                                                 

   

Total 929,312,803 830,317,543 

                                                 

   

Profit return rate risk management 

 

The Company is not exposed to significant rate of return risks as its assets returns are repriced frequently. 

 

The Company’s rate of return risk is mainly attributable to its bank deposits and sukuks. 

 

The Company generally tries to minimise the rate of return risk by closely monitoring the market rates and 

investing in those financial assets in which such risk is expected to be minimal. 

 

Foreign currency risk 

 

The Company is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk as substantially all financial assets and 

financial liabilities are denominated in AED or US Dollars to which the AED is pegged. 

 

Market price risk 

 

Market price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in 

market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security, or its issuer, 

or factors affecting all securities traded in the market.  The Company is exposed to market price risk with 

respect to its quoted and unquoted equity investments and investment in commodities.  The Company limits 

market risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio and by continuous monitoring of developments in the 

market; in addition, the Company actively monitors the key factors that affect stock and market movements, 

including analysis of the operational and financial performance of investees. 

 

At the end of the year, if the prices of quoted equity investments and net asset value of unquoted equity 

investments are 1% higher/lower and all the other variables were held constant, the Company’s other 

comprehensive income would have increased/decreased by AED 2,668,280 (31 December 2022: AED 

2,718,140). With respect to investment in commodities, if the prices of commodities are 1% higher/lower 

and all the other variables were held constant, the Company’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 

would increase / decrease by AED 155,972 (31 December 2022: nil).
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Credit risk management 

 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 

financial loss to the Company. 

 

Key areas where the Company is exposed to credit risk are: 

 

• Retakafuls’ share of takaful liabilities; 

• Amounts due from retakaful in respects of claims already paid; 

• Amounts due from takaful contract holders; 

• Amounts due from takaful intermediaries; and 

• Amounts due from banks for its bank balances and fixed deposits. 

 

The Company has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining 

sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.  

The Company’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the 

aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is 

controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by management annually. 

 

Retakaful is used to manage takaful risk.  This does not, however, discharge the Company’s liability as 

primary insurer.  If retakaful company fails to pay a claim for any reason, the Company remains liable for 

the payment to the policyholder.  The creditworthiness of a retakaful company is considered on an annual 

basis by reviewing their financial strength prior to finalisation of any contract. 

 

The Company maintains records of the payment history for significant contract holders with whom it 

conducts regular business.  The exposure to individual counterparties is also managed by other mechanisms, 

such as the right of offset where counterparties are both debtors and creditors of the Company. 

 

Management information reported to the Company includes details of provisions for impairment on takaful 

receivables and subsequent write-offs. Exposures to individual policyholders and groups of policyholders 

are mitigated by ongoing credit evaluation of their financial condition. Where there exists significant 

exposure to individual policyholders, or homogenous groups of policyholders, a financial analysis 

equivalent to that conducted for retakaful is carried out by the Company. Management believes that the 

concentration of credit risk is mitigated by high credit rating and financial stability of its policy holders. 

 
The credit risk on liquid funds maintained with banks is limited because the counterparties are reputable 

local banks closely monitored by the regulatory body. 

 

At 31 December 2023, all of the deposits were placed with 9 banks (2022: 8 banks).  Management is 

confident that this concentration at year end does not result in any credit risk to the Company as these banks 

are major banks operating in the UAE and are highly regulated by the Central Bank. 

 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of impairment 

losses, represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for such receivable and liquid funds. 

 

The re-takaful contract assets and re-takaful receivables are with highly rated reinsurers based on the 

Company’s internal Risk management framework. 
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Liquidity risk management 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its funding requirements.  Bank facilities, 

the policy holders and the retakaful, are the major sources of funding for the Company and the liquidity 

risk for the Company is assessed to be low. 

 
Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities 

 

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to 

be recovered or settled: 

 

 Current Non-current Total 

 AED AED AED 

    

31 December 2023    

Assets excluding takaful and re-takaful contract 

assets 

   

Cash and bank balances including bank deposits 556,450,265 - 556,450,265 

Statutory deposits - 10,000,000 10,000,000 

Unit linked investments at fair value through 

   profit or loss - 1,576,487 1,576,487 

Financial assets designated at fair value through  

   other comprehensive income 352,579,538 - 352,579,538 

Financial assets designated at amortized cost - 10,283,000 10,283,000 

Investment in commodities 15,597,187 - 15,597,187 

Prepaid expenses and other assets 58,009,682 - 58,009,682 

Property and equipment - 20,882,342 20,882,342 

Investment property  - 53,535,000 53,535,000 

                                                                   

    

Total assets excluding takaful and re-takaful 

contract assets 

 

982,636,672 

 

96,276,829 

 

1,078,913,501 

                                                                   

Liabilities excluding takaful and re-takaful 

contract liabilities 

   

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 163,120,068 - 163,120,068 

Provision for end of service benefits 13,722,727 - 13,722,727 

                                                                   

    

Total liabilities excluding takaful and re-takaful 

contract liabilities 

 

176,842,795 

 

- 

 

176,842,795 
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Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

 Current Non-current Total 

 AED AED AED 

    

31 December 2022 (restated)    

Assets excluding takaful and re-takaful contract 

assets 

   

Cash and bank balances including bank deposits 504,437,287 - 504,437,287 

Statutory deposits - 10,000,000 10,000,000 

Financial assets designated at fair value through  

  other comprehensive income 315,880,256 - 315,880,256 

Prepaid expenses and other assets 44,883,962 - 44,883,962 

Property and equipment - 22,300,419 22,300,419 

Investment property  - 17,850,000 17,850,000 

                                                                   

    

Total assets excluding takaful and re-takaful contract  

  assets 

 

865,201,505 

 

50,150,419 

 

915,351,924 

                                                                   

Liabilities excluding takaful and re-takaful contract  

  liabilities 

   

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 99,389,200 - 99,389,200 

Provision for end of service benefits 12,349,183 - 12,349,183 

                                                                   

    

Total liabilities excluding takaful and re-takaful  

  contract liabilities 

 

111,738,383 

 

- 

 

111,738,383 

                                                                   

    

 

A maturity analysis for portfolios of takaful contracts issued that are liabilities is presented below. 

 

The analysis is presented by estimated timing, of the estimates of the present value of the future cash flows, 

for each of the first five years after the reporting date and in aggregate beyond the first five years. 

 

As per IFRS-17 (132b), An entity is not required to include in these analyses liabilities for remaining 

coverage measured under the PAA approach, and accordingly, these balances have been excluded. 

 

The Company does not have any re takaful contract liabilities except for remaining coverage measured 

under PAA approach, which has been excluded from below analysis. 

 
31 December 2023 Up to 1 Year 1-2 year 2-3 year 3-4 year 4-5 year >5 year Total 

AED AED AED AED AED AED AED 

Takaful contract 

liabilities 

 

217,763,467 

 

76,223,097 

 

47,243,670 

 

15,747,093 

 

10,909,919 

 

60,569,776 

 

428,457,022 

 

 
31 December 2022 Up to 1 Year 1-2 year 2-3 year 3-4 year 4-5 year >5 year Total 

AED AED AED AED AED AED AED 

Takaful contract 

liabilities 

 

169,471,513 

 

53,379,152 

 

40,242,499 

 

16,714,103 

 

12,979,862 

 

69,294,127 

 

362,081,256 
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37 Fair value of financial instruments 
 

Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at 

amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values. 
 

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 

recognition at fair value into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable. 

 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 AED AED AED AED 

31 December 2023      

Financial assets measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income 172,765,032 - 179,814,506 352,579,538 
                                                                                   
     
31 December 2022     

Financial assets measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income 120,821,159 - 195,059,097 315,880,256 
                                                                                   

 
    

During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no 

transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value measurements. 

 

 

38 Solvency margin 

 

Section 2 of the Financial Regulations for Takaful Companies (the “Regulations”) issued by the Central 

Bank of UAE identifies the required solvency margin to be held in addition to takaful liabilities. The 

solvency margin must be maintained at all times throughout the year. The Company is subject to the 

Regulations which has been complied with during the period. The Company has incorporated in its policies 

and procedures the necessary tests to ensure continuous and full compliance with these Regulations. 

 

The table below summarises the Minimum Capital Requirement, Minimum Guarantee Fund and Solvency 

Capital Requirement of the Company and the total capital held to meet these solvency margins as defined 

in the Regulations.  
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38 Solvency margin (continued) 

 

 31 December 31 December 

 2023 2022 

 (unaudited)  

 AED AED 

   

Minimum Capital Requirement (MCR) 100,000,000 100,000,000 

Solvency Capital Requirement (SCR) 122,549,416 90,447,834 

Minimum Guarantee Fund (MGF) 70,851,396 38,482,942 

Basic Own Funds 379,011,589 365,489,777 

Ancillary Own Funds - - 

   

MCR Solvency Margin – Surplus 279,011,589 265,489,777 

                                             

   

SCR Solvency Margin – Surplus  256,462,173 275,041,943 

                                             

   

MGF Solvency Margin – Surplus 308,160,193 327,006,835 

                                             

   

 

 

39 Other information 

 

Description 

Family 

takaful 

(without 

medical and 

fund 

accumulation) 

 

 

 

 

Fund 

accumulation 

 

 

 

 

Medical 

takaful 

 

 

Property and 

liability 

(without 

medical) 

 

 

 

All type of 

business 

combined 

 AED AED AED AED AED 

2023       
      
Direct written contribution 61,561,022 1,580,738 243,029,441 208,712,404 514,883,605 

 
     

Assumed business 
     

Foreign - - 2,975,200 105,824,955  108,800,155 

Local - - 2,447,262 109,362,556 111,809,818 

                                                                                                
      

Total Assumed business - - 5,422,462 215,187,511 220,609,973 
      

Total Gross written contribution 61,561,022 1,580,738 248,451,903 423,899,915 735,493,578 
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39 Other information (continued) 

 

Description 

 

Family takaful 

(without 

medical and 

fund 

accumulation) 

 

 

 

 

Fund 

accumulation 

 

 

 

 

Medical 

takaful 

 

 

Property and 

liability 

(without 

medical) 

 

 

 

All type of 

business 

combined 
 AED AED AED AED AED 

2022       
      
Direct written contribution 46,308,490 - 137,018,141 158,978,568 342,305,199 

 
     

Assumed business 
     

Foreign - - - 44,637,872 44,637,872 

Local - - 3,678,751 56,475,137 60,153,888 

                                                                                                
      

Total Assumed business - - 3,678,751 101,113,009 104,791,760 
      

Total Gross written contribution 46,308,490 - 140,696,892 260,091,577 447,096,959 
                                                                                                        
      

 

 

40 Acquisition of individual family takaful portfolio 

 

On 27 October 2022, the Company reached an initial agreement to acquire the individual family takaful 

portfolio from Dubai Islamic Insurance & Reinsurance Company PJSC, subject to obtaining regulatory 

approval of the Central Bank of United Arab Emirates.  

 

On 29 May 2023, Central Bank of the United Arab Emirates has issued the initial approval for the above 

acquisition. In accordance with the requirements of the Central Bank of the United Arab Emirates, Dubai 

Islamic Insurance & Reinsurance Company PJSC will notify the policyholders by publishing in two widely 

circulated local newspapers issued in Arabic language and a local daily newspaper published in English 

language for two consecutive times. 

 

On 20 July 2023, Central Bank of United Arab Emirates has issued its final approval to transfer the 

Individual family Takaful Insurance portfolio from Dubai Islamic Insurance & Reinsurance Company PJSC 

to Abu Dhabi National Takaful Company PSC. It is expected that the transfer procedures will be completed 

during the first quarter of 2024. 

 

 

41 Approval of financial statements and responsibility statement 

 

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 has been authorised for 

issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 12 March 2024. 
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INTRODUCTION: 

 

Abu Dhabi National Takaful Company - PSC – Takaful, is a national company, it is a public 

shareholding company which was incorporated in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates (UAE) on 16 

November 2003 with a paid-up capital of AED.105,000,000.00 with the aim of providing Takaful 

insurance solutions for the regional market.  And the Company’s core business activities and investment 

are conducted in accordance with the Islamic Shari’a principles. 

 

1. A STATEMENT OF THE PROCEDURES TAKEN TO COMPLETE THE CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE SYSTEM DURING 2023, AND HOW THEY ARE APPLIED. 

 

Abu Dhabi National Takaful Company - PSC – Takaful, is presenting its annual report, in which it 

shows its commitment to corporate governance system and principles, We, in Abu Dhabi National 

Takaful, believe that corporate governance is an integral part of our progress and development, as it is 

based on justice, responsibility, transparency, which we consider the starting point of unlimited 

success . 

 

Abu Dhabi National Takaful is committed to the provisions of Islamic Shari'a in all its transactions and 

activities, which gives the governance more depth, since the Shari'a also called for these principles. 

 

As of 2009, the Company has started to implement the provisions of Ministerial Resolution No. (518) 

of 2009 Concerning Governance Rules and Corporate Discipline Standards, immediately after its 

publication, through developing an action plan as follows: 

1. Issuing especial procedures for corporate governance. 

2. Forming committees directly from the Board of Directors, taking into consideration the conditions 

that must be met by its members. 

3. Establishing an internal control department, and appointing a Head of Internal Control Department 

4. Who fully authorized to carry out his duties in order to achieve the objectives in this regard. 

5. Adopting code of Professional Conduct. 

6. Setting rules governing the transactions of the Board members and the employees as well, 

regarding the securities issued by the company. 

 
The Company aims to secure the shareholders while achieving the general objectives of the 

governance, through implementing these criteria and rules (i.e governance rules). 

 

The company submits its annual report on the implementation of the governance rules, this report is 

made available to the shareholders at the general assembly meeting to discuss its articles. In addition, 

the Securities and Commodities Authority is provided with a copy of the report for information and 

advice if necessary. 

 

Subsequently, SCA issued the Chairman’s Decision  No. 7 R.M of 2016 concerning the Standards of 

Institutional Discipline and Governance of Public Shareholding Companies , the Company reviewed 

this decision and amended its procedure to ensure full compliance. 

 

Subsequently, the company observed, reviewed and amended its procedures to meet with SCA’s 

Chairman Board Decision No. 03 R.M of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies 

Governance Guide. 

 

On 16 of November 2023, the company amended its Articles of Association by a special decision of 

the General Assembly, to comply with the corporate governance reregulation for insurance companies 
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issued by the Central Bank under Notice No. 24 of 2022.  The amendment includes amending the 

number of members of the Board of Directors from seven to nine members. 

 

 

2. A STATEMENT OF THE TRANSACTIONS OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS, AND SPOUSES AND CHILDREN THEREOF IN THE COMPANY’ 

SECURITIES DURING 2023 USING THE TABLE BELOW: 

 

1.2 The Company Policy; 

The company has followed and implemented a mechanism that governs the rules of dealing with the 

Board members and their direct relatives or any of the insiders of the base data in the securities of the 

company, and aims to obtain: 

• The equality of all investors in accessing the company's data. 

• Identifying and reporting of any suspicion of insiders from achieving any personal gain from this 

accessing. 

• Increasing the transparency on the disclosure. 

• Increasing the investors' confidence in the shares of the Company. 

 

 

2.2 Rules adopted by the Company; 

Subject to the provisions of Article (14) of The Authority’s Board of Director’s Decision No. (2) of 

2001 Concerning the Regulations as to Trading, Clearing, Settlement, Transfer of Ownership and 

Custody of Securities. As well as all decisions issued in this regard, the Company has adopted a series 

of rules and controls governing the dealings of all insiders of the Company's data in its own securities, 

which consist in; 

• Members of the Board and employees are entitled to invest in the Company's shares under the 

stipulated conditions. They shall notify the Securities and Commodities Authority, and Abu Dhabi 

Securities Exchange, as well as the Chief Executive Officer about this investment. 

• It is not allowed to the Chairman, the Board members, the CEO or any person (insider) who has 

access to the core data of the listed company to act on his own/others by dealing in the securities 

of the Company itself, or in the securities of the parent company or affiliate or sister of that 

company, during the following periods; 

1. (10) business days before the announcement of any material information that may affect the 

price of the stock up or down, unless this information is a result of sudden events. 

2. (15) days before the end of the quarterly, semi-annual or annual financial period, until 

disclosure of the financial statements.  

• The provisions of the law shall be taken into account when any of the above-mentioned persons act 

by themselves/others by dealing in the securities of the company itself or in the securities of the 

parent company, subsidiary or affiliate of that company, any contrary dealing shall be void. 

• In the course of carrying out their duties, the Board of Directors and the employees shall be fully 

aware of and understand all applicable laws, rules and regulations in order to be able to comply 

with them in all circumstances. Any benefits that may be granted to the employees or opportunities 

for cash and non-cash benefits, as well as any paid compensation shall be in accordance with the 

conflict of interest policy. Therefore, the employees must carry out their duties by applying the 

principles of integrity, honesty and adherence to professional standards. 

• Board members should immediately inform the Chairman when any personal material interests 

arise against the Company's affairs. In this context, any personal financial interest resulting in any 

financial transaction with any entity related to the Company that reach to or exceed AED 5 Million 

shall be notified to the Chairman immediately.  



 

 

 

 

5 

 

 

• Board members should refrain from participating in discussions during Board meetings if any 

personal interest of their own is discussed. 

• If a shareholder (represented by a member of the Board of Directors) has a conflict of interest in 

any matter that may affect the value and volume of the investment in the Company's shares, the 

Board shall meet and issue its decision on this matter excluding the Board member - or the 

representatives of this shareholder - of voting. And in exceptional cases, such matters can be 

resolved through a special committee formed for this purpose. 

• Each Board member should - once taking office - disclose to the Company the nature of the 

positions he holds in public shareholding companies and others, important commitments as well, 

specifying the time allocated to them, any changes that may arise once occur. 

• Each Board member shall – annually - disclose to the Company the nature of their transactions in 

the securities issued by the Company, the parent company or its subsidiaries or sister companies. 

• the Board of Directors is responsible to oversight the compliance with disclosure policy and take 

any corrective action, if necessary 

• The Board has formed a committee to manage, follow up, and supervising the transactions of 

insiders and their property, maintain their register and submit periodic reports and statements to 

ADX in accordance with the articles 12 and 13 of the Chairman Decision (Securities and 

Commodities Authority) No. 7 R.M of 2016 concerning the Standards of Institutional Discipline 

and Governance of Public Shareholding Companies and Corporate Governance standards issued 

by CBUAE number 24/2022 

• Accordingly, no member of the Board - or their spouses/sons – have made or declares any 

transactions on the Company's securities during the year 2023 according to the following schedule; 

 

 

S/N Name Position/Relationshi

p 

Shares Held 

as at 

31/12/2023 

Total Sale 

Transactions 

Total 

Purchase 

Transactions 

1 Mr. Khamis Mohamed 

Khamis Buharoon Alshamsi 

Chairman - - - 

2 Mr. Khalid Abdalla Deemas 

Alsuwaidi 

Deputy Chairman - - - 

3 Mr. Khalifa Abdulla Khamis 

Al Romaithi 

Board Member - - - 

4 Mr. Khalid Ali Ibrahim Jasem 

Almansoori 

Board Member - - - 

5 Mr. Naser Mohamed Naser Al 

Mur Al Zaabi 

Board Member - - - 

6 Mr. Abdullatif Abdullah 

Ahmed Al Mulla 

Board Member 

(from 16/11/2023) 

- - - 

7 Mrs. Metha Mohamed 

Alsharif Yousif Alhashmi 

Board Member  - - - 

8 Mr. Samih Mohd Qadri 

Awadh Alla 

Board member 

Until 14/11/2023 

   

9 Abdulla Zaid Mohamed 

Alshehhi 

Board Member 

( from 26/12/2023) 

   

10 Mr. Aysha Ahmad Sultan Al 

Hallami 

Board Member 

( from 16/11/2023) 

   

The balance of owned shares shall be shown, regardless there are transactions during the year or not. 
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3. BOARD OF DIRECTORS COMPOSITION: 

 

The Board of Directors is considered the representative of the Company's shareholders. it is the body that 

primarily responsible for the company's business. It is committed to providing general instructions, approving 

the business strategies, plans, and budgets, following up the operational policy, business process, as well as the 

internal control system of all types. 

The duties of the board members which needs considerable experience with high qualification, in which, the 

Company interested in carefully. 

The current Board of Directors consists of nine members elected on 11/04/2023 and 16/11/2023* for period of 

three years ending in 2026. All members have the expertise and qualifications that qualify them to manage the 

Company, and they have the ability to read and understand the financial statements thoroughly, considering their 

long experience in the insurance and the business management scope. 

 

*Mr. Sameh Awadallah resignation was approved by the board on 14/11/2023 and Mr. Abdulla Zaid Mohamed 

Alshehhi was appointed as a replacement. The approval of the CBUAE was received by 25 December 2023  

With regards to Mr. Abdullatif Almulla, he was a board member since  

 

a. A Statement of the current Board of Directors (BOD) composition (adding the names of the 

independent and appointed BOD members) using the table below: 

S

/

N 

Name Categor

y 

(Executi

ve, Non-

executiv

e, and 

Indepen

dent 

Experience Qualificatio

ns 

Period served 

as a BOD 

member of 

the Company 

since his first 

election date 

Their 

members

hips and 

positions 

in any 

other 

joint-

stock 

companie

s 

Their positions in 

any other 

important 

supervisory, 

governmental or 

business entities. 

1 Mr. Khamis 

Mohamed 

Khamis 

Buharoon 

Alshamsi 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chairma

n, Non-

executive 

He has 

experience in 

the area of 

accounting and 

audit as well as 

he worked as a 

head of the 

inspection 

team of banks 

in the Central 

Bank. 

He has also 

significant 

experience in 

the 

management of 

several 

business 

corporations 

and financial 

Bachelor 

degree in 

Business 

Managemen

t and 

Accounting . 

22/03/2008 

 

Board 

Member 

of Agthia 

Company. 

Board 

Chairman 

of Aram. 

Executive member 

in Royal Capital 
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institutions. 

2 Mr. Khalid 

Abdalla Deemas 

Alsuwaidi 

Deputy -

Chairma

n 

Non-

executive

/ 

Independ

ent 

 

He has 

considerable 

expertise in 

managing 

business 

corporations. 

MBA 22/03/2008 Board 

member of 

Abu 

Dhabi 

Commerci

al Bank. 

Board 

member of 

Skynews 

Arabia 

The CEO of Das 

Holding. 

 

 

3 Mr. Khalifa 

Abdulla Khamis 

Al Romaithi 

 

 

 

 

 

Board 

Member 

Non-

executive 

Independ

ent 

He has 

considerable 

expertise in 

investment as 

well as in the 

business 

management a 

Bachelor in 

Business 

Managemen

t 

22/03/2008 Chairman 

of 

Emirates 

Driving 

Company 

Board 

member of 

Aldar 

Properties 

Executive Director 

UAE Real Estate- 

Mubadala 

4 Mr. Khalid Ali 

Ibrahim Jasem 

Almansoori 

Board 

Member 

Non-

executive 

He has 

experience in 

studying and 

developing the 

economic 

activities of 

companies and 

developing 

their resources 

He has also 

good 

experience in 

managing a 

number of 

private projects 

and developing 

the resources 

 

Master 

degree in 

Innovation 

and 

Entrepreneu

rship 

20/03/2010 ------- 

 

 

 

Owner of Circle 

Consultants 

 

Executive 

Chairman- MPM 

properties. 

5 Mr. Naser 

Mohamed Naser 

Al Mur Al Zaabi 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board 

Member 

Non-

executive 

Independ

ent 

Experience in 

banking and 

operations 

management 

Bachelor in 

Business 

Managemen

t and 

Marketing 

9/11/2014 Board 

member of 

Manazil 

Real 

Estate 

Chief Operating 

Officer of Das 

Holding 

Advisor 

Presidential  of 

Court 
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6 Mr. Abdullatif 

Abdullah Al 

Mulla 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board 

member-

non 

executive 

Independ

ent 

Experience in 

real estate and 

information 

technology 

Masters in 

Economical 

& Social 

developmen

t and 

Managemen

t, Masters in 

corporate 

communicat

ion 

15/03/2020 to 

9/05/2023 

*external 

member from 

09/05/2023 to 

16/11/2023 

None Chairman of 

IMDAD 

7 Mrs. Metha 

Mohamedalshari

f Yousif 

Alhashmi 

Board 

member-

non 

executive 

Experience in 

banking & 

insurance 

BA in 

Managemen

t , B.SC in 

Computer 

Science 

 

21 /11/2022 None Group Chief 

Credit Officer-

ADIB 

8 Mr. Samih Mohd 

Qadri Awadh 

Alla 

Board 

member-

non 

executive 

Experience in 

banking 

 From 

13/04/2023 

To 14/11/2023 

 MPM Real Estate 

- Member of the 

Board of Directors 

Abu Dhabi Islamic 

Bank - Acting 

Global Head of 

Retail Banking 

9 Abdulla Zaid 

Mohamed 

Alshehhi 

Board 

member-

non 

executive 

Experience in 

banking 

B.SC in 

Science  

 

Master in 

Business 

Administrati

on 

26/12/2023   

Abu Dhabi Islamic 

Bank - Global Head 

of International 

Business 

 

 

 

1

0 

Mr. Aysha 

Ahmad Sultan Al 

Hallami 

Board 

member-

non 

executive 

Experience in 

investments 

BA of 

banking 

Master in 

banking & 

finance 

16/11/2023 Abu 

Dhabi 

Commerci

al Bank - 

Member 

of the 

Board of 

Directors 

Abu Dhabi 

Investment 

Authority - Vice 

President 
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b. A statement of women’s representation in the Board of Directors in 2023 (in case there is no 

representation, kindly state ‘no representation). 

 

Women representation in the board is 2/9.  

Mrs. Meitha Al Hashemi who joined board member in 2022. She is currently the Group Chief Credit 

Officer at ADIB. Mrs. Meitha holds Dual Bachelors degree from Webster University, Swizerland. Along 

with her long list of professional certificates, she is accredited with ‘Risk Management in Banking 

Program’ from INSEAD, France and Chief Risk Officer program from GARP – UK. 

Mrs. Aysha Al Hallami who newly joined as a board member in 16/11/2023.She is currently the Deputy 

Director in Core Portfolio department at Abu Dhabi Investment Authority (ADIA). Mrs. Aysha is CFA 

certified, she has a bachelor degree in finance and obtained her masters degree in finance from Cass 

Business School in London. Mrs. Al Hallami also has Private Equity and Venture Capital certificate from 

Harvard Business School. 

 

c. A statement of reasons why no women were nominated for the membership of the Board of 

Directors (for example: no women were nominated for the membership of the Board of 

Directors) 

 

NA 

 

 

 

d. A statement of the following: (the remuneration of the Board) 

The policy of determining the Board remuneration: 

The Company's policy for determining the remuneration of the Board members states that the proposed 

remunerations to be submitted by the Board to the General Assembly for discussion and approval. 

 

The Company should abide by the policy that determines the remuneration of the Board as follow: 

1. Article (169) of Federal Law No. 2 of the Year 2015 on Commercial Companies in the United Arab 

Emirates. 

2. Article (21) of the Chairman of Authority’s Board of Directions No. 7 R.M of 2016 concerning the 

Standards of Institutional Discipline and Governance of Public Shareholding Companies. 

3. Article (32 & 58) of the Company’s Articles of Association. 

4. Decision 24/2022 of CBUAE regarding governance of insurance companies. 

Generally stipulated that the Chairman and the members of the Board of Directors shall be entitled to a 

percentage of the net profit provided that it doesn’t exceed 10% of the profits for the financial year. The 

Company may also pay any additional expenses, fees, bonuses or monthly salary to the extent decided by 

the Board of Directors for any Board Member if - such member - works in any committee or makes special 

efforts or performs additional duties to serve the company, beyond his normal duties as a Board member. 

An attendance allowance may not be paid to the Chairman or the Board member for the Board meetings. 
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1. Total remunerations paid to the members of the Board of Directors for the year 2022. 

At the General Assembly of the company held on 11/04/2023, the shareholders approved the remuneration 

of the Board members which amounted to AED 1,637,930  as a bonus for the financial year ended 

31/12/2022, in accordance with the provisions of the said articles and laws above. 

 

2. Total remunerations proposed to be paid to the members of the Board of Directors for the 

year 2023, which shall be presented in the annual General Assembly for approval. 

At the General Assembly of the company which will be held on 16/04/2024, it is proposed to the General 

Assembly to approve the remuneration of the members of the Board to be AED 6,448,826 for the year 

ended 31/12/2023, in accordance with the provisions and laws above-mentioned. 

 

3. A statement of the details of allowances for attending the sessions of committees derived 

from the BO, which were paid to the BOD members for the fiscal year 2023 using the table 

below: 

Each member of the Board of Directors received an amount of 7500 AED for the attendance allowance for each 

committee meeting during the year 2023, according to the following detail: 

S/N Name 

Allowances for attending the BOD Committees 

Name of Committee Allowance Amount Number of 

Meetings 

1 Mr. Khamis Mohamed 

Khamis Buharoon 

Alshamsi 

 

 

 

 

Strategy & Investment 

Committee 

7500AED 1 

2 Mr. Khalid Abdalla 

Deemas Alsuwaidi 

 

 

 

 

 

Strategy & Investment 

Committee 

7500AED 1 

 

Remuneration & Nomination 

Committee 

22500AED 

 

 

3 

4 Mr. Khalifa Abdulla 

Khamis Al Romaithi 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Audit & Risk Committee 30000 AED 4 

Strategy & Investment 

Committee 

7500 AED 1 

Insiders’ Trading  

00 

 

2 
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5 

Mr. Khalid Ali Ibrahim 

Jasem Almansoori 

Remuneration &Nomination 

Committee 

22500AED 3 

Strategy & Investment 

Committee 

7500 AED 1 

 

Audit & Risk Committee 30000AED 4 

Insider’s Trading 00 1 

6 

Mr. Naser Mohamed Naser 

Al Mur Al Zaabi 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Strategy & Investment 

Committee 

7500 AED 1 

 

Audit & Risk 

 

22500 AED 3 

Remuneration & Nomination 

Committee 

22500AED 3 

7 

Mrs. Metha 

Mohamedalsharif Yousif 

Alhashmi 

Strategy & Investment 7500 AED 1 

Remuneration & Nomination 

Committee 

7500 AED 1 

8 

Mr. Abdullatif Abdullah 

Ahmed Al Mulla 

 

Audit  & Risk Committee 30000 AED 4 

Strategy & Investment 7500 AED 1 

Insider’s Trading 00 2 

9 

Mr. Samih Mohd Qadri 

Awadh Alla 

Audit & Risk 22500 AED 3 

 

 

4. Details of the additional allowances, salaries or fees received by a Board member other than 

the allowances for attending the committees and their reasons. 

N/A 

 

5. The number and dates of BOD meetings held during the FY 2023 as well as the attendance 

frequency by all the members; in person and online or by proxy (the names of the BOD 

members should match the information set out in item (3a) above). –  

# Date of the meeting Number of Attendees 
Number of attendance 

by proxy 
Names of absent members 

1 
 

09-02-2023 
7 0 0 

2 
 

23-02-2023 
7 0 0 

3 
 

15-06-2023 
8 0 0 

4 
 

10-08-2023 
8 0  

5 
 

09-10-2023 
8* 0 0 

6 08-11-2023 7* 0 0 

*Mr. Abdullatif Al Mulla joined as an external member. 
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6. Number of the Board resolutions passed during the 2023 fiscal year, along with its meeting 

convention dates. 

Has not made any decisions need to be disclosed. 

- On 14/02/2023, the board of Directors approved by circulation corporate governance action plan 

for three years. 

- On 13/03/2023, the Board of Directors approved by circulation the AGM revised Date. 

- On 23/03/2023, the Board of Directors approved by circulation the actuarial report of 

underwriting and pricing for 2022. 

- On 14/08/2023, the Board of Directors approved by circulation the HR policy. 

- On 20/09/2023, the Board of Directors approved by circulation the actuarial report of 

underwriting and pricing for the period ending on 30 June 2023. 

- On 28/09/2023, the Board of Directors approved by circulation the amended AOA of the 

company. 

 

7. A statement of the BOD’s tasks and functions which were performed by the Executive 

Management pursuant to an authorization by the BOD to the Management, stating the period 

and validity of the delegation. 

 

Subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company, and in accordance with the 

interests of the business, the Chairman of the Board has given to the Executive Management 

represented by the CEO, a fixed-term mandate, ending on 14/03/2024, granting him the powers upon 

the business needs, and the nature of the company’s activity as well, explaining the cases that require 

prior approval or instructions from the Board. These tasks can be summarized as follows: 

• Managing the company’s business and providing instructions to the executive in line with the 

company’s strategic goals and policies prescribed by the Board and the provisions of the 

law/legislations related to the company’s activities. 

• Providing the Board with accurate/periodic reports on the financial position and actions taken in 

the risk management, in order to enable the Board to review the objectives, plans, and policies, and 

to question the executive management about their performance 

. 

• Providing the regulatory bodies (Ministry of Economy – Securities and Commodities Authority – 

Abu Dhabi Securities –CBUAE… etc) with any information, data, and documents which required 

in accordance with the provisions of the law, regulations issued under any of them. 

 

• Make recommendations regarding any necessary proposals concerning the company’s operations. 

• Managing the company’s investments and funds in accordance with the directions of the Board, 

signing the respective contracts on behalf of the company and representing it in its relations with 

others. 

• Managing the workflow of the contracts and agreements and the negotiation about them. 
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• Appointing/dismissing the employees, in accordance with the policy determined by the 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee emanating from the Board, in a manner that does not 

conflict with the laws. 

• Representing the company before all stages of courts, with the right to delegate lawyers and 

experts and isolate them. 

• Delegating representatives for the company to do some partial tasks which will facilitate the work 

operations. 

• All the powers granted above shall not contradict the laws, and regulations. 

 

Note that there is no transactions equal to or exceeding 5% of the company’s capital during the 

year 2023 

 

8. A statement of the details of transactions made with the related parties (stakeholders), 

indicating details of significant transactions with the related party (affiliate company and 

major shareholder) were within the company’s normal business scope as follows:  

The company did not made any transactions equal to or more than 5% of the company's capital during 

2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ser. Statement of related 

parties 

Clarifying the nature 

of relationship 

Type of 

transaction 

Value of 

transaction 

1 affiliate company and 

major shareholder 

affiliate company and 

major shareholder 

Gross 

contributions 

written (insurance 

premium) 

AED   

124,700,060 

2 major shareholder major shareholder Takaful 

expenses 

AED 6,112,022 

3 major shareholder major shareholder Profit from the 

term deposits 

AED 1,433,395 

4 major shareholder major shareholder Statutory deposit  AED 10,000,000 

5 major shareholder major shareholder Investment in 

sukuk 

AED 4,795,845 
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9. The organizational structure of the Company, including at least the first and second levels, and 

including the General Director and/or Executive Manager, Deputy General Director, and the 

managers of the Company such as the Financial Manager. 
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10.  A detailed statement of the senior executive staff in the first and second levels according to the 

Company’s organizational structure (as set out in item (3h) above), their positions and 

appointment dates, and total salaries and benefits paid thereto, using the table below: 

An elite of qualified, long experience were chosen in each field. The following are statement of senior 

executives of the Company: 

S/N Position 
Date of 

Appointment 

Total salaries & 

allowances paid in 

2023 

Total Bonuses 

paid in 2023 

1 Chief Executive Officer 14-03-2010 2,506,382 Not defined 

2 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

– Technical Affairs 
30-01-2007 926,874 Not defined 

3 
Assistant General Manager – 

Life and Bancassurance 
10-07-2005 749,163 Not defined 

4 CFO 24/07/2016 632,066 Not defined 

5 Head of Internal Control 01-06-2004 482,602 Not defined 

6 Sharia Coordinator 29-11-2020 404,250 Not defined 

7 Brokers’ Relationship Manager 06-05-2018 180,000 Not defined 

8 Manager of Legal & Compliance 14-08-2007 472,845 Not defined 

9 
Snr. Manager of Dubai & 

Northern Emirates Branch 
15-02-2016 704,500 Not defined 

10 Head of HR 19/01/2022 588,500 Not defined 

11 Snr. Manager Motor 20-02-2018 453,750 Not defined 

12 Head of Re-takaful 01-03-2009 511,684 Not defined 

13 Snr. Manager Marketing 19-12-2010 360,606 Not defined 

14 Snr. Manager IT 28-04-2019 475,500 Not defined 

15 
Regional Manager of Customer 

Relationship & Emiratization 
11-04-2004 670,005 Not defined 

 

The report will be updated after approval of any executive management bonuses or any other bonuses. 
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4. EXTERNAL AUDITOR: 

 

a. A brief about the external auditor of the Company’s to the shareholders. 

Deloitte is one of the largest International companies that provide professional services to their clients; it is 

considered as one of the big four audit firms. Deloitte is a global organization made up of a group of member 

companies. Its global headquarters is in London, UK, and it has several offices serving the Middles East, 

including its branch in Abu Dhabi. It does auditing activities as a primary activity in addition to other consulting 

activities. 

 

b. A statement of the fees or costs of auditing or the services provided by the external auditor, using 

the table below: 

Name of the audit office and partner auditor 
Deloitte 

Nurani Subramanian Sundar 

Number of years he served as the company external auditor 1 

Number of years the company served as external auditor 5 

Total audit fees for 2023 in (AED) AED 290,000.00 

Fees and costs of other private services other than auditing the financial 

statements for 2023 (AED), if any, and in case of absence of any other fees, 

this shall be expressly stated. 

AED 440,000.00 

Details and nature of the other services (if any). If there are no other services, 

this matter shall be stated expressly. 

Approving financial 

statistics provided to the 

supervisory authorities 

according to the request of 

these authorities. 

Statement of other services that an external auditor other than the company 

accounts auditor provided during 2023 (if any). In the absence of another 

external auditor, this matter is explicitly stated. 

None 

 

 

c. A statement of the qualified opinions made by the company’s external auditor in the interim and 

annual financial statements for 2023.  In the absence of any qualified opinions, this shall be stated 

clearly. 

NONE 
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5. AUDIT COMMITTEE AND RISK COMMITEE: 

 

Due to the company's commitment to implementing the standards of corporate governance and discipline, the 

company's Board has formed the following committees: 

• Audit Committee 

• Risk Committee 

• Remuneration & Nomination Committee 

• Insiders’ Trading Follow-Up and Supervision Committee 

• Strategy & Investment Committee 

Following board of directors’ election held in company AGM dated 11/04/2023, and based on the discussions  

held 09/05/2023, the board of directors decided its committee’s structure and authorities as per the listed 

authorization described in company charters, Article of Association and SCA’s Chairman Board Decision No. 

03 R.M of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies Governance Guide and Corporate Governance 

standards No.24-2022 issued by CBUAE 

a. The Audit Committee Chairman's acknowledgment of his responsibility for the Committee 

system at the Company, review of its work mechanism and ensuring its effectiveness. 

“(Khalifa Abdulla Khamis Al Romaithi ), Audit Committee Chairman, acknowledges his responsibility 

for the committee system in the Company, review of its work mechanism and ensuring its 

effectiveness." 

 

b. The names of members of the audit committee and risk committee, and a statement of its functions 

and the duties assigned thereto. 

s 
Name Position 

His Category in the 

Board 

 

1 

 

Mr. Khalifa Abdulla 

Khamis Al Romaithi 

Chairman of the 

Committee 

Board Member/Non-

executive/Independent 

 

2 

Mr. Abdullatif 

Abdullah Ahmed Al 

Mulla 

Member 
Board Member/Non-

executive/Independent 

Mr. Almulla 

joined as an 

external 

expert from 

09/05/2023 to 

16/11/2023 

3 
Mr. Khalid Al 

Mansoori 
Member 

Board member/ Non-

executive 

 

 

4 

 

 

 

Mr. Nasr Almur Al 

Zaabi 
Member 

Board Member/Non-

executive/Independent 

 

 

5 

 

 

Mr. Samih 

Awadhalla 
Member 

Board member/ Non-

executive 

From 

13/04/2023 

To 

14/11/2023 
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The duties of Audit Committee and Risk committee: 

The committee shall convene at least once every three months or whenever the need arises, with a minutes 

written by the Committee secretary and reviewed by the committees members. Following board of directors’ 

election held in company AGM dated 11/04/2023 and AGM dated 16/11/2023, and based on the discussions 

held 09/05/2023, the board of directors decided its committee’s structure and authorities as per the listed 

authorization described in company charters, Article of Association and SCA’s Board Decision number (03 

RM) year 2020 concerning the Standards of Institutional Discipline and Governance of Public Shareholding 

Companies, and Corporate Governance standards No.24-2022 issued by CBUAE including the follows: 

 

a. It shall set up and apply a policy to govern the work of the external 

auditors in addition to report to the board of directors any critical issue that 

requires action to be taken along with providing proper suggestions for 

implementations. 

b. It shall follow up and oversee the independence and objectivity of the 

external auditor and hold discussions with the external auditor on the nature, 

scope and efficiency of the audit according to approved audit standards. 

c. It shall oversee the integrity of and review the Company's financial 

statements and reports (annual, semiannual and quarterly reports) in the 

course of its operations during the year and shall, in particular, focus on: 

(1 ) Any changes to accounting policies and practices; 

(2 ) Highlighting matters that are subject to Management's judgment ; 

(3) Material amendments emerging out of the audit; 

(4 ) The assumption of the Company’s continuity as a going concern ; 

(5 ) Adherence to the accounting standard set by the Authority; and 

(6) Adherence to listing and disclosure rules as well as other legal 

requirements in relation to financial reporting. 

d. It shall coordinate with the Board of Directors, the Management and the 

financial manager or the manager assuming the same duties in the Company 

in order to duly fulfill its duties. The audit committee shall hold a meeting 

with the Company's external auditor at least once per year . 

e. It shall consider any irregular issues that are or have to be reflected in the 

board and financial reports and pay necessary attention to any issues raised 

by the financial manager of the Company, the manager assuming the same 

duties, the Compliance Officer or the external auditor . 

f. It shall review the Company's financial control, internal control and risk 

management framework . 

g. It shall discuss the internal control framework with Management and 

make sure that it fulfills its duty to develop an effective internal control 

system. 
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h. Consider findings of main investigations into internal control issues 

assigned to it by the Board of Directors or as an initiative of the audit 

committee upon the approval of the Board of Directors. 

i. It shall ensure coordination between internal and external auditors, ensure 

availability of necessary resources for the internal audit function, and review 

and control the efficiency of this function . 

j. It shall review the Company's financial and accounting policies and 

procedures . 

k. It shall review the external auditor’s report and action plan and any 

material inquiries raised by the auditor to the Management in respect of 

accounting reports, financial accounts or control systems, respond thereto 

and approve the same . 

l. It shall make sure that the Board of Directors responds on a timely basis to 

inquiries and material issues raised in the external auditor's reports. 

m. It shall develop rules that enable the employees of the Company to 

confidentially report any potential violations in financial reports, 

internal controls or other issues and take adequate steps to conduct 

independent and fair investigations into these violations . 

n. It shall oversee the Company's compliance with its code of conduct . 

o. It shall ensure implementing the duties and fulfilling the authorities 

assigned by the Board of Directors. 

q. It shall consider any other issues as the Board of Directors may 

determine . 

- The Audit & Risk Committee was separated into two committee ( Audit 

Committee) and (Risk Committee). 
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c. The number and dates of the meetings held by the audit committee during the year 

2023 to discuss issues related to the financial statements and any other issues, and a 

statement of the attendance frequency in person or online by the committee’s 

members. 

Meeting number and 

date 

First   meeting 

23/02/2023 

Second meeting 

15/06/2023 

Third meeting 

10/08/2023 

Forth meeting 

08/09/2023 

 

Mr. Khalifa Abdulla 

Khamis Al Romaithi 

 

 

 

✓ 

 

 

✓ 

 

 

 

✓ 

 

 

 

✓ 

Mr. Abdullatif Abdullah 

Ahmed Al Mulla 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 

Mr. Nasr Almur Al 

Zaabi 

 

 

 

 

- 

 

 
✓ 

 

 

 

 
✓ 

 

 
✓ 

Mr. Khalid Al Mansoori  
✓ 

 
✓ 

 
✓ 

 
✓ 

 

Mr. Samih Awadhalla 

 

 

 

- 

 

 
✓ 

 

 
✓ 

 

 
✓ 
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6. NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE: 

 

a. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee Chairman's acknowledgment of his 

responsibility for the Committee system at the Company, his review of its work 

mechanism and ensuring its effectiveness. 

“(Khalid Abdalla Deemas Alsuwaidi), Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Chairman, acknowledges his responsibility for the committee system in the Company, 

his review of its work mechanism and ensuring its effectiveness.” 

 

b. The names of members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and a 

statement of its functions and the duties assigned thereto. 

 Name The position in the 

committee 

His Board category 

1 Mr. Khalid Abdalla Deemas 

Alsuwaidi 

Chairman of the 

Committee 

Deputy –Chairman / Non-

executive / 

Independent 

2 Mr. Khalid Ali Ibrahim Jasem 

Almansoori 

Member Board Member / Non-

executive 

3 Mr. Naser Mohamed Naser Al 

Mur Al Zaabi 

Member Board Member / Non-

executive / Independent 

4 Mrs. Meitha Al Hashimi  Member  Board Member / Non-

executive 

 

Following board of directors’ election held in company AGM dated 11/04/2023, and based on the discussions 

held during board’s meeting number 03/2023 held 09/05/2023, the board of directors decided its committee’s 

structure and authorities as per the listed authorization described in company charters, Article of Association 

and SCA’s Chairman Board Decision No. 03 R.M of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies 

Governance Guide, including the follows: 

 •Ensure the independence of the members . 

 •Formulating and reviewing on annual basis, the policy for granting bonuses, benefits, incentives 

and salaries at the company . 

 •Identify the company's needs of competencies at the level of senior executive management and 

employees and the bases of their selection. 

• Prepare the human resources and training policy in the company and observing its application 

and review it periodically 
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c. A statement of the number and dates of the meetings held by the committee during 

the year 2023, stating the frequency of attendance in person or online by all the 

members of the committee. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*Mrs. Meitha’s membership in the board was effected after CBUAE approval dated 21 Nov 2022.  

She was assigned as a member of since 9th of May 2023. 

7. INSIDERS’ TRADING FOLLOW-UP AND SUPERVISION COMMITTEE: 

 

a. The Acknowledgment by the Committee Chairman or the authorized person of his 

responsibility for the Committee system at the Company, review of its work 

mechanism and ensuring its effectiveness. 

"( Khalifa Abdulla Khamis Al Romaithi) acknowledges his responsibility for the 

follow-up and supervision system on transactions of the insiders in the Company, 

review of its work mechanism and ensuring its effectiveness. 
 

b. The names of members of the Insiders’ Trading Follow-Up and Supervision 

Committee, and a statement of its functions and the duties assigned thereto. 

 Name The position in the 

committee 

His Board category 

1  

Mr. Khalifa Abdulla Khamis 

Al Romaithi 

Chairman of the 

Committee 

Board Member / Non-

executive / 

Independent 

2 

 

Mr. Abdullatif Abdullah 

Ahmed Al Mulla 

Member Board Member / Non-

executive / 

Independent 

3 Mr. Khalid Al Mansoori Member Board Member/ Non-

executive 

4 

 

Mr. Naser Mohamed Naser Al 

Mur Al Zaabi 

Member Board Member / Non-

executive / 

Independent 

5 

 

Mr. Samih Awadhalla Member Board Member/ Non-

executive 

Board member First Meeting 

22/02/2023 

Second Meeting 

15/03/2023 

Third Meeting 

19/09/2023 
Mr. Khalid Abdalla 

Deemas Alsuwaidi ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Mr. Khalid Ali 

Ibrahim Jasem 

Almansoori 

✓ ✓ ✓ 

Mr. Naser 

Mohamed Naser Al 

Mur Al Zaabi 

✓ ✓ ✓ 

Mrs. Meitha Al 

Hashimi * 

0 0 ✓ 
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Following board of directors’ election held in company AGM dated 11/04/2023, and based on the discussions 

held 09/05/2023, the board of directors decided its committee’s structure and authorities as per the listed 

authorization described in company charters, Article of Association and SCA’s Chairman Board Decision No. 

03 R.M of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies Governance Guide and Corporate Governance 

standards No.24-2022 issued by CBUAE. 

c. A summary of the Committee’s activities in 2023. (In case the Committee not 

formed, state the reasons). 

• The Committee met on 15/06/2023 and confirmed that the company was not notified 

of any sale or purchase of the company shares by insiders. 

• The Committee met on 08/11/2023 and confirmed that the company was not notified 

of any sale or purchase of the company shares by insiders. 

 

8. STRATEGY & INVESTMENT COMMITTEE. 

 

a. The Strategy & Investment Committee Chairman's acknowledgment of his responsibility 

for the Committee system at the Company, review of its work mechanism and ensuring 

its effectiveness. 

"(Khalid Deemas Alsuwaidi), The Strategy & Investment Committee Chairman, 

acknowledges his responsibility for the committee system in the Company, review of its work 

mechanism and ensuring its effectiveness. 

 

 

b. Name of committee or committees. 

The Board of Directors has set the Strategy & Investment Committee in accordance with the basis of 

investing the rights of the participants (Takaful policyholders) contained in the decision of the Board of 

Directors of Insurance Authority No. (26) /2014 regarding the Financial Instructions for Takaful 

Companies. 
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c. The names of the members of each committee, and a statement of its functions and 

the duties assigned thereto. 

 

S Name The position in 

the committee 

His Board category 

1 Mr. Khalid Abdalla 

Deemas Alsuwaidi 

 

Chairman of the 

Committee 

Deputy -Chairman 

Non-executive / 

Independent 

2 Mr. Khalifa Abdulla 

Khamis Al Romaithi 

Member Board Member 

Non-executive 

Independent 

3 Mr. Naser Mohamed 

Naser Al Mur Al 

Zaabi 

Member Board Member 

Non-executive 

Independent 

4 Mr. Abdullatif 

Abdullah Ahmed Al 

Mulla 

Member Board Member 

Non-executive 

Independent 

5 Mr. Khalid Ali Al 

Mansoori 

Member Board Member 

Non-executive 

6 Mrs. Meitha Al 

Hashimi  

Member Board Member 

Non-executive 
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d. A statement of the number and dates of the meetings held by the committee during the year 

2023, stating the frequency of attendance in person or online by all the members of the 

committee. 

 

 

Meeting number and 

date 

Board member 

 

First meeting 

14-12-2023 

Mr. Khalid Abdalla 

Deemas Alsuwaidi ✓ 

Mr. Khalifa Abdulla 

Khamis Al Romaithi ✓ 

Mr. Naser Mohamed 

Naser Al Mur Al Zaabi ✓ 

Mr. Khalid Al Mansoori 

✓ 

Mrs. Meitha Al Hashimi  

✓ 

Mr. Abdullatif Abdullah 

Ahmed  Al Mulla ✓ 

 

*Mr. Khamis Buharoon Al Shamsi joined this meeting as a guest upon request of committee chairman. 

 

 

 

9. INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM: 

Internal control is essential to the application of the governance system, as it aims to establish an 

assessment of the risk management framework, to examine the effectiveness of the control and 

properly applying of the governance, and to ensure that the company and its employees comply with 

the provisions of laws, and the internal policies, as well as reviewing the data that presented to the 

senior management of the Company. It is also a crucial and necessary basis to ensure the accuracy of 

the financial statements. Accordingly, and in accordance with the rules of the governance, the Board of 

Directors of the Company (in the meeting No. 1/2010) decided on 22/02/2010 to establish The Internal 

Control Department, and should be directly reporting to the Board (according to the rules of 

governance). The Internal Control Department periodically submits written reports to the Board of 

Directors on the procedures, findings and recommendations reached by it and with absolute 

transparency. The functions entrusted to it shall be carried out in accordance with the above-mentioned 

resolution. 

 

 

Internal Control functions are as follows: 

1. Evaluate the Enterprise Risk Management framework applied in the company . 

2. Ensure that the company adherence to the Corporate governance requirements. 

3. Ensure the commitment of the company and its employees to the provisions of the laws, regulations, 

and the internal policies and procedures. 
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4. Evaluate the work of the company’s internal committees and their efficiency to reduce the risks 

facing the company, and make appropriate recommendations to correct their weaknesses. 

5. Reviewing the financial statements presented to the Company's senior management, which are used 

in preparing the financial statements. 

6. Comparing and analyzing actual financial results with previous estimates and setting explanations, 

solutions, and recommendations thereon . 

7. Coordinating with the external auditors of the company and other regulatory authorities regarding the 

exchange of information and responding to their inquiries and observations in cooperation 

with the concerned departments in the Company, and follow up correction of violations and as 

well as following up the recommendations contained in their reports . 

8. prepare internal audit reports of the internal audit engagement conducted according to the approved 

audit plan as well as ad hoc assignments, and report them to the board on periodic basis. 

9. imposing additional controls on some departments through ensuring: 

i. Effectiveness and efficiency of the Company’s operations . 

ii. Controls over the financial transactions (payment, exchange, transfer, deduction, etc ). 

iii. the accuracy of the financial statement . 

iv. The reliability of the Data transmitted and processed throughout the company’s operation system 

v. Matching internal data with the data from external sources. 

vi. Matching the annual financial results with the financial records and general ledges . 

vii. Taking the appropriate action to safeguard the company’s assets and records. 

 

 

 

a. The BOD’s acknowledgement of its responsibility for the Internal Control System in 

the Company and its review of the functioning mechanism of internal control and 

ensuring its effectiveness. 

The Board of Directors acknowledges and reviews the company’s internal control system 

and verifies its effectiveness through the Internal Control Department, which provides 

regular and periodic reports to the Board, Audit & Risk Committees, and executive 

management. 

 

 

b. The name, qualifications, and date of appointment of the Director of Internal 

Control Department. 

As part of implementation of Corporate Governance measures by the Company in 2010, Mr. 

Zainudeen Faizan Mohamed was appointed as the Manager of this department. He has over 20 

years of Banking and Insurance Industry experience including Financial Control positions 

held with HSBC Bahrain and Takaful International Bahrain previously. He holds professional 

qualifications ACMA, CIRM & CFE relating to Management Accounting, Risk Management 

& Fraud Examination. 
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c. The name, qualifications, and date of appointment of the Compliance Officer. 

In 2017 Mr. Mustafa Hassoun, the Legal Department Manager – has been appointed as 

Compliance Officer, he has a Bachelor's degree in Sharia and Law since 2004. 

 

 

 

d. How the Internal Control Department handle any significant issues in the company, 

or issues disclosed in the annual reports and accounts (in case there are no 

significant issues, it should stated that the Company did not have any significant 

issues). 

The Internal Control Department provides the Board with periodic reports on its work, 

including the problems experienced by the company and the manner of dealing with, and the 

best solution as well, despite that the company did not face any major problems. 

 

 

e. Number of reports issued by the Internal Control Department to the Company's 

Board of Directors. 

 

The Internal Control Department issued five audit reports in 2023. 

 

 

 

10. DETAILS OF THE VIOLATIONS COMMITTED DURING 2023, EXPLAINING THEIR 

CAUSES, HOW TO ADDRESS THEM AND AVOID THEIR RECURRENCE IN THE 

FUTURE. 

According to the reports submitted by the Internal Control Department, the Company did not face 

any significant violations during the fiscal year 2023. The company considers that the absence of 

these errors is part of the success achieved through the good practices formulated by the Board and 

Executive Management. 

 

 

11. A STATEMENT OF THE CASH AND IN-KIND CONTRIBUTIONS MADE BY THE 

COMPANY DURING THE YEAR 2023 TOWARD THE LOCAL COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION. (IN CASE THERE ARE NO 

CONTRIBUTIONS, IT SHOULD BE STATED THAT THE COMPANY DID NOT MAKE 

ANY CONTRIBUTIONS). 

 

Clients: 

In par with global wellness initiatives, the company continues to offer wellness programs to our major 

medical insurance clients. 
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Employees: 

Emirati Women’s Day: 

The theme of 2023 Emirati Women's Day was aligned with the "Year of Sustainability" showcasing the 

UAE's dedication to discovering creative solutions for sustainability. Considering the same, we proudly 

hosted a Sustainability Workshop for all our female staff, expertly organized by EEDAMA wherein our 

employees enjoyed hands-on DIY activities free of plastic elements such as planting, perfumery, 

crafting candles, and many other self-care product.  

 

 

Local & Global Affairs: 

Uniting Hands Donation Campaign- Support Turkey/Syria:- 

We organized an employee led donation campaign in partnership with Emirates Red Crescent (ERC). 

Our staff was encouraged to contribute essential items for people affected by earthquake in 

Turkey/Syria. Donation boxes were placed throughout our office locations, our team united and 

contributed total of 9 carton boxes with essential items for the affected individuals. 

 

 

 

12. GENERAL INFORMATION: 

 

 

a. A statement of the Company share price in the Market (closing price, highest price, 

lowest price) in the end of each month during year 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2023 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

The 

price 
5.49 5.9 5.55 5.55 6.37 6.7 8.7 8.01 8.12 6.02 6.02 6.02 

lowest 

price 
5.49 5.9 4.59 5.55 5.22 6.49 6.7 8.01 8.03 6.02 6.02 6.02 

highest 

price 
6.12 5.49 5.55 5.55 6.37 6.7 8.7 9.44 8.12 7.26 6.02 6.02 
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b. A statement of the comparative performance of the company's shares with the 

market index and the sector index to which the company belongs during year 2023. 
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c. A statement of shareholding distribution as of 31/12/2023 (individuals, companies, 

governments) classified as follows: local, GCC, Arab, foreign using the table below: 

 

S/N 
Shareholder 

Category 

Percentage of Shares Held 

Individual Companies Government Total 

 Local 9% 91% 0 100% 

 GCC 0 0 0  

 Arab 0 0 0  

 Foreign 0 0 0  

 Total 9% 91% 0 100% 

 

d. A statement of the shareholders who hold 5% or more of the Company’s capital as 

of 31/12/2023 using the table below: 

 

S/N Name 
Number of 

Shares Held 

% of the Shares Held of the 

Company’s Capital 

1 Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank 41.7% 43,747,429 

2 Tasameem Real Estate Co. LLC (Tasameem) 27.0% 28,323,074 

3 East & West Group 11.7% 12,312,788 

3 Bond Investments Ltd 6.1% 6,415,574 
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e. A statement of shareholders distribution by the size of equity as of 31/12/2023 using the table 

below: 

 

S/N Share(s) Owned 
Number of 

Shareholders 

Number of 

Share Held 

% of the 

Shares Held 

of the Capital 

1 Less than 50,000 1,430 5,435,549 5% 

2 From 50,000 to less than 500,000 40 4,452,456 4% 

3 From 500,000 to less than 5,000,000 5 4,313,130 4% 

4 More than 5,000,000 4 90,798,865 86% 

 

 

 

f. A statement of the procedures taken with respect to the controls of investors’ relations, indicating the 

following: 

- The name and contact information of the Investors’ Relations Manager 

- The link of the Investor Relations webpage on the website of the Company. 

The Company has appointed an officer for all the functions related to Investor Relations with 

the tasks stipulated in the Chairman Decision (Securities and Commodities Authority) No. 7 

R.M of 2016 concerning the Standards of Institutional Discipline and Governance of Public 

Shareholding Companies. 

The appointed Investor Relations Officer (Mr. Evan Ramadan, Chief Financial Officer)  is 

fluent in English and Arabic, with very good qualification, and has practical experience in 

business and accounting along with capable knowledge in the legal requirements. she has also 

full knowledge of the company's activities and opportunities and the required skills to 

communicate with investors. 

A special Investor Relations page has also been created on the company's website, which 

includes: Investor Relations data and means of communication, and all reports related to the 

financial results. 

A committee with six senior employees of the Company (Executive Risk Management  

Committee) has been set up to deal with any crisis and contingencies facing the Company. 

The committee will develop a communication plan with investors and the media regarding the 

practical steps taken by the Company to face the contingency. And appoint an official 

spokesperson to take care of the corporate communication. 

The current Investor Relations Officer is Mr. Evan Ramadan, CFO: 

024107700- 024107722 – Mob; 00971502898765 Fax. 024107800 – 

Evan.Ramadan@takaful.ae 

The e-link of the Investor Relations page on the company's website is: 

https://takaful.ae/en/about-us/investors-relations/ 

 

 

mailto:Evan.Ramadan@takaful.ae
https://takaful.ae/en/about-us/investors-relations/
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g. A statement of the special resolutions presented to the General Assembly held in 

2023 and the procedures taken with respect thereto. 

On 16 of November 2023, the company amended its Articles of Association by a special 

decision of the General Assembly, to comply with the corporate governance reregulation for 

insurance companies issued by the Central Bank under Notice No. 24 of 2022. The 

amendment includes amending the number of members of the Board of Directors from seven 

to nine members. 

 

h. The Rapporteur of the Board meetings, and his/her appointment date and his/ her 

qualifications and experiences and a statement of his/ her duties during the year. 

 

On 12/05/2011 Mrs. Sara Alabsi, was appointed as Rapporteur of Board Meetings. Mrs. Sara 

holds a Master degree in Strategy and Business Administration from the University of 

Strathclyde. 

Her duties include coordination between members regarding the meetings of the Board of 

Directors and its committees. She also coordinates with members of top management to 

collect topics for discussion in meetings and distribute them to members. 

She also reports the minutes of board meetings along with the related decisions and follows up 

on implementation. 

 

i. A statement of the significant events that took place in the Company in 2023 

• In March 2023, Abu Dhabi National Takaful Company (ADNTC) has received an 

Insurer Financial Strength (IFS) Rating of 'A-', with the outlook 'Stable' from Fitch 

Ratings. 

• In November 2023, Abu Dhabi National Takaful Company (PSC) announced that it 

has regained the financial strength rating to A- (Excellent),and the long-term credit 

rating A- from the global rating agency A.M. Best, while the forward-looking for 

credit ratings is stable, maintaining one of the highest rating given to a Takaful 

operator in the worldwide, for the eighth consecutive year. 

 

j. Statement of Emiratisation percentage in the Company at the end of  2019, 

2020,2021, 2022 & 2023 (workers are excluded for companies working in the field of 

contracting). 

• At the end of 2019, the Emiratization rate represented 17 % of the total number of 

employees in the company. 

• At the end of 2020, the Emiratization rate represented 19 % of the total number of 

employees in the company. 

• At the end of 2021, the Emiratization rate represented 19 % of the total number of 

employees in the company. 

• At the end of 2022, the Emiratization rate represented 21.2 % of the total number of 

employees in the company 

• At the end of 2023, the Emiratization rate represented 21.2 % of the total number of 

employees. 
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Note that the company is subject to the Emiratization Strategy (points system) in accordance 

with the Cabinet Decision No. (267/10/3) of 2015, regarding the Emiratization Strategy in 

banking and insurance sectors, where the determination of target points was in accordance 

with the number of written premiums at 51, The company, in turn, supported the national 

economy and participated in achieving the government vision, achieving a great result with a 

score of 79.00 points. 

 

k. A statement of the innovative projects and initiatives implemented by the Company 

or which were under development during 2023. 

ADNTC implemented various strategies to further enhance its digital platforms and operations. 

Our major accomplishments during our journey in technology and automation during 2023 includes: 

 

▪ Individual Life: Individual Life System (FILOS) with Remote Sales Solution (RSS) empowering 

distributors and partners to sell 100% digitally. 

▪ Work flow system with audit trail and paperless environment. 

▪ Digitization of internal processes in areas of finance, UW & claims.  
▪ Real time management reporting  

▪ Print Management System  
▪ Online payments system  

 

▪ Individual Medial Plans: NANO Health System with automated quotation management system 

(QMS) for individual and SME Medical and member Mobile Application. 

 

▪ Automation of WhatsApp.  
 

▪ Enhanced B2C & B2B portals for multiple insurance products. 

 

 

▪ The following products are available online for customers: 

 

1) Individual Medical 

2) Takaful Protection Plan for School Fees 

3) Male Care Takaful Plan 

4) Female Care Takaful Plan 

5) Personal Accident Takaful Plan 

6) Motor Takaful Plan 

7) Jet Ski 

8) Home 
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Annual Report of the Internal Shari’ah Supervision Committee of (Abu Dhabi 

National Takaful Company P.S.C) 
 

 

 

Issued on: Monday, February 26, 2024, corresponding to Shaban 16,1445 

 

To: Shareholders of (Abu Dhabi National Takaful Company P.S.C) (“the Company”) 

 

After greetings,     

 

Pursuant to requirements stipulated in the relevant laws, regulations and standards (“the 

Regulatory Requirements”), the Internal Shari’ah Supervision Committee of the Company 

(“ISSC”) presents to you the ISSC’s Annual Report for the financial year ending on 31 December 

2023 (“Financial Year”). 

 

Responsibility of the ISSC 1. 

  

In accordance with the Regulatory Requirements and the ISSC’s charter, the ISSC’s 

responsibility is stipulated as to:  

a. undertake Shari’ah supervision of all businesses, activities, products, services, 

contracts, documents and business charters of the Company; and the Company’s 

policies, accounting standards, operations and activities in general, memorandum of 

association, charter, financial statements, allocation of expenditures and costs, and 

distribution of profits between participants’ accounts and shareholders’ accounts 

(“Company’s Activities”) and issue Shari’ah resolutions in this regard, and  

 

b. determine Shari’ah parameters necessary for the Company’s Activities, and the 

Company’s compliance with Islamic Shari’ah Provisions within the framework of 

the rules, principles, and standards set by the Higher Shari’ah Authority (“HSA”) to 

ascertain compliance of the Company with Islamic Shari’ah Provisions.  

 

The senior management is responsible for compliance of the Company with Islamic 

Shari’ah Provisions in accordance with the HSA’s resolutions, fatwas, and opinions, and 

the ISSC’s resolutions within the framework of the rules, principles, and standards set by 

the HSA (“Compliance with Islamic Shari’ah Provisions”) in all Company’s Activities, and 

the Board bears the ultimate responsibility in this regard.  

 

  

Shari’ah Standards 2. 

The ISSC shall comply with the Shari’ah standards issued and approved by the HSA.  
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Duties Fulfilled by the ISSC During the Financial Year      3. 

The ISSC conducted Shari’ah supervision and Shari’ah audit of the Company’s Activities 

by reviewing those Activities, and monitoring them through the internal Shari’ah control 

division, in accordance with the ISSC’s authorities and responsibilities, and pursuant to the 

Regulatory Requirements in this regard. The ISSC’s activities included the following: 

a. Convening (Five) meetings during the year.   

b. Issuing fatwas, resolutions and opinions on matters presented to the ISSC in relation 

to the Company’s Activities.  
c. Reviewing and monitoring compliance of policies, procedures, accounting standards, 

operating model and product structures, contracts, documentation, business charters, 

and other documentation submitted by the Company to the ISSC for approval. 

d. Reviewing the Takaful Insurance operating model, underlying contracts and 

supporting materials (e.g. underwriting and claims settlement manual/guidelines etc.). 

e. Reviewing and approving the Company’s products, services and marketing materials. 

f. Reviewing and approving the policy and procedures that govern Takaful Insurance 

Accounts (e.g. segregation of accounts and transparent financial resources flow 

between the accounts etc.), surplus distribution, and deficit coverage. 

g. Ensuring the compliance of the segregation between Takaful Insurance accounts and 

shareholders accounts, allocation of costs and expenditures on the accounts, and the 

underwriting surplus policy with Islamic Shari’ah Provisions. 

h. Reviewing the financial statements of the Company to ensure compliance with Islamic 

Shari’ah provisions. 

i. Reviewing the investment policy and approving the Shari’ah screening criteria to 

ensure the investment activities in both shareholders’ accounts and participants’ 

accounts, are comply with the Provisions of Islamic Shari’ah. 

j. Reviewing the risk ceding arrangements of the participants’ account with other 

insurance companies (Retakaful insurance, conventional reinsurance, co-insurance 

with Takaful insurance/conventional insurance companies) and confirming its 

compliance with Islamic Shari’ah Provisions. 

k. Supervision and audit through the internal Shari’ah control division , of the 

Company’s Activities including supervision of executed transactions and adopted 

procedures on the basis of samples selected from executed transactions, and reviewing 

reports submitted in this regard. 

l. Providing guidance to relevant parties in the Company – to rectify (where possible) 

incidents cited in the reports prepared by internal Shari’ah control division and issuing 

of resolutions to set aside revenue derived from transactions in which non-

compliances were identified for such revenue to be disposed towards charitable 

purposes. 

m. Approving corrective and preventive measures related to identified incidents to 

preclude their reoccurrence in the future.  

n. Reviewing the Zakat calculation and specifying the amount of Zakat due on each share 

of the Company. The amount of Zakat per every Company share is around  

AED(0.0825) for the year ended 31/12/2023  
o. Communicating with the Board and its subcommittees, and the senior management of 

the Company (as needed) concerning the Company’s compliance with Islamic 

Shari’ah Provisions.   
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The ISSC sought to obtain all information and interpretations deemed necessary in order to 

reach a reasonable degree of certainty that the Company is compliant with Islamic Shari’ah 

Provisions.  

  

Independence of the ISSC 4. 

The ISSC acknowledges that it has carried out all of its duties independently and with the 

support and cooperation of the senior management and the Board of the Company. The 

ISSC received the required assistance to access all documents and data, and to discuss all 

amendments and Shari’ah requirements.  

 

   

The ISSC’s Opinion on the Shari’ah Compliance Status of the Company  5. 

Premised on information and explanations that were provided to us with the aim of 

ascertaining compliance with Islamic Shari’ah Provisions, the ISSC has concluded with a 

reasonable level of confidence, that the Company’s Activities are in compliance with 

Islamic Shari’ah Provisions, except for the incidents of non-compliance observed, as 

highlighted in the relevant reports. The ISSC also provided directions to take appropriate 

measures in this regard.    

  

 

  

The ISSC formed its opinion, as outlined above, exclusively on the basis of information 

perused by the ISSC during the financial year.    

 

  

Signatures of members of the Internal Shari’ah Supervision Committee of the Company  

 

 
Chairman of the 

Committee 

His Eminence Sheikh, Essam Muhammad Ishaq 

 
  

 
Vice Chairman of the 

Committee 

Sheikh Dr. Nizam Yaqoubi 

 
  

 
Executive Committee 

member 

Sheikh Dr. Osaid Al-Kaylani 

  

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

Thank You 


